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PART I  

ITEM 1. BUSINESS  

GENERAL  

Libbey Inc. (the Company) is a leading supplier of tableware products in the U.S. and Canada. The products are also exported to more than 75 
countries. Libbey designs and markets, under the LIBBEY(R) brand name, an extensive line of high-quality glass tableware, ceramic 
dinnerware and metal flatware. Through its subsidiary Royal Leerdam (B.V. Koninklijke Nederlandsche Glasfabriek Leerdam), Libbey 
manufactures and markets high-quality glass stemware under the Royal Leerdam(R) brand name. Libbey also manufactures and markets 
ceramic dinnerware under the Syracuse(R) China brand name through its subsidiary Syracuse China. Through its World Tableware subsidiary, 
Libbey imports and sells flatware, holloware and ceramic dinnerware. Libbey designs, manufactures and distributes an extensive line of plastic 
items for the foodservice industry under the Traex(R) brand name through its subsidiary Traex Company. Through its joint venture, Vitrocrisa, 
the Company has established reciprocal distribution agreements giving Libbey exclusive distribution rights for Vitrocrisa's glass tableware 
products under the Crisa(R) brand name in the U.S. and Canada, and Vitrocrisa the exclusive distribution rights for Libbey's glass tableware 
products in Latin America.  

Libbey also has an agreement to be the exclusive distributor of Luigi Bormioli glassware in the U.S. and Canada to foodservice users. Luigi 
Bormioli is a highly regarded supplier of high-end glassware which is used in the finest eating and drinking establishments.  

Acquisitions have been and will be an important part of the strategy to grow sales and profits. The Company's strategy is to be a more global 
provider of glass tableware and a provider of a broader supply of products to the foodservice industry. This strategy is primarily focused on two 
fronts: 1) acquiring foodservice supply companies, enabling Libbey to become a broader supplier of products to its foodservice distributors and 
2) leveraging its proprietary glass-making technology through joint ventures, outright acquisitions and new green meadow facilities for 
international glass tableware manufacturing.  

In December 2002, the Company completed two acquisitions. Libbey acquired Traex Company, a manufacturer and marketer of a wide-range 
of plastic products, including glassware washing and storage racks, trays, dispensers and organizers for the foodservice industry. In a separate 
transaction, the Company acquired Royal Leerdam (B.V. Koninklijke Nederlandsche Glasfabriek Leerdam) a manufacturer and marketer of 
high quality glass stemware. Royal Leerdam is a leading producer of stemware in the world.  

The acquisitions of the business of Libbey Canada (1993) and the joint venture investment in Vitrocrisa (1997) have made Libbey a leading 
supplier of glass tableware in North America.  
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The acquisitions of Syracuse China (1995), World Tableware (1997) and Traex  
(2002) have expanded the Company's portfolio of foodservice supply products. The acquisition of Royal Leerdam (2002) will increase Libbey's 
global presence for glass stemware.  

PRODUCTS  

Libbey's tableware products consist of glass tableware, ceramic dinnerware, metal flatware, metal holloware and plastic items. Libbey's glass 
tableware includes tumblers, stemware (which includes wine glasses), mugs, plates, bowls, ashtrays, bud vases, salt and pepper shakers, 
canisters, candle holders and various other items. The Company's plastic items include trays, dispensers, beverage pitchers and various other 
items.  

Vitrocrisa's glass tableware product assortment includes, in addition to the product types produced by Libbey, glass bakeware and handmade 
glass tableware. In addition, Vitrocrisa products include glass coffee pots, blender jars, meter covers and other industrial glassware sold 
principally to original equipment manufacturers.  

Libbey sells high-quality stemware, including wine glasses, through its subsidiary, Royal Leerdam. In addition, through its distribution 
agreement with Luigi Bormioli, Libbey is a supplier of high-end glassware, which is used in the finest eating and drinking establishments. 
Through its Syracuse China and World Tableware subsidiaries, Libbey sells a wide range of ceramic dinnerware products. These include 
plates, bowls, platters, cups, saucers and other tableware accessories. Its World Tableware subsidiary provides Libbey an extensive selection of 
metal flatware. These include knives, forks, spoons and serving utensils. In addition, World Tableware sells metal holloware, which includes 
serving trays, chafing dishes, pitchers and other metal tableware accessories. Through its Traex subsidiary, Libbey sells a wide range of plastic 
products. These include glassware washing and storage racks, trays, dispensers and organizers for the foodservice industry.  

DOMESTIC SALES  

Approximately 89% of Libbey's sales are to domestic customers and are sold domestically for a broad range of uses (see Note 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements). Libbey sells both directly to end users of the product and through networks of distributors and utilizes both 
a direct sales force and manufacturers' representatives. Libbey has the largest manufacturing, distribution and service network among North 
American glass tableware manufacturers.  

Libbey defines the U.S. glass tableware market to include glass beverageware, ovenware, cookware, dinnerware, serveware, floral items, items 
used for specialized packaging, handmade glassware and lead crystal valued at less than $5 per piece. Libbey has, according to management  
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estimates, the leading market share in glass tableware sales in U.S. foodservice applications. The majority of Libbey's tableware sales to 
foodservice end users are made through a network of approximately 500 foodservice distributors. The distributors, in turn, sell to a wide variety 
of foodservice establishments, including national and regional hotel chains, national restaurant chains, independently owned bars, restaurants 
and casinos. Syracuse China and World Tableware are recognized as long-established suppliers of high quality ceramic dinnerware and 
flatware, respectively. They are both among the leading suppliers of their respective product categories to foodservice end users.  

Libbey's leading customers in retail are national discount retailers. In recent years, Libbey has been able to increase its total sales by increasing 
its sales to traditional department stores and specialty housewares stores. With this expanded retail representation, Libbey is better positioned to 
successfully introduce profitable new products. Libbey also sells imported dinnerware and metal flatware to retailers in the United States and 
Canada under the LIBBEY(R) brand name. Libbey sources this ceramic dinnerware and metal flatware by leveraging the relationships it has 
with its existing suppliers for World Tableware products for foodservice applications. Libbey operates four factory outlet stores located at or 
near each of its United States manufacturing locations.  

Libbey is a major supplier of glassware for industrial applications in the U.S., according to management estimates. Industrial uses include 
candle and gift packaging, floral purposes and lighting. The craft industries and gourmet food packing companies are also industrial consumers 
of glassware. Libbey has expanded its sales to industrial users by offering ceramic items. Libbey believes that its success with industrial 
applications is based on its extensive manufacturing and distribution network, which enables it to provide superior service, and its broad 
product offering, which allows Libbey to meet its customers' desire for differentiated glassware products. The production capabilities and broad 
product portfolio of Vitrocrisa enabled Libbey to expand its product offering for its industrial customers.  

Another application of Libbey's products is for use as a premium. Fast-food restaurant chains use glassware as incentives or premiums, as an 
example. Libbey believes that its success with premium customers is dependent upon custom design, varied production capabilities and the 
ability to produce large quantities of product in a short period of time.  

INTERNATIONAL EXPANSION AND EXPORT SALES  

Libbey exports its products through independent agents and distributors to over 75 countries around the world, competing in the tableware 
markets of Latin America, Asia and Europe. Through its export operation, Libbey sells its tableware product to foodservice, retail and premium 
customers internationally.  
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Libbey's export sales, which include sales to customers in Canada, represent approximately 11% of total sales in 2002. Libbey believes that 
expanding its sales to export markets represents an important growth opportunity for the future. The information set forth in Note 13 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements under "Industry Segment Information" on page 60.  

The acquisition of Royal Leerdam is expected to increase Libbey's penetration in the global market for glass stemware and, in addition, expand 
the selection of glass tableware products offered by Libbey to customers world-wide.  

Libbey currently has technical service agreements with foreign glass tableware companies. These agreements cover areas ranging from 
manufacturing and engineering assistance to support in functions such as marketing, sales and administration. During 2002, Libbey's technical 
assistance agreements and licenses produced royalties of $2.4 million. Libbey also sells machinery, primarily glass-forming machinery, to 
various parties.  

MANUFACTURING  

Libbey owns and operates three glass tableware manufacturing plants in the United States located in Toledo, Ohio; Shreveport, Louisiana and 
City of Industry, California and a glass tableware manufacturing plant in Leerdam, Netherlands. Libbey owns and operates a ceramic 
dinnerware plant in Syracuse, New York, and a plastics plant in Dane, Wisconsin. Libbey operates distribution centers located at or near each 
of its manufacturing facilities (See "Properties"). In addition, Libbey operates distribution centers for its Vitrocrisa-supplied products in 
Laredo, Texas and World Tableware products near Chicago, Illinois.  

The glass tableware manufacturing and distribution centers are strategically located (geographically) to enable Libbey to supply significant 
quantities of its product to virtually all of its customers in a short period of time. Libbey is the only glass tableware producer operating more 
than two manufacturing facilities in the United States.  

The manufacture of Libbey's glass tableware products involves the use of automated processes and technologies. Much of Libbey's glass 
tableware production machinery was designed by Libbey and has evolved and been continuously refined to incorporate technology 
advancements. During 2002, Libbey fully installed new production equipment that uses new technology in the glassmaking arena. In addition, 
Libbey has installed robotics technology in certain of its labor-intensive manufacturing and warehousing processes. Libbey believes that its 
production machinery and equipment continue to be adequate for its needs in the foreseeable future. The Company continues to invest in 
equipment to further increase its production and distribution efficiency and streamline its cost profile. In addition, the Company invested $60.9 
million in the acquisitions of Traex and Royal Leerdam.  
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Libbey's glass tableware products are generally produced using one of two manufacturing methods or, in the case of certain stemware, a 
combination of such methods. Most of Libbey's tumblers and stemware and certain other glass tableware products are produced by forming 
molten glass in molds with the use of compressed air and are known as "blown" glass products. Libbey's other glass tableware products and the 
stems of certain of its stemware are "pressware" products, which are produced by pressing molten glass into the desired product shape.  

Ceramic dinnerware is also produced through the forming of raw materials into the desired product shape and is either manufactured at 
Libbey's Syracuse, New York production facility or imported by World Tableware primarily from China, Malaysia and Bangladesh. Libbey 
installed a new fast-fire kiln technology at Syracuse China during 2001, resulting in increased production speeds and yields, lower operating 
costs and a faster new product development cycle. The investment was the single largest capital project at Syracuse China since Libbey 
purchased the business in 1995. All metal flatware and metal holloware are sourced by Libbey's World Tableware subsidiary primarily from 
China. Plastic products are also produced through the forming of raw materials into the desired shape and are manufactured at Libbey's Dane, 
Wisconsin production facility or imported primarily from Taiwan, China and Malaysia.  

Libbey employs a team of engineers whose responsibilities include efforts to improve and upgrade Libbey's manufacturing facilities, 
equipment and processes. In addition, they provide engineering required to manufacture new products and implement the large number of 
innovative changes continuously being made to Libbey's product designs, sizes and shapes.  

The raw materials used by Libbey, which are principally, sand, lime, soda ash, clay, resins and colorants, have historically been available in 
adequate supply from multiple sources. However, for certain raw materials, there may be temporary shortages due to weather or other factors, 
including disruptions in supply caused by raw material transportation or production delays. Such shortages have not previously had, and are not 
expected to have, a material adverse effect on Libbey's operations in the future. Natural gas is a primary source of energy in Libbey's 
production processes, and variability in the price for natural gas can have an impact on its profitability. Historically, the Company has used 
natural gas hedging contracts to partially mitigate this impact.  

SALES AND MARKETING  

Libbey has its own sales staff of over 80 Libbey sales professionals located in various metropolitan areas throughout the U.S., Canada and the 
Netherlands who call on customers and distributors. In addition, Libbey retains the services of manufacturing representatives' organizations to 
assist in selling its products. Libbey also maintains an export sales group covering other geographic markets. The vast majority of Libbey's 
tableware sales to foodservice end users are made through approximately 500 distributors, who serve a vital function in the distribution of 
Libbey's products and  
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with whom Libbey works closely in connection with marketing and selling efforts. Most of Libbey's retail, industrial and premium market sales 
are made directly by Libbey's sales force.  

Libbey also has a marketing staff located at its corporate headquarters in Toledo, Ohio, engaged in developing strategies relating to product 
development, pricing, distribution, advertising and sales promotion.  

CUSTOMERS  

The customers for Libbey's tableware products include approximately 500 foodservice distributors. In addition, Libbey sells to mass merchants, 
department stores, retail distributors, national retail chains and specialty housewares stores, supermarkets and industrial companies and others 
who use Libbey's products for promotional and other private uses. No single customer accounts for 10% or more of Libbey's sales, although the 
loss of any of Libbey's major customers could have a meaningful effect on Libbey. Sales for premium applications, which totaled 2% of net 
sales in 2002, tend to be more unpredictable from year to year; and Libbey is less dependent on such business than it is on sales to foodservice, 
retail and industrial customers.  

COMPETITORS  

Libbey's business is highly competitive, with the principal competitive factors being customer service, brand name, product quality, new 
product development, delivery time and price. Competitors in glass tableware include among others Arc International, a private French 
company; Indiana Glass Company (a unit of Lancaster Colony Corporation); Oneida Ltd., Anchor Hocking (a unit of Newell Rubbermaid Inc.) 
and Bormioli Rocco Group. Arc International distributes glass tableware to U.S. foodservice customers through Cardinal International, Inc. 
Indiana Glass Company manufactures in the United States and sells a wide variety of glassware. Oneida Ltd. operates by sourcing glass 
tableware from foreign manufacturers, including Pasabahce (Turkey), Schott (Germany) and Calp (Italy). Anchor Hocking is primarily a 
supplier of glass beverageware and bakeware to retail markets in the U.S. Bormioli Rocco Group manufactures glass tableware in Europe and 
most of its sales are to retail and foodservice customers in Europe. In recent years, Libbey has experienced increasing competition from foreign 
glass tableware manufacturers, including Arc International (France), Kedaung (Indonesia), and Pasabahce (Turkey) as well as various factories 
from the People's Republic of China. In addition, other materials, such as plastics, also compete with glassware.  

Competitors in U.S. ceramic dinnerware include among others Homer Laughlin (a private U.S. company) and Rego China and Buffalo China 
(units of Oneida Ltd.). Competitors in metal flatware are Oneida Ltd. and various importing companies. Competitors in plastic products are 
among others Cambro Manufacturing Company (a private U.S. company) and Carlisle Companies  

6  



Incorporated. Some of Libbey's competitors have substantially greater financial and other resources than Libbey.  

PATENTS, TRADEMARKS AND LICENSES  

Based upon market research and market surveys, Libbey believes its Libbey trade name as well as product shapes and styles enjoy a high 
degree of consumer recognition and are valuable assets. Libbey believes that the Libbey, Syracuse China, World Tableware, Royal Leerdam 
and Traex trade names are material to its business.  

Libbey has rights under a number of patents which relate to a variety of products and processes. Libbey does not consider that any patent or 
group of patents relating to a particular product or process is of material importance to its business as a whole.  

SEASONALITY  

Due primarily to the impact of consumer buying patterns and production activity, Libbey's profits tend to be strongest in the third quarter and 
weakest in the first quarter of each year. As a consequence, profits typically range between 32% and 47% in the first half of each year and 53% 
to 68% in the second half of the year.  

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS  

Libbey's operations, in common with those of industry generally, are subject to numerous existing and proposed laws and governmental 
regulations designed to protect the environment, particularly regarding plant wastes and emissions and solid waste disposal. Libbey has 
shipped, and continues to ship, waste materials for off-site disposal. However, Libbey is not named as a potentially responsible party with 
respect to any waste disposal site matters pending prior to June 24, 1993, the date of Libbey's initial public offering and separation from 
Owens-Illinois, Inc. ("Owens-Illinois"), Owens-Illinois has been named as a potentially responsible party or other participant in connection 
with certain waste disposal sites to which Libbey may also have shipped wastes and bears some responsibility. Owens-Illinois has agreed to 
defend and hold harmless the Company against any costs or liabilities it may incur in connection with any such matters identified and pending 
as of June 24, 1993 and to indemnify it for any liability which results from these matters in excess of $3 million. Libbey believes that if it is 
necessary to draw upon this indemnification, collection is probable.  

Pursuant to this indemnification agreement, Owens-Illinois is defending the Company with respect to the King Road landfill. In January 1999, 
a suit was instituted by the Board of Lucas County Ohio  
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Commissioners against Owens-Illinois, the Company and numerous other defendants (59 companies named in the complaint as potentially 
responsible parties) in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio seeking to recover contribution for past and future 
costs incurred by the County in response to the release or threatened release of hazardous substances at the King Road landfill formerly 
operated and closed by the County. The complaint was dismissed without prejudice in October 2000; and at the time of the dismissal, it was 
anticipated the suit would be refiled at a future date when more information as to the appropriate environmental remedy becomes available. 
However, as of this date, refiling of the suit does not appear imminent, and the attorneys for the Lucas County Commissioners and the 
attorneys for the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency are still discussing remedies. In view of the uncertainty as to refiling of the suit, the 
numerous defenses which may be available against the County on the merits of its claim for contribution, the uncertainty as to the 
environmental remedy, and the uncertainty as to the number of potentially responsible parties, at the present time it is not possible to quantify 
any exposure the Company may have at King Road.  

Subsequent to June 24, 1993, Libbey has been named a potentially responsible party at four other sites, all of which have been settled for 
immaterial amounts. No further sums are expected to be paid with respect to these sites unless unusual and unanticipated contingencies occur.  

On October 10, 1995, Syracuse China Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired from The Pfaltzgraff Co. and certain of 
its subsidiary corporations, the assets operated by them as Syracuse China. The Pfaltzgraff Co. entered into an Order on Consent effective 
November 1, 1994, with the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC) which requires Pfaltzgraff to prepare a 
Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study (RI/FS) to develop a remedial action plan for the site (which includes among other items a landfill 
and wastewater and sludge ponds and adjacent wetlands located on the property purchased by Syracuse China Company) and to remediate the 
site. As part of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Syracuse China Company agreed to share a part of the remediation and related expense up to 
a maximum of fifty percent of such costs with a maximum limit for Syracuse China Company of $1,350,000 that has been paid. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing Syracuse China Company is not a party to the decree. Construction of the approved remedy began in 2000 and 
is expected to be completed in 2003.  

In addition, Syracuse China Company has been named as a potentially responsible party by reason of its potential ownership of certain property 
adjoining its plant, which has been designated a sub-site of a superfund site. Libbey believes that any contamination of such sub-site was 
caused by and will be remediated by other parties at no cost to Syracuse China. Such other parties have acquired ownership of the sub-site 
which should end any responsibility of Syracuse China with respect to the sub-site. In any event, any expense with respect to such sub-site for 
which Syracuse China may be deemed responsible would likely be shared with Pfaltzgraff pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement.  
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Libbey regularly reviews the facts and circumstances of the various environmental matters affecting Libbey, including those which are covered 
by indemnification. Although not free of uncertainties, Libbey believes that its share of the remediation costs at the various sites, based upon 
the number of parties involved at the sites and the estimated cost of undisputed work necessary for remediation based upon known technology 
and the experience of others, will not be material to Libbey. There can be no assurance, however, that Libbey's future expenditures in such 
regard will not have a material adverse effect on Libbey's financial position or results of operations.  

In addition, occasionally the federal government and various state authorities have investigated possible health issues that may arise from the 
use of lead or other ingredients in enamels such as those used by Libbey on the exterior surface of its decorated products. Capital expenditures 
for property, plant and equipment for environmental control activities were not material during 2002. Libbey believes that it is in material 
compliance with all federal, state and local environmental laws, and Libbey is not aware of any regulatory initiatives that would be expected to 
have a material effect on Libbey's products or operations.  

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES  

Libbey employed approximately 3,800 persons at December 31, 2002. A majority of the glass tableware employees are U.S.-based hourly 
workers covered by six collective bargaining agreements, which were entered into in the fourth quarter of 2001 and expire at various times 
during the fourth quarter of 2004 at two manufacturing locations and the fourth quarter of 2006 at a third manufacturing location. Substantially 
all Royal Leerdam employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement expiring in July 2004. The ceramic dinnerware hourly 
employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, which expires in March 2006. Libbey considers its employee relations to be good. 

PUBLIC FILINGS  

Copies of the Company's annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those 
reports are available for no charge through the Company's website at www.libbey.com.  
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

The following information sets forth the location of the Company's principal manufacturing and distribution facilities at December 31, 2002. 
The Company also operates distribution facilities at or near each of its manufacturing facilities as well as at the distribution centers set forth 
below:  

Manufacturing and Distribution Facilities  
 
Syracuse, New York  
Toledo, Ohio  
Shreveport, Louisiana  
City of Industry, California  
Dane, Wisconsin  
Leerdam, Netherlands  

 
Distribution Centers  

 
Laredo, Texas  
West Chicago, Illinois  

The Company's headquarters, some warehouses, sales offices and an outlet store are located in leased space.  

All of the Company's operating properties are currently being utilized for their intended purpose and are owned in fee. The Company believes 
that its facilities are well maintained and adequate for its planned production requirements at those facilities over the next three to five years.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

The Company is involved in various routine legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its business. No pending legal proceeding is 
deemed to be material to the Company.  

On May 9, 2002, the Federal Trade Commission commenced an administrative proceeding challenging the Company's proposed acquisition of 
a portion of the Anchor Hocking business of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. The parties agreed upon a consent decree that became final on October 
15, 2002, following formal approval by the Federal Trade Commission. The consent decree requires Libbey to provide advance notice to the 
Federal Trade Commission of any acquisition, direct or indirect, of any interest in the stock of Anchor Hocking or the assets of the Anchor 
Hocking Food Service Business.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS  

None.  
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  

Set forth below are the names and the ages, positions and offices held (as of the date hereof), and a brief account of the business experience of 
each executive officer of the Company.  
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NAME                                           AGE          POSITION 
John F. Meier                                  55           Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer since June 
Chairman and Chief                                          1993; Executive Vice President and General  Manager from December 
Executive Officer                                           1990 to June 1993. 
 
                                               56           Executive Vice President and Chief Operati ng Officer since 
Richard I. Reynolds                                         November 1995;  Vice President and Chief F inancial Officer from 
Executive Vice President and                                June 1993 to November 1995;   Vice Preside nt and Director of 
Chief Operating Officer                                     Finance and Administration from January 19 89 to June 1993. 
 
Arthur H. Smith                                67           Vice President, General Counsel and Secret ary since June 1993; 
Vice President, General                                     Secretary of the Company since 1987 and Se nior Counsel and 
Counsel and Secretary                                       Assistant Secretary of Owens-Illinois, Inc . from 1987 to June 1993.  
 
Kenneth G. Wilkes                              45           Vice President, Chief Financial Officer an d Head-International 
Vice President, Chief Financial                             Operations since January 2003; Vice Presid ent and Chief 
Officer and Head-International                              Financial Officer from November 1995 to Ja nuary 2003;  Vice 
Operations                                                  President and Treasurer from August 1993 t o November 1995. 
                                                            Previously employed as Senior Corporate Ba nker, Vice President 
                                                            with The First National Bank of Chicago fr om 1981. 
 
Kenneth A. Boerger                             45           Vice President and Treasurer since July 19 99. From 1994 to July 
Vice President and Treasurer                                1999 was Corporate Controller and Assistan t Treasurer.  From 
                                                            1980 to 1994 held various financial and ac counting positions. 



 

PART II  

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER  

MATTERS  

Libbey Inc. common stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol LBY. The price range for the Company's 
common stock on the New York Stock Exchange as reported by the New York Stock Exchange was as follows:  
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John A. Zarb                                   51           Vice President and Chief Information Offic er since April 1996. 
Vice President and Chief                                    From 1991 to April 1996 employed by Allied Signal Inc. in 
Information Officer                                         information technology senior management p ositions in Europe 
                                                            and the U.S. 
 
Daniel P. Ibele                                42           Vice President, General Sales Manager sinc e March 2002;  Vice 
Vice President, General Sales Manager                       President, Marketing and Specialty Operati ons from September 
                                                            1997 to March 2002;  Vice President and Di rector of Marketing 
                                                            from 1995 to 1997.  From 1983 to 1995 held  various marketing and 
                                                            sales positions. 
 
Timothy T. Paige                               45           Vice President-Administration since Decemb er 2002;  Vice President and  
Vice President-Administration                               Director of Human Resources from January 1 997 to December 2002; 
                                                            Director of Human Resources from May 1995 to January 1997.  From 1985 
                                                            to May 1995 employed by Frito-Lay, Inc. in  human resources management 
                                                            positions. 

---------------------  -------------------------  - ---------------------------  
                                  2002                       2001 
                           High          Low          High           Low 
---------------------  ------------  -----------  - ------------  -------------  
First Quarter             $40.10        $31.35       $33.56         $27.80 
Second Quarter            $40.00        $32.88       $42.20         $27.80 
Third Quarter             $34.08        $26.80       $39.95         $28.20 
Fourth Quarter            $31.86        $23.72       $35.60         $27.00 
---------------------  ------------  -----------  - ------------  -------------  



On March 1, 2003, there were 1,055 registered common shareholders of record. The Company has paid a regular quarterly cash dividend of 
$.075 per share beginning with the fourth quarter of 1993. On January 10, 2003, the Company announced that it has increased its regular 
quarterly dividend from $.075 per share to $.10 per share in 2003. However, the declaration of future dividends is within the discretion of the 
Board of Directors of the Company and will depend upon, among other things, business conditions, earnings and the financial condition of the 
Company.  

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION:  

 

* This total includes 350,000 securities available for future issuance under the Libbey Inc 2002. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) as of 
December 31, 2002. The amount of securities available for issue under this plan will increase each year by up to 100,000 common shares 
commencing January 1, 2003 and ending January 1, 2012 to an aggregate maximum of 1,350,000 common shares subject to issuance under the 
plan. At of December 31, 2002, there were no options, warrants or rights outstanding to purchase securities under this plan.  
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------------------------------------  ------------- ---------------  -------------------------------  - --------------------------  
Plan Category                          Number of se curities to be 
                                         issued upo n exercise of       Weighted average exercise          Number of securities 
                                          outstandi ng options,       price of outstanding options,      remaining available for 
                                           warrants  and rights            warrants and rights               future issuance 
------------------------------------  ------------- ---------------  -------------------------------  - --------------------------  
                                                  ( a)                            (b)                             (c) 
------------------------------------  ------------- ---------------  -------------------------------  - --------------------------  
Equity compensation plans approved 
by security holders                            1,64 6,799                        $25.73                        546,924* 
Equity compensation plans not 
approved by security holders                       0                              0                               0 
------------------------------------  ------------- ---------------  -------------------------------  - --------------------------  
Total                                          1,64 6,799                        $25.73                        546,924* 
------------------------------------  ------------- ---------------  -------------------------------  - --------------------------  



ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations and Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.  

 

(a) Current assets less current liabilities excluding short-term debt.  

(b) At December 31, 2001, the company classified $143.0 million of debt outstanding under its bank facility as short term which was 
refinanced on a long-term basis in April 2002.  

(c) In 2002, includes Traex and Royal Leerdam employees.  

(d) Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted SFAS 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." The detail of the impact of the 
adoption are identified in Footnote 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts          2002(d)        2001        2000       1999      1998  
-------------------------------------------------  ---------      ---------   ---------   --------  -- ------  
 Operating Results 
 Net sales                                          $433,761       $419,594    $441,828   $460,592  $4 36,522  
 Freight billed to customers                           1,732          2,085       2,274      2,609     1,191  
 Total revenues                                      437,897        425,420     448,786    467,598   4 40,739  
 Cost of sales                                       327,565        307,255     306,003    324,242   3 23,140  
 Selling, general and administrative expenses         56,631         55,716      61,185     64,131    54,191  
 Capacity realignment charges                             --             --          --        991    20,046  
 Income from operations                               53,701         62,449      81,598     78,234    43,362  
 Equity earnings - pretax                              6,379          6,384      12,016      8,857    12,300  
 Expenses related to abandoned acquisition           (13,634)            --          --         --        --  
 Other income (expenses) -- net                       (1,510)          (241)       (919)        13     1,493  
 Earnings before interest and income taxes (EBIT)     44,936         68,592      92,695     87,104    57,155  
 Interest expense -- net                               8,263          9,360      12,216     12,501    12,674  
 Income before income taxes                           36,673         59,232      80,479     74,603    44,481  
 Provision for income taxes                            8,618         19,840      33,613     31,175    19,038  
 Net income (loss) (d)                                28,055         39,392      46,866     43,428    25,443  
 Net cash provided by operating activities            54,205         51,308      36,898     68,956    52,232  
 
 Per-Share Amounts 
 Basic net income                                       1.84           2.58        3.07       2.69      1.45  
 Diluted net income                                     1.82           2.53        3.01       2.64      1.42  
 Dividends paid                                         0.30           0.30        0.30       0.30      0.30  
 
 Other Information 
 EBIT                                                 44,936         68,592      92,695     87,104    57,155  
 EBITDA                                               64,079         87,435     111,047    105,857    76,661  
 Depreciation                                         17,262         15,157      14,055     14,717    15,852  
 Amortization (d)                                      1,881          3,686       4,297      4,036     3,654  
 Capital expenditures                                 16,739         35,241      18,096      9,428    17,486  
 Dividends paid                                        4,574          4,588       4,569      4,821     5,253  
 Employees (average) (c)                               3,510          3,218       3,270      3,552     3,969  
 
 Balance Sheet Data 
 Total assets                                        524,527        468,082     446,707    434,395   4 39,671  
 Working capital (a)                                  83,260         83,421      95,177     77,794    75,930  
 Long-term debt (b)                                  188,403          2,517     151,404    170,000   1 76,300  
 Shareholders' equity                                140,218        165,365     133,271     91,843    94,860  



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA  
The following table presents certain results of operations data for Libbey for the periods indicated:  
 

 

Management is not aware of any events or uncertainties that are likely to have a material impact on the company's prospective results of 
operations or financial condition; however, major slowdowns in the retail, travel, or entertainment industries could result from the impact of 
armed hostilities or any other international or national calamity, including any act of terrorism. Additional risk factors are discussed in Other 
Information in the section "Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk."  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

COMPARISON OF 2002 WITH 2001 Net sales for 2002 increased 3.4% to $433.8 million from $419.6 million in 2001. A 19% increase in 
sales to retail customers was a key contributor. This increase more than offset lower sales to industrial customers which are primarily candle 
companies. Foodservice sales were up slightly for the year and showed solid growth in the fourth quarter. Libbey's export sales, which include 
sales to Canada, were $46.1 million, a decrease of 3.4% compared to 2001.  

GROSS PROFIT (defined as net sales plus freight billed to customers less cost of sales) declined 5.7% to $107.9 million compared to $114.4 
million in 2001 and as a percent of net sales was 24.9% in  
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 
(dollars in thousands)                               2002           2001           2000 
----------------------------------------------  --- ----------  --------------  --------------  
Net sales                                          $433,761       $419,594       $441,828 
Gross profit                                       $107,928       $114,424       $138,099 
As a percent of sales                                 24.9%          27.3%          31.3% 
Income from operations                              $53,701        $62,449        $81,598 
As a percent of sales                                 12.4%          14.9%          18.5% 
Earnings before interest and 
  income taxes before write off of 
   acquisition related expenses                     $58,570        $68,592        $92,695 
As a percent of sales                                 13.5%          16.3%          21.0% 
Earnings before interest 
 and income taxes                                   $44,936        $68,592        $92,695 
As a percent of sales                                 10.4%          16.3%          21.0% 
Net income                                          $28,055        $39,392        $46,866 
As a percent of sales                                 6.5%           9.4%           10.6% 
----------------------------------------------  --- ----------  --------------  --------------  



2002 as compared to 27.3% in 2001. The decline in gross profit margin is primarily due to greater sales of products with lower profit margins, 
lower pension income, higher nonpension postretirement expense and higher manufacturing labor expenses. Lower pension income and higher 
nonpension postretirement expense reduced gross profit by $4.1 million in 2002 compared to the prior year.  

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS decreased to $53.7 million in 2002 from $62.4 million in 2001 and as a percent of net sales was 12.4% in 
2002 compared to 14.9% in 2001. This reduction was the result of lower gross profit, higher lease cost of $1.2 million related to the company's 
corporate offices in 2002 and higher general and administrative expenses. Lower pension income and an increase in nonpension postretirement 
expense were the primary factors in the increase in general and administrative expenses which reduced income from operations by $0.3 million. 
In 2002, the company recorded lower expenses related to the amortization of intangibles pursuant to the adoption of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" (SFAS No. 142) of $1.1 million, which partially offset the 
higher general and administration expenses.  

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND INCOME TAXES (EBIT) were $44.9 million compared to $68.6 million in 2001 and as a percent of 
net sales were 10.4% as compared to 16.3% in the year-ago period. In addition to the lower income from operations, the most significant factor 
in the reduction was a $13.6 million pretax expense related to the legal, advisory and financing fees associated with the abandoned acquisition 
of Anchor Hocking. Excluding these expenses, the company's EBIT, as a percent of net sales, would have been 13.5% compared to 16.3% in 
2001. Due to the unusual nature and magnitude of these expenses related to the abandoned acquisition, management believes exclusion of these 
expenses is necessary for a more meaningful comparison of EBIT as a percent of net sales in 2001. The company's earnings from equity 
affiliates remained flat at $6.4 million pretax compared to 2001. The company's equity affiliates are primarily its investment in Vitrocrisa, the 
company's joint venture in Mexico. Vitrocrisa's performance was impacted by a sluggish economy in Mexico and increased competition from 
foreign markets. Other expenses increased to $1.5 million from $0.2 million in the prior-year period, largely as a result of a write-down in the 
value of an advance made to a supplier.  

NET INCOME was $28.1 million, or $1.82 per share on a diluted basis, compared to $39.4 million or $2.53 per share on a diluted basis in the 
year-ago period. As a percent of net sales, net income was 6.5% in 2002 compared to 9.4% in 2001. Excluding the expenses related to the 
abandoned acquisition, net income and diluted earnings per share for 2002 would have been $36.6 million and $2.37, respectively. Due to the 
unusual nature and magnitude of the expenses related to the abandoned acquisition, management believes exclusion of these expenses is 
necessary for a more meaningful comparison of net income to 2001. The company experienced lower interest expense and income taxes in 
2002 compared to prior year. Interest expense was due to lower average debt levels and a decline in interest rates. The company's effective tax 
rate declined to 23.5% in 2002 from 33.5% in 2001. The reduction was primarily attributable to lower Mexican tax, the elimination  
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of non-deductible goodwill amortization and an adjustment to estimated U.S. income tax accruals. The reduction in Mexican tax is primarily 
attributable to deferred tax adjustments and reduced statutory tax rates in Mexico.  

COMPARISON OF 2001 WITH 2000 Net sales for 2001 were $419.6 million compared to net sales of $441.8 million in 2000. Solid growth in 
retail sales only partially offset lower sales to industrial customers, as a result of sluggish economic conditions, and the negative impact on 
sales to foodservice customers related to the events of September 11, 2001. Libbey's export sales, which include sales in Canada, decreased to 
$47.7 million from $51.8 million in 2000. This decrease was the result of the impact of a strong U.S. dollar on the price competitiveness of the 
company's products and weak economic conditions in key export markets.  

GROSS PROFIT (defined as net sales plus freight billed to customers less cost of sales) was $114.4 million in 2001 compared to $138.1 
million in 2000 and as a percent of net sales was 27.3% in 2001 compared to 31.3% in 2000. Reduced sales, an unfavorable sales mix, higher 
energy costs and lower utilization of the company's glassware plants related to efforts to control inventories were the primary contributors to 
lower gross profit.  

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS was $62.4 million in 2001 compared to $81.6 million in 2000 and as a percent of net sales was 14.9% 
compared to 18.5% in the year-ago period. An 8.9% reduction in selling, general and administrative expenses to $55.7 million from $61.2 
million only partially offset the reduction in gross profit.  

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND INCOME TAXES (EBIT) was $68.6 million in 2001 compared to $92.7 million in 2000 and as a 
percent of net sales was 16.3% compared to 21.0% in the year-ago period. The decrease was attributable to a decline in income from operations 
and lower equity earnings due to lower operating profits at Vitrocrisa, the company's joint venture in Mexico. Vitrocrisa's lower profits were 
attributable to lower sales resulting from a weaker economy in Mexico and the negative impact of a strong Mexican peso on domestic and 
international sales, higher energy costs and lower factory utilization.  

NET INCOME was $39.4 million in 2001 compared with $46.9 million in 2000, and as a percent of net sales was 9.4% compared to 10.6% in 
the year-ago period. Lower interest expense and a reduction in the effective tax rate to 33.5% from 41.8% in the year-ago period only partially 
offset reduced income from operations and lower equity earnings. The reduction in the company's effective tax rate is primarily attributable to 
lower foreign taxes and state tax credits related to capital expansion programs.  

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY  
Libbey's financial condition at year-end 2002 reflects the effects of the company's strong cash flow from operations. Net cash provided by 
operating activities increased to $54.2 million from $51.3 million in 2001. The company recorded another year of efficient use of working 
capital. Excluding  

 
17  



the  
acquisitions, inventories remained at $96.9 million in 2002, equal to the 2001 year-end balance and accounts receivable were $41.5 million in 
2002 compared to $44.1 million in 2001. Compared to the year-ago period, inventories increased by $12.7 million and accounts receivable 
increased by $5.9 million, both entirely attributable to the acquisitions of Traex and Royal Leerdam in 2002. Accounts payable decreased by 
$1.5 million compared to 2001.  

Capital expenditures were $16.7 million in 2002 compared with $35.2 million in 2001. Capital expenditures for 2003 are expected to be in the 
range of $35 to $40 million as the company increases its investment in higher productivity and labor saving machinery and equipment. The 
company repurchased 935,600 shares of its common stock in 2002 for $26.8 million. Since mid-1998, the company has repurchased 3,625,000 
shares for $102.2 million. At year-end 2002, authorization from the company's Board of Directors remained for the purchase of an additional 
2,500,000 shares. On February 18, 2003, the company announced commencement of a modified Dutch Auction tender offer to purchase up to 
1,500,000 shares of its outstanding common stock pursuant to the previously mentioned 2,500,000 share authorization. The company 
purchased 1,500,000 shares at a purchase price of $25.50 per share. This purchase was funded through the company's Amended and Restated 
Revolving Credit Agreement (Revolving Credit Agreement or Agreement).  

Libbey had total debt of $191.2 million at December 31, 2002, compared with $148.0 million at December 31, 2001. The increase was 
primarily attributable to the purchase of Traex and Royal Leerdam partially offset by the net cash provided from operations. Libbey had 
additional debt capacity of $59.3 million at December 31, 2002, under its Revolving Credit Agreement. Libbey has entered into interest rate 
protection agreements with respect to $100 million of its debt. The average fixed rate of interest under these interest rate protection agreements 
is 5.8% and the total interest rate, including applicable fees, is 6.8%. The average maturity of these interest rate protection agreements is 2.3 
years at December 31, 2002.  

Of Libbey's outstanding indebtedness, $88.7 million is subject to fluctuating interest rates at December 31, 2002. A change of one percentage 
point in such rates would result in a change in interest expense of approximately $0.9 million on an annual basis. The company is not aware of 
any trends, demands, commitments or uncertainties that will result or that are reasonably likely to result in a material change in Libbey's 
liquidity. The company believes that its cash from operations and available borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement and other short-
term lines of credit will be sufficient to fund its operating requirements, capital expenditures and all other obligations (including debt service 
and dividends) throughout the remaining term of the Revolving Credit Agreement.  

In September 2001, the company issued a $2.7 million promissory note in connection with the purchase of a warehouse facility. At December 
31, 2002, the company had $2.5 million outstanding on the promissory note. During 2003, $0.1 million of the principal is payable.  
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The following table presents the company's existing contractual obligations and commercial commitments:  

 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. The company believes that of its significant accounting policies (see Note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements), the following may involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity. As part of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors' 
regular review of the financial reporting of the company, senior management has reviewed the Critical Accounting Policies and Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.  

DERIVATIVES  
The company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge certain of its interest rate risks associated with long-term debt, commodity price 
risks associated with forecasted future natural gas requirements and foreign exchange rate risks associated with transactions denominated in a 
currency other than the U.S. dollar. These derivatives have been designated as cash flow hedges and qualify for hedge accounting as discussed 
in detail in Notes 2 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements. As such, the fair value of these cash flow hedges are recorded on the balance 
sheet at fair value with a corresponding change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of related tax effects. The company 
does not participate in speculative derivatives trading. While the company intends to continue to meet the conditions for hedge accounting, if 
hedges do not qualify as highly effective or if the company does not believe that forecasted transactions would occur, the changes in the fair 
value of the derivatives used as hedges would be reflected in earnings. Information about fair values, notional amounts and contractual terms of 
these instruments can be found in Notes 2 and 9 to the company's consolidated financial statements and the section titled "Qualitative and 
Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk."  
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                             Payments Due by Period  
            Contractual                              2 - 3     4 - 5     After 5  
            Obligations        Total     1 Year      Years     Years      Years 
            -----------       ------     ------     ------     -----     ------ 
Debt                          $188.5       $0.1     $186.3      $0.3       $1.8 
Operating Leases                15.3        4.4        5.4       2.5        3.0 
                              ------     ------     ------     -----     ------ 
Total Obligations             $203.8       $4.5     $191.7      $2.8       $4.8 



The company does not believe it is exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit risk in its interest rate, natural gas and foreign currency 
hedges as the counterparts are established financial institutions.  

PENSION PLANS AND NONPENSION POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT S  
The company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions" (SFAS 
No. 87), which requires that amounts recognized in financial statements be determined on an actuarial basis.  

A significant element in determining the company's pension expense (income) in accordance with SFAS No. 87 is the expected return on plan 
assets. The company assumes that the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets will be 9.0%. Since the pension plans' inception in 1993, 
the company's pension plan assets have earned an average annual return of 9.2%. A change of .50% in the expected long-term rate of return on 
plan assets will change pension expense (income) by approximately $1.0 million based on year-end data. The assumed long-term rate of return 
on assets is applied to a calculated value of plan assets, which recognizes gains and losses in the fair value of plan assets compared to expected 
returns over the next five years. This produces the expected return on plan assets that is included in pension expense (income). The difference 
between the expected return and the actual return on plan assets is deferred and amortized over five years. The net deferral of past asset gains 
(losses) affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately, future pension expense (income). The plan assets have earned an actual rate 
of return of less than 9.0% in the last two years. Pension expense (income) in 2003 is expected to be $2.2 million (excluding expenses for 
Royal Leerdam which was acquired in December 2002) compared to $(3.7) million in 2002 and $(7.1) million in 2001. This is a result of the 
lower return on plan assets, additional benefits granted to unionized employees during labor negotiations in 2001 and a change in the discount 
rate discussed below.  

At the end of each year, the company determines the discount rate to be used to discount plan liabilities. The discount rate reflects the current 
rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled at the end of the current year. In estimating this rate, the company reviews rates 
of return on high quality, fixed-income investments as a benchmark. At December 31, 2002, the company determined this rate to be 6.75%. 
The discount rate used in 2001 was 7.50%. The effect of each .25% change in the discount rate would effect pension expense by approximately 
$0.2 million.  

The company has not made contributions to the pension plans since their inception in 1993. And the company does not anticipate making cash 
contributions in 2003. However, if weak investment returns related to depressed global stock markets and historically low discount rates 
persist, cash contributions may be required after 2003. It is difficult to estimate potential cash contributions, as such amounts are a function of 
actual investment returns, withdrawals from the plans, changes in interest rates and other factors uncertain at this time. However, the company 
believes it is likely that any cash contribution in 2004 would not be material.  

20  



At December 31, 2002, the fair value of the company's pension assets was $172.8 million down from $198.4 million at the end of 2001.  

The company also provides certain postretirement health care and life insurance benefits covering substantially all salaried and hourly 
employees which are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than 
Pensions." Employees are generally eligible for benefits upon retirement and completion of a specified number of years of creditable service. 
Benefits for most hourly retirees are determined by collective bargaining. Under a cross-indemnity agreement, Owens-Illinois, Inc. assumed 
liability for the nonpension postretirement benefits of company retirees who had retired as of June 18, 1993.  

The company uses various actuarial assumptions including the discount rate and the expected trend in health care costs to estimate the costs and 
benefit obligations for its retiree health plan. In estimating the discount rate, the company reviews rates of return on high quality, fixed-income 
investments as a benchmark. At December 31, 2002, the company determined this rate to be 6.75%. The discount rate used in 2001 was 7.50%. 
The effect of a .25% change in the discount rate would have no material change to health care expense. Assumed health care cost inflation is 
based on an initial rate of 10.0% decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.0% over five years. A 1% percent change in these rates would have 
changed the nonpension postretirement expense by $0.1 million.  

In 2002, the company recorded expense (income) for nonpension postretirement benefit costs of $0.9 million, as compared to $(0.04) million in 
2001. The company expects to record an expense of $2.0 million (excluding expenses for Royal Leerdam which was acquired in December 
2002) in 2003 for nonpension postretirement benefit costs.  

SALES INCENTIVE PROGRAMS  
The company offers various sales incentive programs to a broad base of customers. These programs typically offer incentives for purchase 
activities by customers that include growth objectives. The company records accruals for these incentives as sales occur. Criteria for payment 
include customers achieving certain purchase targets and purchasing particular product types. Management regularly reviews the adequacy of 
the accruals based on current customer purchases, targeted purchases and payout levels. The majority of amounts paid to customers typically 
occur in the third quarter.  

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK  

The company is exposed to market risks due to changes in currency values, although the majority of the company's revenues and expenses are 
denominated in the U.S. dollar. The currency market risks include devaluations and other major currency fluctuations relative to the U.S. 
dollar, euro or  
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Mexican peso that could reduce the cost competitiveness of the company's products or that of Vitrocrisa compared to foreign competition; the 
effect of high inflation in Mexico and exchange rate changes to the value of the Mexican peso and impact of those changes on the earnings and 
cash flow of Vitrocrisa, expressed under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  

The company is exposed to market risk associated with changes in interest rates in the U.S. and has entered into Interest Rate Protection 
Agreements (Rate Agreements) with respect to $100 million of debt as a means to manage its exposure to fluctuating interest rates. The Rate 
Agreements effectively convert this portion of the company's borrowings from variable rate debt to a fixed-rate basis, thus reducing the impact 
of interest rate changes on future income. The average fixed rate of interest for the company's borrowings related to the Rate Agreements at 
December 31, 2002 is 5.8% and the total interest rate, including applicable fees, is 6.8%. The average maturity of these Rate Agreements is 2.3 
years at December 31, 2002. Total remaining debt not covered by the Rate Agreements has fluctuating interest rates with a weighted average 
rate of 2.4% at December 31, 2002. The company had $88.7 million of debt subject to fluctuating interest rates at December 31, 2002. A 
change of one percentage point in such rates would result in a change in interest expense of approximately $0.9 million on an annual basis. If 
the counterparts to these Rate Agreements fail to perform, the company would no longer be protected from interest rate fluctuations by these 
Rate Agreements. However, the company does not anticipate nonperformance by the counterparts.  

The fair value of the company's Rate Agreements is determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted expected 
future variable cash receipts and the discounted future fixed cash payments. The variable cash receipts are based on an expectation of future 
interest rates derived from observed market interest rate forward curves. The company does not expect to cancel these agreements and expects 
them to expire as originally contracted. The fair market value for the company's Rate Agreements at December 31, 2002, was $(8.8) million.  

In addition to the Rate Agreements, the company has other derivatives as discussed below and in Note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The company has designated these derivative instruments as cash flow hedges. As such, the changes in fair value of these derivative 
instruments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified into earnings as the underlying hedged transaction 
or item affects earnings. At December 31, 2002, approximately $5.2 million of unrealized net loss was recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss).  

OTHER INFORMATION  

This document and supporting schedules contains statements that are not historical facts and constitute projections, forecasts or forward-
looking statements. Such statements only reflect the  
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company's best assessment at this time, and may be identified by the use of forward-looking words or phrases such as "anticipate," "believe," 
"expect," "intend," "may," "planned," "potential," "should," "will," "would" or similar phrases. Such forward-looking statements involve risks 
and uncertainty and actual results may differ materially from such statements and undue reliance should not be placed on such statements. 
Important factors potentially affecting the company's performance include, but are not limited to:  

- major slowdowns in the retail, travel, restaurant and bar or entertainment industries, including the impact of armed hostilities or any other 
international or national calamity, including any act of terrorism, on the retail, travel, restaurant and bar or entertainment industries;  
- significant increases in interest rates that increase the company's borrowing costs;  
- significant increases in per-unit costs for natural gas, electricity, corrugated packaging and other purchased materials; - increases in expenses 
associated with higher medical costs, reduced pension income associated with lower returns on pension investments and increased pension 
obligations;  
- devaluations and other major currency fluctuations relative to the U.S. dollar, euro or Mexican peso that could reduce the cost 
competitiveness of the company's or Vitrocrisa's products compared to foreign competition;  
- the effect of high inflation in Mexico and exchange rate changes to the value of the Mexican peso and the earnings expressed under 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and cash flow Vitrocrisa;  
- the inability to achieve savings and profit improvements at targeted levels at the company and Vitrocrisa from capacity realignment, re-
engineering and operational restructuring programs or within the intended time periods; - protracted work stoppages related to collective 
bargaining agreements; - increased competition from foreign suppliers endeavoring to sell glass tableware in the United States and Mexico, 
including the impact of lower duties for imported products;  
- whether the company completes any significant acquisitions and whether such acquisitions can operate profitably.  
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT  

The management of Libbey Inc. is responsible for the contents of the financial statements, which are prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States. The consolidated financial statements necessarily include amounts based on judgments and 
estimates. Financial information elsewhere in the Form 10-K is consistent with that in the financial statements.  

The company maintains a comprehensive accounting system, which includes controls designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the 
integrity and reliability of the financial records and the protection of assets. However, there are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any 
system of internal controls, and, therefore, the company takes other steps to maintain an effective internal control structure. These steps include 
an organization with clearly defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority and comprehensive systems and control procedures. The 
role of the independent auditors is to provide an objective review of the financial statements and the underlying transactions in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.  

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, comprised solely of Directors who are not members of management, meets regularly with 
management and the independent auditors to ensure that their respective responsibilities are properly discharged. The independent auditors 
have full and free access to the Audit Committee.  
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/s/ John F. Meier 
 
John F. Meier 
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
/s/ Kenneth G. Wilkes 
 
Kenneth G. Wilkes 
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Head-International Operations 
 
 
February 10, 2003 



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS  
LIBBEY INC.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Libbey Inc. as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. Our audits also 
included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the 
company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits. We did not 
audit the consolidated and combined financial statements of Vitrocrisa Holding, S. de R.L. de C.V. and Subsidiaries and Crisa Libbey, S.A. de 
C.V. (companies in which the Company has 49% equity interests) which have been audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished 
to us; insofar as our opinion on the consolidated financial statements relates to the amounts included for Vitrocrisa Holding, S. de R.L. de C.V. 
and Subsidiaries and Crisa Libbey, S.A. de C.V., it is based solely on their report.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Libbey Inc. at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the consolidated results of its operations and 
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.  

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, in 2002 the company changed its method of accounting for goodwill.  
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                                            /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP 
Toledo, Ohio 
January 31, 2003 except for Notes 9 and 14 as to which the date is February 18, 
2003. 



Libbey Inc. Consolidated Balance Sheets  
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--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------  
December 31,                                                                        2002       2001 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------  
Dollars in thousands 
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
  Cash                                                                               $1,683     $3,860  
  Accounts receivable: 
    Trade, less allowances of $6,310 and $5,962                                      46,308     38,516  
    Other, less allowances of $1,482 in 2002                                          3,636      5,550  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------    ---------   --------  
                                                                                     49,944     44,066  
Inventories: 
    Finished goods                                                                  100,405     88,686  
    Work in process                                                                   4,512      5,095  
    Raw materials                                                                     3,169      2,627  
    Operating supplies                                                                1,548        528  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------    ---------   --------  
                                                                                    109,634     96,936  
 
Prepaid expenses and deferred taxes                                                  13,487      9,068  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------    ---------   --------  
Total current assets                                                                174,748    153,930  
Other assets: 
    Repair parts inventories                                                          5,603      5,248  
    Intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of  $3,380 and $2,668                26,375      9,232  
    Pension assets                                                                       --     29,506  
    Deferred software, net of accumulated amortizat ion of $11,679 and $10,510         2,585      3,639  
    Other assets                                                                      4,453     11,090  
    Investments                                                                      87,847     84,357  
    Goodwill                                                                         59,795     43,282  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------    ---------   --------  
                                                                                    186,658    186,354  
Property, plant and equipment at cost                                               300,690    254,479  
    Less accumulated depreciation                                                   137,569    126,681  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------    ---------   --------  
    Net property, plant and equipment                                               163,121    127,798  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------    ---------   --------  
Total assets                                                                       $524,527   $468,082  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------    ---------   --------  
 See accompanying notes. 



Libbey Inc. Consolidated Balance Sheets (cont.)  
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--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------  
December 31,                                                                   2002        2001 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------  
Dollars in thousands 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
Current liabilities: 
   Notes payable                                                             $2,660      $2,400 
   Accounts payable                                                          31,633      33,125 
   Salaries and wages                                                        14,670      11,671 
   Accrued liabilities                                                       39,687      23,809 
   Income taxes                                                               5,498       1,904 
   Long-term debt due within one year                                           115     143,115 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------   --------    -------- 
Total current liabilities                                                    94,263     216,024 
Long-term debt                                                              188,403       2,517 
Deferred taxes                                                               11,780      23,512 
Pension liability                                                            28,655          -- 
Other long-term liabilities                                                  14,015      12,533 
Nonpension postretirement benefits                                           47,193      48,131 
 
Shareholders' equity: 
   Common stock, par value $.01 per share, 50,000,0 00 shares authorized, 
   18,256,277 shares issued (18,025,843 shares issu ed in 2001)                  183         180 
   Capital in excess of par value                                           293,537     288,418 
   Treasury stock, at cost, 3,625,000 shares (2,689 ,400 in 2001)           (102,206)    (75,369)  
   Deficit                                                                  (19,413)    (42,894)  
   Accumulated other comprehensive loss                                     (31,883)     (4,970)  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------   --------    -------- 
Total shareholders' equity                                                  140,218     165,365 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------   --------    -------- 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity                                 $524,527    $468,082 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------   --------    -------- 
 See accompanying notes. 



Libbey Inc. Consolidated Statements of Income  
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--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
December 31,                                           2002        2001        2000 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------- 
Dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts 
REVENUES 
   Net sales                                       $433,761    $419,594    $441,828 
   Freight billed to customers                        1,732       2,085       2,274 
   Royalties and net technical assistance income      2,404       3,741       4,684 
------------------------------------------------   --------    --------    -------- 
Total revenues                                      437,897     425,420     448,786 
Costs and expenses: 
   Cost of sales                                    327,565     307,255     306,003 
   Selling, general and administrative expenses      56,631      55,716      61,185 
------------------------------------------------   --------    --------    -------- 
                                                    384,196     362,971     367,188 
------------------------------------------------   --------    --------    -------- 
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS                               53,701      62,449      81,598 
Other income (expense): 
   Equity earnings - pretax                           6,379       6,384      12,016 
   Expenses related to abandoned acquisition        (13,634)         --          -- 
   Other - net                                       (1,510)       (241)       (919)  
------------------------------------------------   --------    --------    -------- 
                                                     (8,765)      6,143      11,097 
------------------------------------------------   --------    --------    -------- 
Earnings before interest and income taxes            44,936      68,592      92,695 
Interest expense - net                               (8,263)     (9,360)    (12,216)  
------------------------------------------------   --------    --------    -------- 
Income before income taxes                           36,673      59,232      80,479 
Provision for income taxes                            8,618      19,840      33,613 
------------------------------------------------   --------    --------    -------- 
NET INCOME                                          $28,055     $39,392     $46,866 
================================================   ========    ========    ======== 
 
NET INCOME PER SHARE 
   Basic                                              $1.84       $2.58       $3.07 
   Diluted                                            $1.82       $2.53       $3.01 
================================================   ========    ========    =========  
 See accompanying notes 



LIBBEY INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY  
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--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- --------------------------- 
                                                                                                        Accumulated 
                                                       Common   Capital in     Cost of                        Other 
 Dollars in thousands, except                           Stock    Excess of    Treasury                Comprehensive 
 per-share  amounts                          Shares     Amount    Par Value       Stock     Deficit     Income (Loss)       Total 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------- 
Balance January 1, 2000                  17,747,753       $178     $282,734    $(70,087)  $ (119,995)            $(987)    $91,843 
 Comprehensive income: 
  Net income                                                                                  46,866                       46,866 
  Effect of exchange rate fluctuation                                                                            (154)       (154)  
  Closure of exchange rate fluctuation                                                                          1,141       1,141 
                                                                                                                         -------- 
 Total comprehensive income                                                                                                47,853 
 Stock options exercised                    110,349          1        1,602                                                  1,603 
 Income tax benefit on stock options                                   594                                                    594 
 Purchase of 149,400 shares for 
  treasury                                                                      (4,053)                                    (4,053)  
 Dividends -- $0.30 per share                                                                (4,569)                       (4,569)  
---------------------------------------------------     ------   ----------   ---------   -----------   --------------    -------- 
Balance December 31, 2000               17,858,102        179      284,930     (74,140)     (77,698)               --     133,271 
 Comprehensive income: 
  Net income                                                                                 39,392                        39,392 
  Effect of derivatives, net 
    of $2,292 tax effect                                                                                       (4,742)     (4,742)  
  Minimum pension liability, net 
    of $137 tax effect                                                                                           (228)       (228)  
                                                                                                                         -------- 
 Total comprehensive income                                                                                                34,422 
 Stock options exercised                    167,741          1        2,344                                                  2,345 
 Income tax benefit on stock options                                 1,144                                                  1,144 
 Purchase of 42,000 shares for 
   treasury                                                                     (1,229)                                    (1,229)  
 Dividends -- $0.30 per share                                                                 (4,588)                      (4,588)  
---------------------------------------------------     ------   ----------   ---------   -----------   --------------    -------- 
 Balance December 31, 2001               18,025,843        180      288,418     (75,369)      (42,894)          (4,970)    165,365 
 Comprehensive income: 
  Net income                                                                                  28,055                       28,055 
  Effect of derivatives, net 
   of $297 tax effect                                                                                            (493)       (493)  
  Minimum pension liability, net 
   of $15,919 tax effect                                                                                      (26,419)    (26,419)  
  Effect of exchange rate fluctuation                                                                              (1)         (1)  
                                                                                                                         -------- 
 Total comprehensive income                                                                                                 1,142 
 Stock options exercised                    230,434          3        3,298                                                  3,301 
 Income tax benefit on stock options                                 1,821                                                  1,821 
 Purchase of 935,600 shares for 
   treasury                                                                    (26,837)                                   (26,837)  
 Dividends -- $0.30 per share                                                                 (4,574)                      (4,574)  
---------------------------------------------------     ------   ----------   ---------   -----------   --------------    -------- 
 BALANCE DECEMBER 31, 2002               18,256,277       $183     $293,537   $(102,206)    $ (19,413)        $(31,883)   $140,218 
===================================================     ======   ==========   =========   ===========   ==============    ======== 
 See accompanying notes 



Libbey Inc. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
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--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- -  
December 31,                                                                2002       2001       2000  
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- -  
Dollars in thousands 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income                                                               $28,055    $39,392    $46,866  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash pro vided 
 by operating activities: 
   Depreciation                                                           17,262     15,157     14,055  
   Amortization                                                            1,881      3,686      4,297  
   Net equity earnings                                                    (9,774)    (2,665)    (4,769 )  
   Nonpension postretirement benefit cost in excess  of payments             (938)    (1,545)    (2,735 )  
   Gain on sale of land                                                     (381)        --         --  
   Deferred income taxes, less equity earnings port ion                     4,040      7,394      6,349  
   Other                                                                     354       (385)     3,189  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
   Accounts receivable                                                     3,495      7,673     10,440  
   Inventories                                                               (91)     7,570    (15,185 )  
   Prepaid expenses                                                         (186)      (469)      (329 )  
   Other assets                                                            5,330    (16,976)   (10,420 )  
   Accounts payable                                                       (6,095)     3,264        762  
   Accrued liabilities                                                     5,886     (7,117)    (2,474 )  
   Other liabilities                                                       5,367     (3,671)   (13,148 )  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------   -------    -------    ------- -  
Net cash provided by operating activities                                 54,205     51,308     36,898  
 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Additions to property, plant and equipment                               (16,739)   (35,241)   (18,096 )  
Dividends received from equity investments                                 4,659      4,918      2,940  
Acquisitions (including acquisition-related costs, less cash acquired)   (62,046)        --         --  
Other                                                                      3,523     (1,563)       (63 )  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------   -------    -------    ------- -  
Net cash used in investing activities                                    (70,603)   (31,886)   (15,219 )  
 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Net bank credit facility activity                                         43,001     (8,404)   (18,596 )  
Payment of finance fees                                                     (815)        --         --  
Other net borrowings                                                         145     (4,968)     1,345  
Stock options exercised                                                    3,301      2,345      1,603  
Treasury shares purchased                                                (26,837)    (1,229)    (4,053 )  
Dividends                                                                 (4,574)    (4,588)    (4,569 )  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------   -------    -------    ------- -  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities                        14,221    (16,844)   (24,270 )  
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash                                  --         --        (45 )  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------   -------    -------    ------- -  
(Decrease) increase in cash                                               (2,177)     2,578     (2,636 )  
Cash at beginning of year                                                  3,860      1,282      3,918  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------   -------    -------    ------- -  
CASH AT END OF YEAR                                                       $1,683     $3,860     $1,282  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------   -------    -------    ------- -  
 See accompanying notes 



LIBBEY INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA AND PER-SHARE AMOUNTS)  

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Libbey Inc. and all wholly owned subsidiaries 
(the Company). The Company records its 49% interest in certain companies using the equity method. All material intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BUSINESS The Company operates in one business segment, tableware products. The Company 
designs, manufactures and markets an extensive line of high-quality, machine-made glass beverageware, other glass tableware, ceramic 
dinnerware and plastic items to a broad group of customers in the foodservice, retail, industrial and premium areas. Most of the Company's 
sales are to customers in North America. The Company also imports and distributes ceramic dinnerware and flatware and has a 49% interest in 
Vitrocrisa, a glass tableware manufacturer in Mexico.  

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS The allowance for doubtful accounts is established through charges to the provision for bad 
debts. The Company evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts on a periodic basis. The evaluation includes historical 
trends in collections and write-offs, management's judgement of the probability of collecting accounts and management's evaluation of business 
risk. This evaluation is inherently subjective, as it requires estimates that are susceptible to revision as more information becomes available. 
Accounts are determined to be uncollectible when the debt is deemed to be worthless or only recoverable in part, and are written off at that time 
through a charge against the allowance.  

INVENTORY VALUATION The Company uses the last-in, first-out (LIFO) cost method of inventory valuation for 57.1% of its inventories in 
2002 and 61.1% in 2001. If inventories valued on the LIFO method had been valued at standard or average costs, which approximate current 
costs, inventories would be higher than reported by $9,632 and $10,535 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The remaining 
inventories are valued at either standard or average cost, which approximate current costs.  
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GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES Goodwill results from the excess of purchase cost over the fair value of net assets acquired. Goodwill 
resulting from business combinations completed prior to December 31, 2001 was being amortized over 40 years.  

Intangibles result from valuations assigned by independent appraisers for future revenues from technical assistance agreements and trademarks 
acquired, as well as the pension intangible assets discussed in Note 8.  

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, "Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets" (SFAS No. 142) and SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations" (SFAS No. 141). SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill and 
indefinite-lived intangible assets to no longer be amortized but reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently if impairment indicators 
arise. Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 18, "The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock" (APB 18), 
requires the Company's goodwill associated with equity method investees to be reviewed for impairment. Intangible assets with lives restricted 
by contractual, legal or other means will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. As required by SFAS No. 142, the Company 
determined that certain trademarks had an indefinite life and ceased amortization of these intangibles on January 1, 2002, and evaluated these 
indefinite-lived intangible assets as not being impaired. The Company also determined that certain technical assistance agreements should have 
their useful lives reduced to five years.  

At December 31, 2002, the carrying value and accumulated amortization of amortized intangible assets totaled $3,183 and $3,380, respectively, 
and the carrying value of indefinite-lived intangible assets totaled $5,984. Future estimated amortization expense of amortizable intangibles is 
as follows: 2003 -- $775; 2004 -- $762; 2005 -- $762; 2006 -- $762 and 2007 -- $55.  

Goodwill and other intangible assets were evaluated for impairment as of January 1, 2002 and October 1, 2002, and no impairment was 
indicated at either date.  
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The following table reflects the consolidated results adjusted as though the adoption of SFAS No. 142 occurred as of January 1, 2000.  

 

DEFERRED SOFTWARE Deferred software represents the costs of internally developed and purchased software packages for internal use 
plus the costs associated with the installation of software. These costs are amortized over five years. The Company periodically reviews 
software to assess plans to replace the existing programs before the five years, in which case the amortization would be accelerated.  
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---------------------------------------------   --- ----------   ------------   ----------- 
Year ended December 31,                               2002            2001          2000 
---------------------------------------------   --- ----------   ------------   ----------- 
Net Income: 
  Reported net income                                $28,055         $39,392       $46,866 
  Goodwill amortization related to 
    equity investments                                    --           1,698         1,698 
  Goodwill and trademark amortization                     --           1,684         1,684 
  Change in amortization of technical 
    assistance agreements                                 --            (564)         (564)  
  Tax effect                                              --             (38)          (38)  
---------------------------------------------   --- ----------   ------------   ----------- 
Adjusted net income                                   $28,055        $42,172       $49,646 
---------------------------------------------   --- ----------   ------------   ----------- 
 
Basic earnings per share: 
  Reported net income                                   $1.84          $2.58         $3.07 
  Goodwill amortization related to 
    equity investments                                    --            0.11          0.11 
  Goodwill and trademark amortization                     --            0.11          0.11 
  Change in amortization of technical 
    assistance agreements                                 --           (0.04)        (0.04)  
  Tax effect                                              --             --            -- 
---------------------------------------------   --- ----------   ------------   ----------- 
Adjusted basic earnings per share                       $1.84          $2.76         $3.25 
---------------------------------------------   --- ----------   ------------   ----------- 
 
Diluted earnings per share: 
  Reported net income                                   $1.82          $2.53         $3.01 
  Goodwill amortization related to 
    equity investments                                    --            0.11          0.11 
  Goodwill and trademark amortization                     --            0.11          0.11 
  Change in amortization of technical 
    assistance agreements                                 --           (0.04)        (0.04)  
 
  Tax effect                                              --             --            -- 
---------------------------------------------   --- ----------   ------------   ----------- 
Adjusted diluted earnings per share                     $1.82          $2.71         $3.19 
---------------------------------------------   --- ----------   ------------   ----------- 



PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Major improvements are capitalized. 
Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, generally 3 to 14 years for equipment and furnishings and 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements.  

SELF-INSURANCE RESERVES Self-Insurance reserves reflect the estimated cost for group health and workers' compensation claims not 
covered by third-party insurance. Workers' compensation accruals are recorded at the estimated ultimate payout amounts based on individual 
case estimates and estimates of incurred-but-not-reported losses developed from past experience. Group health accruals are based on estimates 
of incurred-but-not-reported estimates received from a third party administrator of the plan.  
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STOCK OPTIONS The Company has two stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note 10. The 
Company accounts for the plans under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, 
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" (APB 25), and related Interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in 
net income, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date 
of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition 
provision of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" (SFAS No. 123), to stock-based employee compensation.  
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---------------------------------------------------    -------------   -------------   -------------  
Year ended December 31,                                     2002            2001           2000 
---------------------------------------------------    -------------   -------------   -------------  
Net Income: 
  Reported net income                                      $28,055         $39,392         $46,866 
  Stock-based employee compensation 
  expense determined under fair value 
  based method for all awards, net of 
  related tax effects                                        1,511           1,277           1,241 
---------------------------------------------------    -------------   -------------   -------------  
Pro forma net income                                       $26,544         $38,115         $45,625 
---------------------------------------------------    -------------   -------------   -------------  
 
Basic earnings per share: 
  Reported net income                                       $1.84            $2.58           $3.07 
  Stock-based employee compensation 
  expense determined under fair value 
  based method for all awards, net of 
  related tax effects                                         0.10            0.09            0.08 
---------------------------------------------------    -------------   -------------   -------------  
Adjusted basic earnings per share                            $1.74           $2.49           $2.99 
---------------------------------------------------    -------------   -------------   -------------  
 
Diluted earnings per share: 
  Reported net income                                        $1.82           $2.53           $3.01 
  Stock-based employee compensation 
  expense determined under fair value 
  based method for all awards, net of 
  related tax effects                                         0.10            0.08            0.08 
---------------------------------------------------    -------------   -------------   -------------  
Adjusted diluted earnings per share                          $1.72           $2.45           $2.93 
---------------------------------------------------    -------------   -------------   -------------  



INCOME TAXES Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 
and their respective tax bases and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for 
the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  

REVENUE RECOGNITION Revenue is recognized when products are shipped and title and risk of loss has passed to the customer. Revenue 
is recorded net of returns and discounts and allowances offered to customers. The Company estimates returns and discounts at the time of sale 
based on the terms of the agreements and historical experience. The Company continually evaluates the adequacy of these methods used to 
estimate returns and discounts.  

ROYALTIES AND NET TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE Royalties and net technical assistance income are accrued based on the terms of the 
respective agreements, which typically specify that a percentage of the licensee's sales be paid to the Company monthly, quarterly or semi-
annually in exchange for the Company's assistance with manufacturing and engineering and support in functions such as marketing, sales and 
administration. On January 1, 2002, the Company reduced the useful lives of certain technical assistance agreements to five years based on the 
implementation of SFAS No. 142.  

DERIVATIVES The Company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge certain of its interest rate risks associated with long-term debt, 
commodity price risks associated with forecasted future natural gas requirements and foreign exchange rate risks associated with occasional 
transactions denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar. These derivatives qualify for hedge accounting since the hedges are highly 
effective, and the Company has designated contemporaneously and documented the hedging relationships involving these derivative 
instruments. While the Company intends to continue to meet the conditions for hedge accounting, if hedges do not qualify as highly effective 
or if the Company does not believe that forecasted transactions would occur, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedges 
would be reflected in earnings.  

The Company uses Interest Rate Protection Agreements (Rate Agreements) to manage its exposure to fluctuating interest rates, which 
effectively convert a portion of the Company's borrowings from variable rate debt to a fixed-rate basis, thus reducing the impact of interest rate 
changes on future income. These instruments are valued using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted expected future 
variable cash receipts and the discounted future fixed cash payments. The variable cash receipts are based on an expectation of future interest 
rates derived from observed market interest rate forward curves. The Company also uses commodity futures contracts related to forecasted 
future natural gas requirements. The objective of these futures contracts and other derivatives is to limit the fluctuations in prices paid and 
potential losses in earnings or cash flows from adverse price movements in the underlying commodity. The  
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Company considers its forecasted natural gas requirements in determining the quantity of its natural gas to hedge. The Company combines the 
forecasts with historical observations to establish the percentage of its forecast eligible to be hedged, typically ranging from 40% to 60% of the 
anticipated requirements, generally two or more months in the future. In some cases hedges are for requirements as long as two years into the 
future. The fair values of these instruments are determined from market quotes. The Company's foreign currency exposures arise from 
occasional transactions denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar primarily associated with anticipated purchases of new equipment 
or net investment in a foreign operation. The fair values of these instruments are determined from market quotes. The Company has not 
changed its methods of calculating these values or developing underlying assumptions. The values of these derivatives will change over time as 
cash receipts and payments are made and as market conditions change.  

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has Rate Agreements for $100.0 million of its variable rate debt, commodity futures contracts for 0.8 
million British Thermal Units (BTUs) of natural gas, and foreign currency forward contracts for 42.3 million euros. The fair value of these 
derivatives are included on the balance sheet in prepaid expenses for the natural gas futures and accrued liabilities for the Rate Agreements and 
foreign currency forwards.  

The Company does not believe it is exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit risk in its interest rate, natural gas and foreign currency 
hedges as the counterparts are established financial institutions.  

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of a derivative that is designated as and meets the required criteria for a cash flow hedge is 
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the 
underlying hedged item affects earnings. Amounts reclassified into earnings related to Rate Agreements are included in interest expense, 
natural gas futures contracts in natural gas expense included in cost of sales, and foreign currency forward contracts for the purchase of new 
equipment in capital expenditures and for net investments in foreign operations in other income (expense).  

All of the Company's derivatives qualify and are designated as cash flow hedges at December 31, 2002. Hedge accounting is only applied when 
the derivative is deemed to be highly effective at offsetting changes in fair values or anticipated cash flows of the hedged item or transaction. 
For hedged forecasted transactions, hedge accounting is discontinued if the forecasted transaction is no longer probable to occur, and any 
previously deferred gains or losses would be recorded to earnings immediately. The ineffective portion of the change in the fair value of a 
derivative designated as a cash flow hedge is recognized in current earnings. Ineffectiveness recognized in earnings during 2002 was not 
material.  

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" as amended 
by SFAS Nos. 137 and  
138. The Company recorded a cumulative transition adjustment to decrease other comprehensive income (loss) by  
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$1,044 less tax of $371 to recognize the fair value of its derivative instruments at January 1, 2001. During 2001, the Company decreased other 
comprehensive income (loss) by an additional $5,990 for net changes in the fair value of derivatives less tax of $1,921, which results in 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to derivatives at December 31, 2001, of $(7,034) less tax of $2,292, or $(4,742). 
During 2002, the Company decreased other comprehensive income (loss) by an additional $(790) for net changes in the fair value of 
derivatives less tax of $297 or $(493). This results in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to derivatives at December 31, 
2002, of $(7,824) less tax of $2,589, or $(5,235).  

The following table identifies the detail of cash flow hedges in Other Comprehensive income (loss) as of December 31:  

 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT Research and development expenses are fully charged to the Consolidated Statements of Income when 
incurred. Expenses for 2002, 2001 and 2000 respectively were $2,124, $2,394, and $2,263.  

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION Effective January 1, 2001, the remaining activities of the Company's wholly owned Canadian sales 
subsidiary are recorded with the U.S. dollar as the functional currency. The 49% investments in Vitrocrisa, S. de R.L. de C.V. and related 
Mexican companies are accounted for using the equity method with the U.S. dollar as the functional currency. The assets and liabilities of the 
wholly owned foreign subsidiary, Royal Leerdam (B.V. Koninklijke Nederlandsche Glasfabriek Leerdam), are translated at current exchange 
rates and any related translation adjustments are recorded directly in shareholders' equity with the euro being the functional currency.  

39  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------    ----------    ---------- 
Year ended December 31,                                                   2002          2001 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------    ----------    ---------- 
Balance at beginning of year                                           $(4,742)            - 
Cumulative effect of adoption of SFAS No. 133 (net of 
taxes) 
  Rate Agreements                                                            -         $(832)  
  Natural Gas                                                                -            51 
  Foreign Currency                                                           -           108 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------    ----------    ---------- 
    Subtotal                                                                 -          (673)  
Current year impact of changes in value (net of tax es) 
  Rate Agreements                                                       (2,460)      $(2,215)  
  Natural Gas                                                            2,174        (1,746)  
  Foreign Currency                                                        (207)         (108)  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------    ----------    ---------- 
    Subtotal                                                              (493)       (4,069)  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------    ----------    ---------- 
Balance at end of year                                                 $(5,235)      $(4,742)  
--------------------------------------------------- -------------    ----------    ---------- 



OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) Other comprehensive income (loss) for the Company consisted of foreign currency translation 
adjustment prior to 2001. In 2001, other comprehensive income (loss) includes fair value changes of derivatives and a net minimum pension 
liability in connection with pension obligations, net of tax. Disclosure of comprehensive income (loss) is incorporated into the Consolidated 
Statements of Shareholders' Equity for all years presented. Accumulated other comprehensive loss primarily includes $5,235 and $4,742 for 
effect of derivatives and $26,647 and $228 for minimum pension liability as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  

LONG-LIVED ASSETS Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of 
Long-Lived Assets" (SFAS No. 144), which supersedes SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-
Lived Assets to be Disposed of," and provides a single accounting model for long-lived assets which are to be disposed. The adoption of SFAS 
No. 144 had no effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations or financial position.  

TREASURY STOCK Treasury stock purchases are recorded at cost. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company purchased 935,600, 42,000 
and 149,400 shares of stock at an average cost of $28.68, $29.26 and $27.13, respectively.  

INCOME PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:  
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--------------------------------------------------   ----------------   --------------   ------------- --  
Year ended December 31,                                         2002             2001             2000  
--------------------------------------------------   ----------------   --------------   ------------- --  
Numerator for earnings per share -- net 
  income that is available to common 
  shareholders                                                $28,055          $39,392          $46,86 6 
 
Denominator for basic earnings per share -- 
  weighted-average shares outstanding                      15,240,429       15,296,289       15,253,72 6 
Effect of dilutive securities - employee stock 
 options and employee stock purchase 
 plan (ESPP) in 2002                                          190,693          247,996          293,32 7 
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 
 - adjusted weighted-average shares and 
 assumed conversions                                       15,431,122       15,544,285       15,547,05 3 
 
Basic earnings per share                                        $1.84            $2.58            $3.0 7 
 
Diluted earnings per share                                      $1.82            $2.53            $3.0 1 
 
--------------------------------------------------   ----------------   --------------   ------------- --  



NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal 
Activities" (SFAS No. 146). This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and 
nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to 
Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)." SFAS No. 146 requires that costs associated with an exit or disposal 
activity be recognized when the liability is incurred and establishes fair value as the objective for initial measurement of the liability. The 
pronouncement becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2002.  

In December 2002, the FASB issued a SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure" (SFAS No. 
148). This statement addresses the transition methods for entities that adopt the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee 
compensation and also improves the prominence and clarity of the pro forma disclosures required by SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation" (SFAS No. 123), by prescribing a specific tabular format and by requiring disclosure in the Significant Accounting 
Policies note to the financial statement. In addition, this statement requires disclosures in financial reports for interim periods. The Company 
adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148 in December 2002, the effective date of the Standard.  

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, "Guarantors Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including 
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others." This interpretation will significantly change current practices in the accounting for and 
disclosure of guarantees. Guarantees meeting the characteristics described in the Interpretation are required to be initially recorded at fair value. 
The Interpretation's initial recognition and initial measurement provisions are applicable on prospective basis to guarantees issues or modified 
after December 31, 2002. The Interpretation also requires a guarantor to make significant new disclosures for virtually all guarantees even if 
the likelihood of the guarantor's having to make payments under the guarantee is remote. The Interpretation's disclosure requirements are 
effective for this year's financial statements. Libbey Inc. guarantees the debt of Libbey Glass Inc. and Libbey Glass Inc. guarantees the debt of 
Libbey Europe B.V. (all related parties which are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements).  
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3. ACQUISITIONS  
Abandoned Anchor Hocking Acquisition  
In June of 2001, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire the Anchor Hocking operations of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. On June 10, 
2002, the Company abandoned its proposed acquisition of the Anchor Hocking business in light of the challenge to the acquisition by the 
United States Federal Trade Commission (FTC). As a result, the Company expensed costs of $13,634 in 2002 directly related to the abandoned 
acquisition. These costs, consisting primarily of professional and financing fees, represent all of the costs incurred in connection with the 
acquisition and due to the unusual nature of this event have been classified in the Other income (expense) in the 2002 Consolidated Statement 
of Income.  
 
Traex Acquisition  
On December 2, 2002, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of the Traex business (Traex) from Menasha Corporation for $16.8 
million in cash. Traex manufactures and markets a wide-range of plastic products, including glassware washing and storage racks, trays, 
dispensers and organizers for the foodservice industry. Traex is located in Dane, Wisconsin. The operating results of Traex have been included 
in the 2002 Consolidated Statements of Income since the date of acquisition.  
 
Royal Leerdam Acquisition  
On December 31, 2002, the Company acquired the stock of Royal Leerdam (B.V. Koninklijke Nederlandsche Glasfabriek Leerdam) for $44.1 
million in cash from BSN Glasspack N.V. Royal Leerdam manufactures and markets high-quality glass stemware. Royal Leerdam is located in 
Leerdam, Netherlands. Since the acquisition was completed on December 31, 2002, there were no operating results included in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income.  

As part of the stock acquisition of Royal Leerdam (B. V. Koninklijke Nederlandsche Glasfabriek Leerdam), the Company obtained an option, 
for a price of one euro, to put the stock of B.V. Leerdam Crystal (a wholly owned subsidiary of Royal Leerdam) back to BSN Glasspack N.V. 
Leerdam Crystal manufactures and markets various hand-made crystal items. The option expires on April 1, 2003, and is available to be 
extended to June 30, 2003.  

If the option to put the business back to BSN Glasspack N.V is not exercised and the Company retains the business of B.V. Leerdam Crystal, 
the Company will assume 1.6 million euros of debt. The debt would be interest free and would be payable in three equal installments due on 
December 31 of each year beginning in 2003. Since, as of December 31, 2002, the option has not been exercised, the December 31, 2002 
Consolidated Balance Sheet only reflects the value of the option of one euro.  

The purchase price allocations for the acquisitions have been prepared on a preliminary basis. Reasonable changes are expected as additional 
information becomes available and the asset  
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valuations are finalized. Following is a summary of the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of 
acquisitions:  

 

The pro forma unaudited results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, assuming the acquisitions had been 
consummated as of January 1, 2001, are as follows:  

 

The unaudited pro forma information is not necessarily indicative either of the results of operations that would have occurred had the 
acquisition been consummated as of January 1, 2001 or of future operating results.  

4. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES  

The Company is a 49% equity owner in Vitrocrisa, S. de R.L. de C.V. and related Mexican companies (Vitrocrisa), which manufacture, market 
and sell glass tableware (beverageware, plates, bowls, serveware and accessories) and industrial glassware (coffee pots, blender jars, meter  
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--------------------------------------------------    -------------  
                                                              2002 
--------------------------------------------------    -------------  
Current assets (including cash of $382)                    $22,728 
Property, plant and equipment                               38,679 
Intangible assets - amortizable (7.5 
  weighted average life)                                       363 
Goodwill & intangible assets (indefinite life)              17,112 
Other assets                                                 1,975 
--------------------------------------------------    -------------  
Total assets acquired                                       80,857 
--------------------------------------------------    -------------  
Less liabilities assumed: 
Current liabilities                                         12,474 
Long-term liabilities                                        5,957 
--------------------------------------------------    -------------  
Total liabilities assumed                                   18,431 
--------------------------------------------------    -------------  
 
Less acquisition-related costs                               1,549 
--------------------------------------------------    -------------  
 
--------------------------------------------------    -------------  
Net cash paid to seller                                    $60,877 
--------------------------------------------------    -------------  

------------------------------------------   ------ ------   -----------  
Year ended December 31,                              2002          2001  
------------------------------------------   ------ ------   -----------  
  Total revenues                                 $5 05,216      $490,072  
  Net Income                                       30,227        42,072  
Net income per share 
  Basic                                             $1.98         $2.75  
  Diluted                                           $1.96         $2.71  
------------------------------------------   ------ ------   -----------  



covers, glass covers for cooking ware and lighting fixtures sold to original equipment manufacturers) and a 49% equity owner in Crisa 
Industrial, L.L.C., a domestic distributor of industrial glassware for Vitrocrisa in the U.S. and Canada.  

Summarized combined financial information for the Company's investments, accounted for by the equity method, is as follows:  
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------------------------------------------------   ----------   ----------  
December 31,                                            2002         2001 
------------------------------------------------   ----------   ----------  
Current assets                                        $93,311     $102,599  
Non-current assets                                    115,054      130,295  
------------------------------------------------   ----------   ----------  
   Total assets                                       208,365      232,894  
------------------------------------------------   ----------   ----------  
Current liabilities                                    78,547       74,924  
Other liabilities and deferred items                  100,063      135,396  
------------------------------------------------   ----------   ----------  
   Total liabilities and deferred items               178,610      210,320  
------------------------------------------------   ----------   ----------  
Net assets                                            $29,755      $22,574  
------------------------------------------------   -----------   ---------  

----------------------------------------------   -- ---------   ------------   ------------  
Year ended December 31,                                 2002           2001          2000 
----------------------------------------------   -- ---------   ------------   ------------  
Net sales                                           $193,152       $199,373      $217,477 
  Cost of sales                                      158,801        157,011       154,248 
----------------------------------------------   -- ---------   ------------   ------------  
Gross profit                                          34,351         42,362        63,229 
   Operating expenses                                 21,108         21,250        22,817 
----------------------------------------------   -- ---------   ------------   ------------  
Income from operations                                13,243         21,112        40,412 
  Other income (loss)                                  2,872          5,014        (2,420)  
----------------------------------------------   -- ---------   ------------   ------------  
Earnings before finance costs and taxes               16,115         26,126        37,992 
  Interest expense                                     6,127          7,855        10,296 
  Translation gain (loss)                              3,030         (1,780)          289 
                                                 -- ---------   ------------   ------------  
Earnings before income taxes                          13,018         16,491        27,985 
  Income taxes                                        (6,928)         7,588        14,788 
----------------------------------------------   -- ---------   ------------   ------------  
Net income                                          $ 19,946       $  8,903      $ 13,197 
----------------------------------------------   -- ---------   ------------   ------------  



The Company reports pretax equity earnings in the consolidated statements of income with related Mexican taxes included in the provision for 
income taxes. The equity earnings are as follows:  

 

As required by SFAS No. 142, the Company ceased amortization of goodwill included in its equity investments, effective January 1, 2002. 
APB 18, "The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock" requires the Company's goodwill associated with equity 
method investees to be reviewed for impairment. The Company has determined that the goodwill of $60.5 million at December 31, 2002, is not 
impaired. The difference between total earnings before income taxes in the combined information above and the Company's pretax equity 
earnings in 2001 and 2000 is $1,698 due to amortization of goodwill related to these investments.  

The carrying value of the equity investments is greater than the underlying shareholders' equity of those entities due to the use of purchase 
accounting at the time of the Company's acquisition of its 49% interest in 1997.  

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Property, plant and equipment consists of the following:  
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--------------------------------------   ---------- ---   -------------   ------------  
Year ended December 31,                          20 02            2001           2000 
--------------------------------------   ---------- ---   -------------   ------------  
Pretax equity earnings                         $6,3 79           $6,384        $12,016  
Mexican taxes                                  (3,3 95)           3,719          7,247  
--------------------------------------   ---------- ---   -------------   ------------  
Net equity earnings                            $9,7 74           $2,665         $4,769  
--------------------------------------   ---------- ---   -------------   ------------  

--------------------------------------   ---------- -------   ----------------  
December 31,                                         2002               2001 
--------------------------------------   ---------- -------   ----------------  
Land                                               $15,614            $15,433  
 
Buildings                                           47,578             36,703  
 
Machinery and equipment                            218,375            179,909  
 
Furniture and fixtures                              13,851             14,285  
 
Construction in progress                             5,272              8,149  
--------------------------------------   ---------- -------   ----------------  
                                                   300,690            254,479  
 
Less accumulated depreciation                      137,569            126,681  
--------------------------------------   ---------- -------   ----------------  
Net property, plant and equipment                 $ 163,121           $127,798  
--------------------------------------   ---------- -------   ----------------  



6. OTHER ACCRUED LIABILITIES Other accrued liabilities include accruals for employee medical and workers' compensation self-
insurance of $5,652 and $4,694 and various customer incentive programs totaling $12,917 and $9,709 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, 
respectively.  

7. INCOME TAXES The provision for income taxes was calculated based on the following components of earnings before income taxes:  
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--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
Year ended December 31,                                                  2002        2001       2000  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
United States                                                         $31,202     $51,139    $66,223  
Foreign                                                                 5,471       8,093     14,256  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
Total earnings before tax                                             $36,673     $59,232    $80,479  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
 
The provision (credit) for income taxes consists of  the following: 
 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
 
Year ended December 31,                                                  2002        2001       2000  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
Current: 
    Federal                                                            $7,146      $7,880    $19,111  
    Foreign                                                               740         679      1,925  
    State and local                                                       645         560      2,436  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
Total current tax provision                                             8,531       9,119     23,472  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
Deferred: 
    Federal                                                             3,439       8,228      3,963  
    Foreign                                                            (3,854)      3,275      5,703  
    State and local                                                       502        (782)       475  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
Total deferred tax provision                                               87      10,721     10,141  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
Total: 
    Federal                                                            10,585      16,108     23,074  
    Foreign                                                            (3,114)      3,954      7,628  
    State and local                                                     1,147        (222)     2,911  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  
Total tax provision                                                    $8,618     $19,840    $33,613  
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------   --------    --------    -------  



Significant components of the Company's deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows:  

 
47  

December 31,                                                                           2002        200 1 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
    Property, plant and equipment                                                   $24,110     $21,71 4 
    Inventories                                                                       6,151       5,77 3 
    Pension                                                                              --       9,77 5 
    Intangibles and other assets                                                     16,711      18,78 9 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
Total deferred tax liabilities                                                       46,972      56,05 1 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
Deferred tax assets: 
    Accrued nonpension postretirement benefits                                       17,802      18,13 0 
    Other accrued liabilities                                                        13,146      11,51 2 
    Pension                                                                           4,633          - - 
    Receivables                                                                       2,791       2,20 3 
    Tax credits                                                                       6,176       7,39 6 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
Total deferred tax assets                                                            44,548      39,24 1 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
Net deferred tax liability before valuation                                           2,424      16,81 0 
    allowance 
Valuation allowance                                                                     195         19 5 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
Net deferred tax liability                                                           $2,619     $17,00 5 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
 
The net deferred tax liability is included in the c onsolidated balance sheets as 
follows: 
 
December 31,                                                                           2002        200 1 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
Noncurrent deferred taxes                                                           $11,780     $23,51 2 
Prepaid expenses and deferred taxes                                                  (9,161)     (6,50 7)  
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 
Net deferred tax liability                                                           $2,619     $17,00 5 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------   --------    ------- - 



A reconciliation from the statutory U.S. federal tax rate of 35% to the consolidated effective tax rate is as follows:  

 

The lower effective tax rate in 2002 is primarily attributable to lower Mexican tax, the elimination of non-deductible goodwill amortization and 
an adjustment to estimated U.S. income tax accruals. The reduction in Mexican tax is primarily attributable to deferred tax adjustments and 
reduced statutory tax rates in Mexico.  

Income taxes paid in cash (net of refunds received) amounted to $3,555, $7,632 and $29,288 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 
2000, respectively.  

U.S. deferred income taxes, net of foreign tax credit, were provided on all undistributed earnings of the Company's Mexican and Canadian 
subsidiaries, as the earnings are not expected to be permanently reinvested in such companies.  

Income tax benefits related to employee stock option transactions of $1,821, $1,144 and $594 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 
and 2000, respectively, were allocated to shareholders' equity. In addition, income tax benefits related to minimum pension liability of $15,919 
and $137 for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and income tax benefits related to derivatives of $297 and $2,292 for 
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 respectively, were allocated to shareholders' equity.  
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Year ended December 31,                                    2002       2001       2000  
--------------------------------------------------- ---   ------     ------     ------  
Statutory U.S. federal tax rate                           35.0%      35.0%      35.0%  
Increase (decrease) in rate due to: 
    Foreign tax differential                             (10.5)       4.2       11.0 
    State and local income taxes, net of related 
      federal taxes                                        2.0       (0.2)       2.4 
    Amortization of goodwill                                --        1.4        1.0 
    Federal credits                                       (1.5)      (5.8)      (6.3)  
    Other                                                 (1.5)      (1.1)      (1.3)  
--------------------------------------------------- ---   ------     ------     ------  
Consolidated effective tax rate                           23.5%      33.5%      41.8%  
--------------------------------------------------- ---   ------     ------     ------  



The deferred tax credit consist of the following:  

 

The valuation allowance of $195 recorded at December 31, 2002 and 2001 is related to state tax credits. The state tax credits will expire 
between 2005 and 2017. The federal foreign tax credits are not available for utilization until earnings are distributed from the non-U.S. 
subsidiaries. The federal research and experimentation credits represent a receivable for credits that have been earned, but due to federal 
procedural matters have not been received as of December 31, 2002.  
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December 31,                                              2002            2001  
-----------------------------------------------   - -----------   -------------  
State tax credits                                       $2,623         $ 2,841  
Federal foreign tax credits                              3,152           3,813  
Federal research and experimentation credits               401             742  
-----------------------------------------------   - -----------   -------------  
Total deferred tax credits                              $6,176          $7,396  
-----------------------------------------------   - -----------   -------------  



8. PENSION PLANS AND NONPENSION POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS The Company has pension plans covering substantially all 
employees. Benefits generally are based on compensation for salaried employees and length of service for hourly employees. The Company's 
policy is to fund pension plans such that sufficient assets will be available to meet future benefit requirements. In addition, the Company has a 
supplemental employee retirement plan (SERP) covering certain employees. The 2001 and 2000 pension disclosure information has been 
restated to include the SERP.  

The changes in the projected benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets are as follows:  
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--------------------------------------------------- --------------   ---------    --------- 
December 31,                                                             2002         2001 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   ---------    --------- 
Change in projected benefit obligation: 
  Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year                    $190,562     $164,373 
  Service cost                                                          4,819        3,969 
  Interest cost                                                        14,373       13,199 
  Plan amendments                                                       1,445       11,014 
  Actuarial loss                                                       12,803        9,967 
  Benefits paid                                                       (13,619)     (11,960)  
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   ---------    --------- 
  Projected benefit obligation, end of year                          $210,383     $190,562 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   ---------    --------- 
Change in fair value of plan assets: 
  Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year                       $198,392     $222,648 
  Actual return on plan assets                                        (12,016)     (12,296)  
  Benefits paid                                                       (13,619)     (11,960)  
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   ---------    --------- 
  Fair value of plan asset, end of year                              $172,757     $198,392 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   ---------    --------- 
Reconciliation of prepaid (accrued) cost: 
  Funded Status of the plans                                         $(37,626)      $7,830 
  Unrecognized net loss                                                51,816        2,613 
  Unrecognized prior year service cost                                 16,257       16,340 
  Estimated accrued Royal Leerdam pension 
    cost                                                               (4,601)          -- 
  Adjustment to recognize additional minimum 
    liability                                                         (60,052)        (829)  
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   ---------    --------- 
  (Accrued) prepaid pension benefit cost                             $(34,206)     $25,954 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   ---------    --------- 



The pension plans are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:  

 

The plan amendments in 2001 resulted from additional benefits granted to certain of the Company's unionized workforce in labor negotiations.  

The Company recorded an additional minimum pension liability of $59,223 and $829 as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, 
representing the amount required to bring the Company's recorded pension liability to equal the excess of the accumulated benefit obligation 
over fair value of plan assets for the applicable plans. An intangible pension asset of $16,886 and $282 as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, 
respectively, was recorded to the extent of the plans' unrecognized prior service cost. The difference between the additional minimum pension 
liability and intangible pension asset was included as a reduction of other comprehensive income of $42,338 less income tax benefit of 
$15,919, and $365 less income tax benefit of $137 for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  

The actuarial present value of benefit obligations is based on the following:  

 

Future benefits are assumed to increase in a manner consistent with past experience. Plan assets primarily include marketable equity securities 
and government and corporate debt securities.  
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--------------------------------------------------- ------  --------    -------- 
December 31,                                                   2002        2001 
--------------------------------------------------- ------  --------    -------- 
Pension (liability) asset                                  $(28,655)    $29,506 
Other long-term liabilities (SERP liability)                 (5,551)     (3,552)  
--------------------------------------------------- ------  --------    -------- 
(Accrued) prepaid pension benefit cost                     $(34,206)    $25,954 
--------------------------------------------------- ------  --------    -------- 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------- ------  --------    -------- 
 
December 31,                                                   2002        2001 
--------------------------------------------------- ------  --------    -------- 
Intangibles (intangible pension asset)                      $17,168        $282 
--------------------------------------------------- ------  --------    -------- 

--------------------------------------------------   --------   ---------   ---------  
Year ended December 31,                                 2002        2001        2000 
--------------------------------------------------   --------   ---------   ---------  
Discount rate                                           6.75%       7.50%       7.75%  
Expected long-term rate of return on assets             9.00%      10.00%      10.00%  
Salary growth rate                                      4.00%       5.00%       5.00%  
--------------------------------------------------   --------   ---------   ---------  



The components of the net pension credit (including the SERP) are as follows:  

 

In addition to the above plans, U.S. employees are eligible to contribute to a 401(k) plan. The Company matches a portion of these 
contributions. Contributions were an expense of $2,138, $2,024 and $1,996 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

The Company also provides certain retiree health care and life insurance benefits covering substantially all salaried and hourly employees. 
Employees are generally eligible for benefits upon retirement and completion of a specified number of years of creditable service. Benefits for 
most hourly retirees are determined by collective bargaining. Under a cross-indemnity agreement, Owens-Illinois, Inc. assumed liability for the 
nonpension postretirement benefits of Company retirees who had retired as of June 18, 1993.  
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--------------------------------------------------- -   --------    --------    -------- 
Year ended December 31,                                    2002        2001        2000 
--------------------------------------------------- -   --------    --------    -------- 
Service cost (benefits earned during the period)        $ 4,819     $ 3,969     $ 3,911 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation            14,373      13,199      12,471 
Expected return on plan assets                          (23,158)    (22,669)    (21,245)  
Prior service cost amortization                           1,527         536         536 
Actuarial gain recognized                                (1,245)     (2,120)     (2,168)  
--------------------------------------------------- -   --------    --------    -------- 
Net pension credit                                      $(3,684)    $(7,085)    $(6,495)  
--------------------------------------------------- -   --------    --------    -------- 



The components of the nonpension postretirement benefit obligation and amounts accrued are as follows:  

 

The provision for net nonpension postretirement benefit cost (credit) consists of the following:  

 

Assumed health care cost inflation is based on an initial rate of 10.0% decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.0% over 5 years. A 1% increase in 
these rates would have increased the nonpension postretirement expense by $76 and the benefit obligation by $854. A 1% decrease in these 
rates would have decreased the net nonpension postretirement expense by $91 and the benefit obligation by $870. The assumed discount rate 
used in determining the accumulated nonpension postretirement benefit obligation was 6.75% for 2002, 7.5% for 2001 and 7.75% for 2000. 
The Company continues to fund these nonpension postretirement benefit obligations as claims are incurred.  
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--------------------------------------------------- --------------   --------    -------- 
December 31,                                                            2002        2001 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   --------    -------- 
Change in accumulated nonpension 
postretirement benefit obligation: 
  Benefit obligation, beginning of year                              $26,693     $20,855 
  Currency loss (gain)                                                    27        (153)  
  Service cost                                                           736         590 
  Interest cost                                                        2,360       1,911 
  Actuarial loss                                                       9,665       4,845 
  Benefits paid                                                       (1,934)     (1,355)  
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   --------    -------- 
  Benefit obligation, end of year                                    $37,547     $26,693 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   --------    -------- 
 
Reconciliation of funded status of plans: 
    Funded Status                                                   $(37,547)   $(26,693)  
    Unrecognized actuarial gain                                         (187)    (10,064)  
    Unrecognized prior year service cost                              (9,459)    (11,374)  
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   --------    -------- 
    Accrued benefit cost                                            $(47,193)   $(48,131)  
--------------------------------------------------- --------------   --------    -------- 

--------------------------------------------------- -----------------   -------    -------    ------- 
Year ended December 31,                                                   2002       2001       2000 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------   -------    -------    ------- 
Service cost (benefits earned during the period)                          $736       $590       $439 
Interest cost on nonpension postretirement 
benefit obligation                                                       2,360      1,911      1,549 
Prior service cost amortization                                         (2,162)    (2,543)    (2,883)  
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------   -------    -------    ------- 
Net nonpension postretirement benefit cost (credit)                        $934       $(42)     $(895)  
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------   -------    -------    ------- 



The Company also provides retiree health care benefits to certain union hourly employees through participation in a multi-employer retiree 
health care benefit plan. Related to these plans, approximately $312, $365 and $377 was charged to expense for the years ended December 31, 
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

9. LONG-TERM DEBT On February 10, 2003, the Company entered into an unsecured agreement for an Amended and Restated Revolving 
Credit Agreement (Revolving Credit Agreement or Agreement) among Libbey Glass Inc. and Libbey Europe B.V., as borrowers. This 
amended the previous Revolving Credit and Swing Line Facility naming Libbey Glass Inc. as borrower. The amendment was primarily for the 
Company to borrow euros. The Agreement is with a group of banks that provides for a Revolving Credit and Swing Line Facility (Facility) 
permitting borrowings up to an aggregate total of $250 million, maturing April 23, 2005, with an option to extend for two additional one-year 
periods. Swing Line borrowings are limited to $25 million with interest calculated at the prime rate minus the facility fee percentage (Facility 
Fee Percentage) as defined in the Agreement. Revolving Credit Agreement U.S. dollar borrowings bear interest at the Company's option at 
either the prime rate minus the Facility Fee Percentage or a Eurodollar rate plus the Applicable Eurodollar Margin (Applicable Eurodollar 
Margin) as defined in the Agreement. The Facility Fee Percentage and Applicable Eurodollar Margin vary depending on the Company's 
performance against certain financial ratios. The Facility Fee Percentage and the Applicable Eurodollar Margin were 0.25% and 0.75%, 
respectively, at December 31, 2002.  

The Company may also elect to borrow under a Negotiated Rate Loan alternative of the Revolving Credit and Swing Line Facility at floating 
rates of interest, up to a maximum of $125 million. The Company had $186 million outstanding under the Facility at December 31, 2002, and 
$143 million outstanding at December 31, 2001. The Facility also provides for the issuance of $30 million of letters of credit, with such usage 
applied against the $250 million limit. At December 31, 2002, the Company had $4.7 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Facility.  

Libbey Europe B.V. may have euro-denominated borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement in an amount not to exceed the Offshore 
Currency equivalent of $60 million. Offshore Currency Swing Line borrowings are currently limited to $10 million of the $25 million total 
Swing Line borrowing. Interest is calculated at the Offshore Currency Swing Line rate plus applicable Offshore Currency Swing Line Margin, 
as defined in the Agreement. Revolving Offshore Currency Borrowings bear interest at the Offshore Currency Rate plus applicable spread, as 
defined in the Agreement.  

In September 2001, the Company issued a $2.7 million promissory note in connection with the purchase of a warehouse facility. At December 
31, 2002, the Company had $2.5 million outstanding on the promissory note.  
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Annual maturities for all the Company's long-term debt are as follows: 2003 - $0.1 million; 2004 - $0.1 million; 2005 - $186.1 million; 2006 - 
$0.1 million; and 2007 - $0.2 million.  

The Company has Rate Agreements with respect to $100 million of debt as a means to manage its exposure to fluctuating interest rates. The 
Rate Agreements effectively convert this portion of the Company's borrowings from variable rate debt to a fixed-rate basis, thus reducing the 
impact of interest rate changes on future income. The fixed interest rate for the Company's borrowings related to the Rate Agreements at 
December 31, 2002, is 5.8% and the total interest rate, including applicable fees, is 6.8%. The average maturity of these Rate Agreements is 2.3 
years at December 31, 2002. Total remaining debt not covered by the Rate Agreements has fluctuating interest rates with a weighted average 
rate of 2.4% at December 31, 2002. If the counterparts to these Rate Agreements fail to perform, the Company would no longer be protected 
from interest rate fluctuations by these Rate Agreements. However, the Company does not anticipate nonperformance by the counterparts.  

The Company pays the Commitment Fee Percentage on the total credit provided under the Bank Credit Agreement. No compensating balances 
are required by the Agreement, which does require the maintenance of certain financial ratios, restricts the incurrence of indebtedness and other 
contingent financial obligations and restricts certain types of business activities and investments.  

At December 31, 2002, the carrying value of the Company's variable-rate debt approximates its fair value based on the Company's current 
incremental borrowing rates and term to the maturity of the Bank Credit Agreement. The fair market value for the Company's Rate Agreements 
at December 31, 2002, was $(8.8) million. The fair value of the Company's Rate Agreements is based on the market standard methodology of 
netting the discounted expected future variable cash receipts and the discounted future fixed cash payments. The variable cash receipts are 
based on an expectation of future interest rates derived from observed market interest rate forward curves. The Company does not expect to 
cancel these agreements and expects them to expire as originally contracted.  

Interest paid in cash amounted to $8,115, $10,785, and $12,001 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.  

10. STOCK COMPENSATION On May 10, 2001 the shareholders approved the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) which allows 
employees through payroll withholdings to purchase up to 350,000 shares of common stock at the lower of 85% of the market price at the 
beginning or the end of the option period. The Libbey Inc. 2002 ESPP started June 1, 2002 and continues through May 31, 2003. The market 
price of stock at the beginning of the period was $34.60. There have been no shares purchased yet under this plan. Up to 350,000 shares of 
common stock may currently be purchased under the ESPP.  
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The Company has two stock option plans for key employees: (1) the Libbey Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan for Key Employees 
and (2) the 1999 Equity Participation Plan of Libbey Inc. The plans provide for the granting of Incentive Stock Options and Nonqualified 
Options to purchase 2,800,000 shares of the Company's common stock at a price not less than the fair market value on the date the option is 
granted.  

Options become exercisable as determined at the date of the grant by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Unless an earlier 
expiration date is set at the time of the grant or results from termination of an optionee's employment or a merger, consolidation, acquisition, 
liquidation or dissolution of the Company, Incentive Stock Options expire ten years after the date of the grant and Nonqualified Options expire 
ten years and a day after the grant.  

The Company has elected to follow APB No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" (APB 25) in accounting for employee stock 
options. The alternative fair value accounting provided for under SFAS No. 123 requires use of option valuation models that were not 
developed for use in valuing employee stock options. Under APB 25, no compensation expense is recognized because the exercise price of the 
Company's employee stock options equals the market price of the underlying stock at the date of grant.  

In the opinion of management, the existing fair value models do not provide a reliable measure of the value of employee stock options. The 
Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and 
are fully transferable. The Company's employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options. In 
addition, option valuation models require highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Changes in these 
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate.  

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS No. 123, which also requires that the information be 
determined as if the Company has accounted for its employee stock options granted subsequent to December 31, 1994, under the fair-value 
method of that Statement. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with 
the following weighted-average assumptions by year:  
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----------------------------------------   -------    -------    -------  
Assumption                                    2002       2001       2000  
----------------------------------------   -------    -------    -------  
Risk-free interest rates                      3.7%       4.2%       6.0%  
Dividend yield                                1.2%       0.9%       0.9%  
 
Volatility                                     .31        .30        .29  
----------------------------------------   -------    -------    -------  



The weighted average fair value of options granted in 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $9.11, $13.25 and $14.12, respectively.  

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the options' vesting period. The 
Company's pro forma information follows:  

 
57  

----------------------------------------   -------- --   ----------   ----------  
Year ended December 31,                          20 02         2001         2000  
----------------------------------------   -------- --   ----------   ----------  
Net income: 
      Reported                                $28,0 55      $39,392      $46,866  
      Pro forma                               $26,5 44      $38,115      $45,625  
Earnings per share: 
  Basic 
     Reported                                   $1. 84        $2.58        $3.07  
     Pro forma                                  $1. 74        $2.49        $2.99  
  Diluted 
     Reported                                   $1. 82        $2.53        $3.01  
     Pro forma                                  $1. 72        $2.45        $2.93  
----------------------------------------   -------- --   ----------   ----------  



Stock option activity is as follows:  

 

The following information is as of December 31, 2002:  
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-----------------------   ----------------------   --------------------   ---------------------  
                                                       Weighted-Average         Price Range Per  
                                Number of Shares        Exercise  Price                  Share 
-----------------------   ----------------------   --------------------   ---------------------  
January 1, 2000 
   Outstanding                         1,507,113                 $20.64           $13.00-$38.44  
   Exercisable                         1,196,708                  17.32 
   Granted                               175,750                  32.31 
   Canceled                                4,190                  30.02 
   Exercised                             110,349                  14.53 
-----------------------   ----------------------   --------------------   ---------------------  
December 31, 2000 
   Outstanding                         1,568,324                 $22.35           $13.00-$38.44  
   Exercisable                         1,219,882                  19.25 
   Granted                               230,450                  30.56 
   Canceled                                1,250                  31.94 
   Exercised                             167,741                  13.97 
-----------------------   ----------------------   --------------------   ---------------------  
December 31, 2001 
   Outstanding                         1,629,783                 $24.37           $13.00-$38.44  
   Exercisable                         1,198,163                  21.75 
   Granted                               247,950                  24.11 
   Canceled                                  200                  32.31 
   Exercised                             230,434                  14.32 
-----------------------   ----------------------   --------------------   ---------------------  
DECEMBER 31, 2002 
   OUTSTANDING                         1,646,799                 $25.73           $13.00-$38.44  
   EXERCISABLE                         1,158,489                  24.95 
-----------------------   ----------------------   --------------------   ---------------------  

                                                                                     Options with an  
                                                           Options with an            exercise price  
                                                         exercise price of              greater than  
                                                          $13.00 per share          $13.00 per share  
------------------------------------------------  - -----------------------   -----------------------  
Options outstanding                                                339,678                 1,307,121  
 
       Weighted-average exercise price                              $13.00                    $29.04  
 
       Remaining contractual life                                      .48                      6.63  
 
Options exercisable                                                339,678                   818,811  
 
       Weighted-average exercise price                              $13.00                    $29.91  
------------------------------------------------  - -----------------------   -----------------------  



11. SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS PLAN The Company has a Shareholders' Rights Plan designed to ensure that all of the Company's 
shareholders receive fair and equal treatment in the event of any proposal to acquire control of the Company. The Plan defines Existing Holder 
to mean Baron Capital Group, Inc. together with all of its Affiliates and Associates (including, without limitation, Ronald Baron, BAMCO, 
Inc., Baron Capital Management, Inc. and Baron Asset Fund). Under the Plan, the Company's Board of Directors would declare a distribution 
of one right for each outstanding common share of the Company. Each right will entitle shareholders to buy 1/100th of a share of newly created 
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $55 per right. The rights will not be exercisable until a person acquires 
beneficial ownership of 20% (or in the case of an Existing Holder, 25%) of the Company's common shares or makes a tender offer for at least 
20% (or in the case of an Existing Holder, 25%) of its common shares. Percentage increases resulting from share repurchases by the Company 
or inadvertence do not cause the rights to become exercisable. After the time that a person acquires beneficial ownership of 20% (or in the case 
of an Existing Holder, 25%) of the Company's common shares, the holders of the rights may be permitted to exercise such rights to receive the 
Company's common shares having market value of twice the exercise price. The rights are redeemable at $0.001 per right at any time before 
the tenth day after a person has acquired 20% (or in the case of an Existing Holder, 25%) or more of the outstanding common shares. The 
redemption period may be extended under certain circumstances. If at any time after the rights become exercisable and not redeemed, the 
Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction in which the Company is not the surviving party, the rights will 
entitle a holder to buy a number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company having a market value of twice the exercise price of each 
right.  

12. OPERATING LEASES Rental expense for all operating leases, primarily for warehouses, was $6,823, $5,235 and $4,705 for the years 
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Future minimum rentals under operating leases are as follows:  
2003--$4,386; 2004--$3,268; 2005--$2,149; 2006--$1,425; 2007--$1,101; and 2008 and thereafter--$3,025. In 2002, the Company recorded a 
$1.2 million expense related to the operating lease for the Company's corporate offices.  
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13. INDUSTRY SEGMENT INFORMATION The Company has one reportable segment, tableware products, from which the Company's 
revenues from external customers are derived. The Company does not have any customer who represents 10% or more of total sales. The 
Company's operations by geographic areas for 2002, 2001 and 2000 are presented below. Intercompany sales to affiliates represent products 
that are transferred between geographic areas on a basis intended to reflect as nearly as possible the market value of the products. The long-
lived assets include net fixed assets, goodwill and equity investments. During 2003, the Company will re-evaluate its reportable segment 
disclosures due to the acquisitions that took place in December 2002.  

 

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

On February 18, 2003, the Company announced that it commenced a modified Dutch Auction tender offer to purchase up to 1,500,000 shares 
of its outstanding common stock at a price determined by the Company that is not greater than $26.50 nor less than $23.50 per share.  
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                            United States            Foreign               Eliminations        Consoli dated 
-----------------------   ------------------   ---- ---------------  -------------------   ------------ -------  
2002 
Net sales: 
   Customers                        $387,662               $46,099                                  $4 33,761 
   Intercompany                           --                    --                   -- 
-----------------------   ------------------   ---- ---------------  -------------------   ------------ -------  
Total                               $387,662               $46,099                   --             $4 33,761 
-----------------------   ------------------   ---- ---------------  -------------------   ------------ -------  
Long-lived assets                   $223,644               $87,119                                  $3 10,763 
 
2001 
Net sales: 
   Customers                        $371,865               $47,729                                  $4 19,594 
   Intercompany                           --                    --                   --                   -- 
-----------------------   ------------------   ---- ---------------  -------------------   ------------ -------  
Total                               $371,865               $47,729                   --             $4 19,594 
-----------------------   ------------------   ---- ---------------  -------------------   ------------ -------  
Long-lived assets                   $172,924               $82,513                                  $2 55,437 
 
2000 
Net sales: 
   Customers                        $389,990              $ 51,838                                  $4 41,828 
   Intercompany                          740                    --                 (740)                  -- 
-----------------------   ------------------   ---- ---------------  -------------------   ------------ -------  
Total                               $390,730               $51,838                $(740)            $4 41,828 
-----------------------   ------------------   ---- ---------------  -------------------   ------------ -------  
Long-lived assets                   $155,328               $82,309                                  $2 37,637 



SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)  

The following tables present selected quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001:  
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2002 
Dollars in thousands, except                         First                Second                 Third                 Fourth  
per-share amounts                                   Quarter               Quarter               Quarte r              Quarter  
-------------------------------------   ----------- --------   -------------------   ------------------ -   ------------------  
Net sales                                           $98,669              $114,086              $103,60 7             $117,399  
 
 
Freight billed to customers                             418                   434                   34 4                  536  
 
Cost of sales                                        77,016                83,491                74,88 3               92,175  
Gross profit                                         22,071                31,029                29,06 8               25,760  
Earnings before interest and income 
  taxes                                               8,058                 9,346                14,14 2               13,390  
Net income                                            3,952                 4,900                10,78 0                8,423  
-------------------------------------   ----------- --------   -------------------   ------------------ -   ------------------  
Net income per share 
 
   Basic                                              $0.26                 $0.32                 $0.7 0                $0.57  
 
   Diluted                                            $0.25                 $0.31                 $0.6 9                $0.56  
-------------------------------------   ----------- --------   -------------------   ------------------ -   ------------------  
 
2001 
Dollars in thousands, except                          First                Second                Third                 Fourth  
per-share amounts                                   Quarter               Quarter               Quarte r              Quarter  
-------------------------------------   ----------- --------   -------------------   ------------------ -   ------------------  
Net sales                                           $92,515              $108,100              $106,89 6             $112,083  
 
Freight billed to customers                             446                   553                   48 2                  604  
 
Cost of sales                                        70,289                73,864                76,09 2               87,010  
Gross profit                                         22,672                34,789                31,28 6               25,677  
Earnings before interest and income 
  taxes                                               9,905                24,901                22,63 2               11,154  
Net income                                            4,207                14,143                14,05 7                6,985  
-------------------------------------   ----------- --------   -------------------   ------------------ -   ------------------  
Net income per share 
 
   Basic                                              $0.28                 $0.92                 $0.9 2                $0.46  
 
   Diluted                                            $0.27                 $0.91                 $0.9 0                $0.45  
-------------------------------------   ----------- --------   --------------------   ----------------- -   ------------------  



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

None.  

PART III  

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT  

Information with respect to executive officers is set forth herein immediately following Item 4 of Part l. Information with respect to non-officer 
directors is included in the Proxy Statement in the section entitled "Election of Directors" and such information is incorporated herein by this 
reference. The section in the Proxy Statement entitled "General Information - Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" is 
also incorporated herein by this reference.  

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

The sections entitled "Election of Directors," exclusive of the subsection entitled "Board Meetings and Committees of the Board," and 
"Executive Compensation," exclusive of the subsections entitled "Compensation Committee Report" and "Performance Graph," which are 
included in the Proxy Statement, are incorporated herein by this reference.  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

The section entitled "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management," which is included in the Proxy Statement, is 
incorporated herein by this reference. Information regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Item 5 of this 
report under the caption "Equity Compensation Information" on page 13.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS  

The sections entitled "Election of Directors," exclusive of the subsection entitled "Board Meetings and Committees of the Board," and 
"Executive Compensation," exclusive of the subsections entitled "Compensation Committee Report" and "Performance Graph," which are 
included in the Proxy Statement, are incorporated herein by this reference.  
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ITEM 14. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures: Based on their evaluation as of a date within 90 days of the filing date of this Report on 
Form 10-K, the company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that the company's disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act")) are effective to 
ensure that information required to be disclosed by the company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.  

(b) Changes in internal controls: There were no significant changes in the company's internal controls or in other factors that could significantly 
affect these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation. There were no significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, and therefore 
there were no corrective actions taken.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE AND  REPORTS ON FORM 8-K  

a) Index of Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule Covered by Report of Independent Auditors.  

 

All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission 
of the schedule or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements or the accompanying notes.  

The accompanying Exhibit Index is hereby incorporated herein by this reference. The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are 
filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report.  

b) A form 8-K was filed during the fourth quarter, dated October 2, 2002, with respect to the press release announcing earnings expectations 
for the third and fourth quarters of 2002.  
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A form 8-K was filed during the fourth quarter, dated December 2, 2002, with respect to the press release announcing that the Company 
through a subsidiary acquired substantially all of the assets of the Traex business of Menasha Corporation pursuant to an Asset Purchase 
Agreement between the Company and Menasha Corporation.  

A form 8-K was filed during the fourth quarter, dated December 10, 2002, with respect to the press release announcing that the Board of 
Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 2,500,000 shares of the Company's common stock in the open market and negotiated purchases.  

SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

LIBBEY INC.  
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                                       by:    /s/   Kenneth G. Wilkes 
                                             ------------------------ 
                                       Kenneth G. Wilkes 
                                       Vice President, Chief Financial 
                                       Officer and Head-International Operations 
Date:    March 27, 2003 



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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Carol B. Moerdyk                            Directo r 
 
Gary L. Moreau                              Directo r 
 
Terence P. Stewart                          Directo r 
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John F. Meier                               Chairma n of the Board of Directors,  
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                                           By:   /s/  Kenneth G. Wilkes 
                                              -------------------------------- 
                                                Kenneth G. Wilkes 
                                                Attorney-In-Fact 
 /s/  Kenneth G. Wilkes                      Date:  March 27, 2003 
-------------------------------- 
Kenneth G. Wilkes 
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
and Head-International Operations 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 
 
Date:    March 27, 2003 



CERTIFICATIONS  

I, John F. Meier, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Libbey Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this annual report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;  

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this 
annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and  

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as 
of the Evaluation Date;  

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weakness in internal controls; and  
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b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
controls; and  

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls 
or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective 
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.  
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Date    March 27, 2003                By     /s/  John F. Meier 
    -----------------------             ------------------------------ 
                                      John F. Meier, 
                                      Chief Executive Officer 



I, Kenneth G. Wilkes, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Libbey Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this annual report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;  

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this 
annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and  

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as 
of the Evaluation Date;  

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit 
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weakness in internal controls; and  

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
controls; and  
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6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls 
or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective 
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.  
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Date    March 27, 2003              By  /s/  Kenneth G. Wilkes 
    ---------------------           ------------------------- 
                                    Kenneth G. Wilkes, 
                                    Vice President, Chief Financial 
                                    Officer and Head-International 
                                    Operations 
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                                                                            Page  
                                                                            ----  
Financial Statement Schedule of Libbey Inc. for the  years ended 
     December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 for Schedule  II Valuation 
     and Qualifying Accounts (Consolidated)                                  S-1  



LIBBEY INC.  
SCHEDULE II -- VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS (C onsolidated)  

Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000  
(Dollars in thousands)  

 

(1) The amounts in "Other" represent recoveries of accounts previously charged off as uncollectible and in 2002 amounts established through 
purchase accounting for acquisition of Traex and Royal Leerdam for Losses and Discounts on Receivables.  

(2) Deductions from allowances for losses and discounts on receivables represent uncollectible notes and accounts written off.  

S-1  
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                                                      Additions 
                                                      Charged 
                                      Balance at      (Credited) to 
                                      Beginning       Costs and       Other       Deductions    Balanc e at 
                                      Of Year         Expenses        (Note 1)    (Note 2)      End of  Year 
                                      -------------    -------------   ---------   -----------   ------ ------  
Allowances for Losses and 
Discounts on Receivables: 
 
    2002                                     $5,962       $2,728           $436         $1,334         $7,792  
                                      =============    =========      =========   ============   ====== ====== 
 
    2001                                     $6,788         $279             $2         $1,107        $ 5,962 
                                      =============    =========      =========   ============   ====== ===== 
 
    2000                                     $3,869       $3,631           $293         $1,005        $ 6,788 
                                      =============    =========      =========   ============   ====== ===== 



EXHIBIT INDEX  

 
E-1  

S-K Item 
601No.                          Document 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
    2.0               --     Asset Purchase Agreeme nt dated as of September 22, 1995 by and among The Pfaltzgraff Co., The 
                             Pfaltzgraff Outlet Co. , Syracuse China Company of Canada Ltd., LG Acquisi tion Corp. and 
                             Libbey Canada Inc., Ac quisition of Syracuse China Company (filed as Exhib it 2.0 to the 
                             Registrant's Current R eport on Form 8-K dated September 22, 1995 and inco rporated herein by 
                             reference). 
 
    2.1               --     Master Investment Agre ement, dated to be effective as of August 15, 1997,  entered into by and 
                             between Libbey Inc., L ibbey Glass Inc., LGA2 Corp., LGA3 Corp., LGA4 Corp ., Vitro S.A., 
                             Vitrocrisa Holding, S. A. de C.V., Vitro Corporativo, S.A., Vitrocrisa S.A . de C.V. Crisa 
                             Corporation, and World Crisa Corporation (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Regi strant's Current 
                             Report on Form 8-K dat ed August 29, 1997 and incorporated herein by refer ence). 
 
    2.2               --     Asset Purchase Agreeme nt dated as of December 2, 2002 by and between Mena sha Corporation and Libbey 
                             Inc. (filed herein). 
 
    2.3               --     Stock Purchase Agreeme nt dated as of December 31, 2002 between BSN Glassp ack N.V. and Saxophone B.V.  
                             (filed herein). 
 
    3.1               --     Restated Certificate o f Incorporation of Libbey Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to Registrant's 
                             Quarterly Report on Fo rm 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1993 and inc orporated herein by 
                             reference). 
 
    3.2               --     Amended and Restated B y-Laws of Libbey Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Regi strant's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1993 and incorporated herein by reference). 



EXHIBIT INDEX  

 
E-2  

S-K Item 
601No.                          Document 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
    4.1               --     Restated Certificate o f Incorporation of Libbey Inc. (incorporated by ref erence herein to 
                             Exhibit 3.1). 
 
    4.2               --     Amended and Restated B y-Laws of Libbey Inc. (incorporated by reference he rein to Exhibit 3.2).  
 
    4.3               --     Rights Agreement, date d January 5, 1995, between Libbey Inc. and The Bank  of New York, which 
                             includes the form of C ertificate of Designations of the Series A Junior P articipating 
                             Preferred Stock of Lib bey Inc. as Exhibit A, the form of Right Certificat e as Exhibit B and 
                             the Summary of Rights to Purchase Preferred Shares as Exhibit C, (filed a s Exhibit 1 to 
                             Registrant's Registrat ion Statement on Form 8-A dated January 20, 1995 an d incorporated 
                             herein by reference). 
 
    4.4               --     First Amendment to Rig hts Agreement, dated February 3, 1999, between Libb ey Inc. and The Bank 
                             of New York (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 1 0-K for the year 
                             ended December 31, 199 8 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
   10.1               --     Management Services Ag reement dated as of June 24, 1993 between Owens-Ill inois General Inc. 
                             and Libbey Glass Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's Quarterly Re port on Form 10-Q 
                             for the quarter ended June 30, 1993 and incorporated herein by reference) . 
 
   10.2               --     Tax Allocation and Ind emnification Agreement dated as of May 18, 1993 by and among 
                             Owens-Illinois, Inc., Owens-Illinois Group, Inc. and Libbey Inc. (filed a s Exhibit 10.3 to 
                             Registrant's Quarterly  Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,  1993 and 
                             incorporated herein by  reference). 
 
  *10.3               --     Pension and Savings Pl an Agreement dated as of June 17, 1993 between Owen s-Illinois, Inc. and 
                             Libbey Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Fo rm 10-Q for the 
                             quarter ended June 30,  1993 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
   10.4               --     Cross-Indemnity Agreem ent dated as of June 24, 1993 between Owens-Illinoi s, Inc. and Libbey 
                             Inc. (filed as Exhibit  10.5 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q  for the quarter 
                             ended June 30, 1993 an d incorporated herein by reference). 
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E-3  

S-K Item 
601No.                          Document 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
  *10.5               --     Employment Agreements dated as of June 24, 1993 between Libbey Inc. and i ts then Executive 
                             Officers (filed as Exh ibit 10.6 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter  
                             ended June 30, 1993 an d incorporated herein by reference). 
 
  *10.6               --     Employment Agreement d ated as of August 1, 1993 between Libbey Inc. and K enneth G. Wilkes 
                             (filed as an Exhibit 1 0.6(a) to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K f or the year ended 
                             December 31, 1993 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
  *10.7               --     Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between Libbey Inc. and cert ain key employees 
                             participating in the L ibbey Inc. Stock Option Plan for Key Employees (fil ed as Exhibit 10.8 
                             to Registrant's Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 , 1993 and 
                             incorporated herein by  reference). 
 
  *10.8               --     Description of Libbey Inc. Senior Executive Life Insurance Plan (filed as  Exhibit 10.9 to 
                             Registrant's Annual Re port on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1 993 and incorporated  
                             herein by reference). 
 
  *10.9               --     Libbey Inc. Deferred C ompensation Plan for Outside Directors (filed as Ex hibit 10.11 to 
                             Registrant's Annual Re port on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1 993 and incorporated  
                             herein by reference). 
 
 *10.10               --     The Amended and Restat ed Libbey Inc. Stock Option Plan for Key Employees (filed as Exhibit 
                             10.14 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended  June 30, 1995 and 
                             incorporated herein by  reference). 
 
  10.11               --     Libbey Inc. Guarantee dated as of October 10, 1995 in favor of The Pfaltz graff Co., The 
                             Pfaltzgraff Outlet Co.  and Syracuse China Company of Canada Ltd. guarante eing certain 
                             obligations of LG Acqu isition Corp. and Libbey Canada Inc. under the Asse t Purchase Agreement  
                             for the Acquisition of  Syracuse China (Exhibit 2.0) in the event certain contingencies occur 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.1 7 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K da ted October 10, 1995  
                             and incorporated herei n by reference). 
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E-4  

S-K Item 
601No.                          Document 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
  10.12               --     Susquehanna Pfaltzgraf f Co. Guarantee dated as of October 10, 1995 in fav or of LG Acquisition  
                             Corp. and Libbey Canad a Inc. guaranteeing certain obligations of The Pfal tzgraff Co., The 
                             Pfaltzgraff Outlet Co.  and Syracuse China Company of Canada, Ltd. under t he Asset Purchase 
                             Agreement for the Acqu isition of Syracuse China (Exhibit 2.0) in the even t certain 
                             contingencies occur (f iled as Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant's Current R eport on Form 8-K 
                             dated October 10, 1995   and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
  10.13               --     Letter Agreement dated  as of October 10, 1995 by and between The Pfaltzgr aff Co., The 
                             Pfaltzgraff Outlet Co. , Syracuse China Company of Canada Ltd., LG Acquisi tion Corp. and 
                             Libbey Canada Inc. ame nding the Letter Agreement dated September 22, 1995  filed as part of 
                             the Asset Purchase Agr eement for the Acquisition of Syracuse China (Exhib it 2.0) (filed as 
                             Exhibit 10.19 to the R egistrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated Octobe r 10, 1995 and 
                             incorporated herein by  reference). 
 
 *10.14               --     Employment Agreement d ated as of April 1, 1996 between Libbey Inc. and Jo hn A. Zarb (filed as  
                             Exhibit 10.21 to Regis trant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quart er ended March 31, 
                             1996 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.15               --     The Amended and Restat ed Libbey Inc. Senior Management Incentive Plan (fi led as Exhibit 10.22  
                             to Registrant's Quarte rly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1996 and 
                             incorporated herein by  reference). 
 
 *10.16               --     First Amended and Rest ated Libbey Inc. Executive Savings Plan (filed as E xhibit 10.23 to 
                             Registrant's Annual Re port on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1 996 and incorporated  
                             herein by reference). 
 
 *10.17               --     Employment Agreement d ated as of January 1, 1997 between Libbey Inc. and Timothy T. Paige 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.2 4 to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for th e year ended 
                             December 31, 1996 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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E-5  

S-K Item 
601No.                          Document 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
  10.18               --     The Second Amended and  Restated Credit Agreement dated as of April 23, 19 97 to the First 
                             Amended and Restated C redit Agreement dated as of July 17, 1995 among Lib bey Glass Inc. and 
                             Libbey Canada Inc. as Borrowers, the lenders listed therein, The Bank of Nova Scotia, as 
                             Canadian Agent, The Fi rst National Bank of Chicago, as Syndication Agents , NationsBank, N.A., 
                             as Documentation Agent , The Bank of New York, The Bank of Nova Scotia, Ca isse National De 
                             Credit Agricole, Fleet  Bank, N.A. and Keybank National Association, as Co -Agents and Bankers 
                             Trust Company, as Admi nistrative Agent (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to Registr ant's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).  
 
  10.19               --     Amended and Restated D istribution Agreement dated to be effective as of A ugust 29, 1997, by 
                             and among Vitro S.A., Vitrocrisa, S.A. de C.V., Libbey Inc. and Libbey Gl ass Inc. whereby 
                             Libbey Glass Inc. will  distribute certain products (filed as Exhibit 10.2 6 to Registrant's 
                             Current Report on Form  8-K/A dated August 29, 1997 Amendment No. 1 and in corporated herein by 
                             reference). 
 
  10.20               --     Vitrocrisa S.A. de C.V . Shareholders Agreement dated to be effective as o f August 29,1997 by 
                             and among Libbey Inc.,  LGA3 Corp., Vitro S.A., Vitrocrisa Holding S.A. de  C.V. and Vitrocrisa 
                             S.A. de C.V. (filed as  Exhibit 10.28 to Registrant's Current Report on Fo rm 8-K /A dated 
                             August 29, 1997 Amendm ent No. 1 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 10.21                --     Vitrocrisa Holding S.A . de C.V. Shareholders Agreement dated to be effect ive as of August 
                             29,1997 by and among L ibbey Inc., LGA3 Corp., Vitro S.A. and Vitrocrisa H olding S.A. de C.V. 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.2 9 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K /A dat ed August 29, 1997 
                             Amendment No. 1 and in corporated herein by reference). 
 
  10.22               --     Amended and Restated C ovenant Not to Compete dated to be effective as of August 29, 1997 by 
                             and between Libbey Inc . and Vitro S.A. (filed as Exhibit 10.30 to Registr ant's Current Report 
                             on Form 8-K /A dated A ugust 29, 1997 Amendment No. 1 and incorporated her ein by 
                             reference). 
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E-6  

S-K Item 
601No.                          Document 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
  10.23               --     Crisa Libbey S.A. de C .V. Shareholders Agreement dated to be effective as  of August 29,1997 
                             by and among Libbey In c., LGA3 Corp., Vitro S.A. and Crisa Libbey S.A. de  C.V. (filed as 
                             Exhibit 10.31 to Regis trant's Current Report on Form 8-K /A dated August 29, 1997 Amendment 
                             No. 1 and incorporated  herein by reference). 
 
  10.24               --     Limited Liability Comp any Agreement of Crisa Industrial, L.L.C. dated to be effective as of 
                             August 29, 1997 by and  among Crisa Corporation, LGA4 Corp., Vitro S.A. an d Libbey Inc. (filed  
                             as Exhibit 10.32 to Re gistrant's Current Report on Form 8-K /A dated Augu st 29, 1997 
                             Amendment No. 1 and in corporated herein by reference). 
 
  10.25               --     Management Services Ag reement dated to be effective August 29, 1997 by an d between Libbey 
                             Inc. and Vitrocrisa S.  A. de C.V. for services to be provided by one or m ore subsidiary 
                             corporations of Libbey  Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to Registrant's Curre nt Report on Form 
                             8-K /A dated August 29 , 1997 Amendment No. 1 and incorporated herein by r eference). 
 
 *10.26               --     Employment Agreement d ated as of September 1, 1997 between Libbey Inc. an d Daniel P. Ibele 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.3 4 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K /A dat ed August 29, 1997 
                             Amendment No. 1 and in corporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.27               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Rob A. Bules 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.3 8 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.28               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Robert A. Dunton  
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.3 9 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.29               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Terry E. Hartman  
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 0 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
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E-7  

S-K Item 
601No.                          Document 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
 *10.30               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and William M. Herb 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 1 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.31               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Daniel P. Ibele 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.32               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Pete D. Kasper 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 3 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.33               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and John F. Meier 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 4 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.34               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Timothy T. Paige  
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 5 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.35               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and John P. Pranckun  
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 6 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.36               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Willie B. Purvis  
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 7 to Registrant's 
                             Quarterly Report on Fo rm 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998 and inc orporated herein by 
                             reference). 
 
 *10.37               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Richard I. 
                             Reynolds (filed as Exh ibit 10.48 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form  10-Q for the 
                             quarter ended June 30,  1998 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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S-K Item 
601No.                          Document 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
 *10.38               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Scott M. Sellick 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.4 9 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.39               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Arthur H. Smith 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.5 0 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.40               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Kenneth G. 
                             Wilkes (filed as Exhib it 10.51 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1 0-Q for the quarter 
                             ended June 30, 1998 an d incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.41               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and John A. Zarb 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.5 2 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.42               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of May 27, 1998 between Libbey Inc. and Wayne J. Zitkus 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.5 3 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             June 30, 1998 and inco rporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.43               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d J. F. Meier (filed as Exhibit 10.49 to Registrant 's Quarterly Report 
                             on Form 10-Q for the q uarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.44               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Arthur H. Smith (filed as Exhibit 10.50 to Regist rant's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
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--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
 *10.45               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Richard I. Reynolds (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to Re gistrant's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
 
 *10.46               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Kenneth G. Wilkes (filed as Exhibit 10.52 to Regi strant's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
 
 *10.47               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Timothy T. Paige (filed as Exhibit 10.53 to Regis trant's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
 
 *10.48               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d John A. Zarb (filed as Exhibit 10.54 to Registran t's Quarterly Report 
                             on Form 10-Q for the q uarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.49               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Daniel P. Ibele (filed as Exhibit 10.55 to Regist rant's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
 
 *10.50               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Willie Purvis (filed as Exhibit 10.57 to Registra nt's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
 
 *10.51               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Robert Dunton (filed as Exhibit 10.58 to Registra nt's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
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 *10.52               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d William Herb (filed as Exhibit 10.59 to Registran t's Quarterly Report 
                             on Form 10-Q for the q uarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.53               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Wayne Zitkus (filed as Exhibit 10.60 to Registran t's Quarterly Report 
                             on Form 10-Q for the q uarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.54               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d John P. Pranckun (filed as Exhibit 10.61 to Regis trant's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
 
 *10.55               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Pete Kasper (filed as Exhibit 10.63 to Registrant 's Quarterly Report 
                             on Form 10-Q for the q uarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.56               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Scott Sellick (filed as Exhibit 10.64 to Registra nt's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
 
 *10.57               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Rob Bules (filed as Exhibit 10.65 to Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
                             Form 10-Q for the quar ter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.58               --     Amendment dated May 21 , 1999 to the Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 27, 1998 
                             between Libbey Inc. an d Terry Hartman (filed as Exhibit 10.66 to Registra nt's Quarterly 
                             Report on Form 10-Q fo r the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).  
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 *10.59               --     Employment Agreement d ated as of August 1, 1999 between Libbey Inc. and K enneth A. Boerger 
                             (filed as Exhibit 10.6 7 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for  the quarter ended 
                             September 30, 1999 and  incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.60               --     Change of Control Agre ement dated as of August 1, 1999 between  Libbey In c. and Kenneth A. 
                             Boerger (filed as Exhi bit 10.68 to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter  
                             ended September 30, 19 99 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.61               --     Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between  Libbey Inc. and cer tain key employees 
                             participating in The 1 999 Equity Participation Plan of Libbey Inc. (filed  as Exhibit 10.69 to  
                             Registrant's Quarterly  Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septembe r 30, 1999 and 
                             incorporated herein by  reference). 
 
 *10.62               --     The 1999 Equity Partic ipation Plan of Libbey Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.67  to Registrant's 
                             Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 and incor porated herein by 
                             reference). 
 
 *10.63               --     The Libbey Inc. Long-T erm Incentive Compensation Plan effective as of Jan uary 1, 2001 (filed 
                             as Exhibit 10.66 to Re gistrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
                             2001 and incorporated herein by reference). 
 
 *10.64               --     Amended and Restated C redit Agreement, dated February 10, 2003, among Lib bey Glass Inc. and 
                             Libbey Europe B.V., as  the borrowers, Bank of America, N.A., as the admin istrative agent, 
                             swing line lender and letter of credit issuer, Bank One, N.A. and Fleet N ational Bank, as 
                             syndication agents and  the other lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit (b) to Registrant's 
                             Tender Offer Statement  on Schedule TO incorporated herein by reference). 
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  23                  --     Consent of Independent  Auditors (filed herewith). 
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                             herewith). 
 
  99.2                --     Certifications Pursuan t Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Uni ted States Code 
                             (filed herewith). 
 
  99.3                --     Certifications Pursuan t Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Uni ted States Code 
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT  

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of December 2, 2002, by and between MENASHA CORPORATION, a Wisconsin corporation (the "Seller") 
and LIBBEY INC., a Delaware corporation (the "Purchaser").  

RECITALS  

WHEREAS, prior to the Closing Date, Traex Company, a Wisconsin corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Seller ("Traex"), which 
operated the Acquired Business (as herein defined) and owned all of the Purchased Assets (as herein defined) was dissolved and liquidated into 
Seller, such that Seller is the owner of all of the Purchased Assets and the operator of the Acquired Business as of the Closing Date through the 
Division (the "Intercompany Transaction");  

WHEREAS, purchaser desires to purchase the Acquired Business with the intent, and for the purpose, of expanding the products manufactured, 
sold, marketed and distributed by the Acquired Business to include stemware, beverageware and dinnerware items; and  

WHEREAS, Purchaser desires to purchase, and Seller desires to sell, substantially all of the assets of the Acquired Business as a going concern 
upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual promises herein made, and in consideration of the representations, 
warranties and covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:  

1. DEFINITIONS. For purposes of this Agreement, the following definitions shall apply:  

Accounting Expenses. "Accounting Expenses" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(f) of this Agreement.  

Affiliate. "Affiliate" shall mean, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person.  

Acquired Business. "Acquired Business" shall mean the business of designing, developing, manufacturing, distributing, servicing, selling and 
marketing plastic and metal foodservice products and supplies operated (i) by Traex prior to the closing of the Intercompany Transactions and 
(ii) by the Division prior to the Closing Date.  

Acquired Business Products. "Acquired Business Products" shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.7(d) of this Agreement.  
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Acquired Business Software. "Acquired Business Software" shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.11(d) of this Agreement.  

Agreement. "Agreement" shall mean this Asset Purchase Agreement.  

Annual Financial Statements. "Annual Financial Statements" shall mean the annual balance sheets, statements of income and cash flows for the 
Acquired Business as and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 heretofore delivered to Purchaser.  

Arbitrating Accountant. "Arbitrating Accountant" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(c) of this Agreement.  

Arbitrating Appraiser. "Arbitrating Appraiser" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.3(c).  

Assignment Documents. "Assignment Documents" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(a) of this Agreement.  

Assignment and Assumption Agreement. "Assignment and Assumption Agreement" shall mean the assignment and assumption agreement in 
the form of Exhibit A attached hereto.  

Assumed Liabilities. "Assumed Liabilities" shall mean the liabilities of Seller assumed by Purchaser pursuant to Section 3.1 of this Agreement. 

Benefit Plans. "Benefit Plans" shall mean any pension plan, profit sharing plan, bonus plan, incentive compensation plan, stock ownership plan, 
stock purchase plan, stock option plan, stock appreciation plan, phantom stock, employee benefit plan, employee benefit policy, retirement 
plan, fringe benefit program, employee insurance plan, severance plan, disability plan, health care plan, sick leave plan, death benefit plan or 
any other plan or program to provide retirement income, fringe benefits or other benefits to former or current employees of the Seller who work 
or worked for the Division or Traex.  

Books and Records. "Books and Records" shall mean books, records, documents, lists, manuals, plans, files, data and other materials (in any 
form or medium) relating primarily to the Acquired Business, including, without limitation, the following to the extent primarily related to the 
Acquired Business, all records and materials maintained at the headquarters of Seller or Traex , advertising matter, drawings, catalogues, price 
lists, correspondence, mailing lists, lists of customers, distribution lists, price lists, photographs, production data, sales and promotional 
materials and records, purchasing materials and records, customer and supplier lists, personnel records, manufacturing and quality control 
records and procedures, blueprints, research and development files and media materials and plates, accounting records, sales order files, copies 
of property Tax Returns related to the Purchased Assets filed after December 31, 1999 and copies of Tax Returns filed by Traex.  

Business Employees. "Business Employees" shall mean active employees of the Seller who perform services for the Acquired Business.  
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Claim. "Claim" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4(a) of this Agreement.  

Claim Notice. "Claim Notice" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4(a) of this Agreement.  

Closing. "Closing" shall mean the conference to be held on the Closing Date at the offices of Quarles & Brady LLP, 411 East Wisconsin 
Avenue, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, at which the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be consummated, provided the Closing shall 
be deemed to be effective at 9:00 p.m. on December 1, 2002.  

Closing Balance Sheet. "Closing Balance Sheet" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(a)(i) of this Agreement.  

Closing Date. "Closing Date" shall mean the date specified in  
Section 6.1 of this Agreement.  

Closing Working Capital. "Closing Working Capital" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a)(ii) of this Agreement.  

Code. "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations issued thereunder.  

Competing Business. "Competing Business" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.7(d) of this Agreement.  

Consent. "Consent" shall mean any consent, approval, authorization, waiver, permit, grant, franchise, concession, agreement, license, 
exemption or order of, registration, certificate, declaration or filing with, or report or notice to, any Person, including but not limited to any 
Governmental Authority.  

Contract. "Contract" shall mean all sales contracts and the other contracts, franchise agreements, covenants not to compete, purchase and sales 
orders, licenses, leases and other agreements and contracts.  

Damages. "Damages" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4(g) of this Agreement.  

Division. "Division" shall mean the Traex Division of the Seller which operates the Acquired Business.  

Direct Claim. "Direct Claim" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4(a) of this Agreement.  

Disclosure Schedule. "Disclosure Schedule" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement.  
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Encumbrances. "Encumbrances" shall mean any security interest, pledge, mortgage, lien, charge, easement, restrictive covenant, development 
agreement, zoning by-law or restriction, right-of-way (from or onto the real property and/or improvements thereon), building set-back 
requirements, encroachment, building or use restriction, other encumbrance or title defect of any kind, option to purchase, right of first refusal, 
right of first offer, adverse claim, or other right of occupation.  

Environmental Claims. "Environmental Claims" shall mean all accusations, allegations, notices of violation, liens, claims, demands, suits, or 
causes of action for any damage, including, without limitation, personal injury or property damage, arising out of or related to Environmental 
Liabilities or Materials of Environmental Concern or pursuant to applicable Environmental Laws.  

Environmental Liabilities "Environmental Liabilities" shall mean any losses, damages, costs, expenses, liabilities, obligations and claims of any 
kind arising out of, based on, resulting from or relating to: (a) acts, omissions occurrences and circumstances forming the basis for any 
violation or alleged violation of Environmental Laws related to the Facility or the Acquired Business; (b) the presence, release, spill, emission, 
leaking, injection, deposit, disposal, dispersal, leaching or migration into the ambient air, surface water, ground water, land surface or 
subsurface strata of any Materials of Environmental Concern related to the Facility or the Acquired Business, including the off-site disposal of 
any Materials of Environmental Concern by the Acquired Business, Traex or Seller to the extent it relates to the Acquired Business; or (c) the 
presence of any Materials of Environmental Concern at the Facility which pose a threat to human health or the environment, related to the 
Facility or the Acquired Business.  

Environmental Laws. "Environmental Laws" shall mean all Laws relating to pollution or protection of human health or the environment 
(including, without limitation, ambient air, surface water, ground water, land surface or subsurface strata), including, without limitation, Laws 
relating to emissions, discharges, releases or threatened releases of Materials of Environmental Concern, or to the generation, manufacture, 
processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of Materials of Environmental Concern.  

ERISA. "ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the regulations issued thereunder.  

Excluded Seller Liabilities. "Excluded Seller Liabilities" shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.2 of this Agreement.  

Existing Plans. "Existing Plans" shall mean the Benefit Plans listed and described on Schedule 1.1 attached hereto which provide benefits to 
current Business Employees.  

Existing Resin Contacts. "Existing Resin Contracts" shall mean  
(i) the Product Sales Agreement between Huntsman Polymers Corporation, Poly Hi Solidur, Inc., Orbis Corporation and Traex , a Menasha 
division, dated January 1, 1999 and amended December 29, 2000 and February 14, 2002 and (ii) the Contract for Sale of Polymers between 
Orbis Corporation and its subsidiaries, Poly Hi Solidur, Inc, Traex, a division of Menasha Corporation and Equistar Chemicals, LP, Polymers 
division dated March 4, 2002.  
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Facility. "Facility" shall mean the real estate described on Schedule 1.3 attached hereto, together with all buildings, structures, improvements, 
building systems, equipment and fixtures thereon and all of Seller's rights pertaining thereto.  

Financial Statements. "Financial Statements" shall mean the Annual Financial Statements and Interim Financial Statements, collectively.  

GAAP. "GAAP" shall mean United States generally accepted accounting principles and practices as in effect from time to time.  

Governmental Authority. "Governmental Authority" shall mean any federal, state, or local or any foreign government, governmental, 
regulatory or administrative authority, agency or commission or any court, tribunal or judicial body.  

Indemnified Party. "Indemnified Party" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4 of this Agreement.  

Indemnifying Party. "Indemnifying Party" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4 of this Agreement.  

Intellectual Property. "Intellectual Property" shall mean all patents, registered and unregistered copyrights, registered and unregistered 
trademarks and service marks, trade names, all applications or registrations for any of the foregoing, and trade names, brandmarks, brand 
names, trade dress, logos, Internet domain names, trade secrets, confidential materials, know-how, show-how, data, data paths or databases, 
software applications (including, but not limited to, source code), HTML pages, file structures, artwork, drawings, illustrations, photographs, 
videos, slogans and related information and documentation and any similar type of proprietary intellectual property or technology right.  

Intercompany Transaction. "Intercompany Transaction" shall have the meaning specified in the Recitals of this Agreement.  

Intercompany Transaction Documents. "Intercompany Transaction Documents" shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.17(b) of this 
Agreement.  

Interim Financial Statements. "Interim Financial Statements" shall mean the unaudited, interim monthly financial statements (balance sheets, 
statements of income and cash flows) of the Division as and for the nine-month period beginning January 1, 2002 through September 30, 2002 
heretofore delivered to Purchaser.  

Knowledge of Seller. "Knowledge of Seller" and terms of similar import shall mean the actual knowledge of Rick Diermeier, Steve Boeder, Pat 
Lauscher, Larry Larson, David Prieto, Thomas Bender and Kevin Head.  

Law. "Law" shall mean any federal, state, local or other governmental law, rule, code, ordinance or regulation of any kind, and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder.  
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Licensed Software. "Licensed Software" shall mean all computer software that is used, or held for use, by Seller or Traex in the operation of 
the Acquired Business, excluding any software constituting part of the Seller Retained Assets or software which is the subject of the Transition 
Services Agreement.  

Material Adverse Change. "Material Adverse Change" shall mean any change, event or occurrence which has, or to Knowledge of Seller could 
reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect upon the assets, liabilities, business, operations, results of operation, or financial 
condition of the Acquired Business.  

Material Contracts. "Material Contracts" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.10(a) of this Agreement.  

Materials of Environmental Concern. "Materials of Environmental Concern" shall mean any substance or material that is on the Closing Date 
prohibited, regulated or defined as hazardous by any governmental authority under any Environmental Law including, without limitation, 
chemicals, pollutants, contaminants, wastes, toxic substances, hazardous substances, petroleum, petroleum derivatives or other hydrocarbons, 
petroleum products, asbestos, PCBs, VOCs, SVOCs or dangerous substances, all as defined in or pursuant to any Environmental Law.  

Negative Closing Date Adjustment Amount. "Negative Closing Date Adjustment Amount" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(i) of 
this Agreement.  

New 401(k) Plan. "New 401(k) Plan" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.4(e) of this Agreement.  

New Resin Contracts. "New Resin Contracts" shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.3(e) of this Agreement.  

Non-Compete Period. "Non-Compete Period" shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.7(a) of this Agreement.  

Owned Software. "Owned Software" shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.11(d) of this Agreement.  

Packaging. "Packaging" shall have the meaning specified in  
Section 7.5 of this Agreement.  

Participate; Participating. "Participate," "Participating" shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.7(d) of this Agreement.  

Pension Plan. "Pension Plan" shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.14(c) of this Agreement.  

Permitted Encumbrances. "Permitted Encumbrances" shall mean the encumbrances against the Facility listed on Schedule 1.2 attached hereto.  
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Person. "Person" shall mean a natural person, corporation, trust, partnership, limited liability company, governmental entity, agency or branch 
or department thereof, or any other legal entity.  

Positive Closing Date Adjustment Amount. "Positive Closing Date Adjustment Amount" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(i) of 
this Agreement.  

Property Taxes. "Property Taxes" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(d).  

Prorated Property Taxes. "Prorated Property Taxes" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(d).  

Purchase Price. "Purchase Price" shall mean the total price paid by Purchaser for the Purchased Assets as set forth in Section 2.3(a).  

Purchase Price Allocation. "Purchase Price Allocation" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(c) of this Agreement.  

Purchased Assets. "Purchased Assets" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1 of this Agreement.  

Purchaser. "Purchaser" shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph.  

Purchaser Indemnified Parties. "Purchaser Indemnified Parties" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.3 of this Agreement.  

Real Property Laws. "Real Property Laws" shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.15(c) of this Agreement.  

Rebate Obligations. "Rebate Obligations" shall the meaning set forth in Section 4.23 of this Agreement.  

Reference Balance Sheet. "Reference Balance Sheet" shall mean the balance sheet for the Division dated June 30, 2002 and attached hereto as 
Schedule 1.4.  

Reimbursement. "Reimbursement" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4(d) of this Agreement.  

Required Consents. "Required Consents" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a)(iii) of this Agreement.  

Required Software Agreements. "Required Software Agreements" shall mean (i) Microsoft Select Agreement (No. 01S53822) between MSLI, 
GP, a wholly-owned Microsoft company, and Menasha Corporation dated September 25, 2001, (ii) Microsoft Business Agreement No. 
U3162870 between MSLI, GP, a wholly-owned Microsoft company, and Menasha Corporation dated May 17, 2000, and related Microsoft 
Volume License, (iii)  

7  



Microsoft Select Agreement No. 01S50170 between Menasha Corporation and MSLI, GP, a wholly owned Microsoft Company, dated June 19, 
2000 and related Microsoft Volume Licenses, (iv) Microsoft Agreement No. 12178175, related Purchase Order No. 8070295 and Open License 
Confirmation with Menasha Corporation, (v) Annual Maintenance Agreement between Kronos Inc. and Traex/Menasha Corporation dated 
March 3, 2000, (vi) Microsoft Purchase Order 161961 and related Business Agreement with Menasha Corporation, (vii) Microsoft Purchase 
Order No. 171001 and related Business Agreement with Menasha Corporation; and (viii) Dell DMLP Service Contract and related Master 
Agreement with Menasha Corporation effective May 25, 2001.  

Seller. "Seller" shall have the meaning set forth in the introduction paragraph.  

Seller IP. "Seller IP" shall have the meaning set forth in  
Section 7.5 of this Agreement.  

Seller Indemnified Parties. "Seller Indemnified Parties" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.2 of this Agreement.  

Seller Retained Assets. "Seller Retained Assets" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.2 of this Agreement.  

Seller's 401(k) Plan. "Seller's 401(k) Plan" shall have the meaning specified in Section 9.4(e) of this Agreement.  

Subject Contracts. "Subject Contracts" mean (i) all Contracts to which Traex is a party, (ii) all Contracts to which Seller, Traex or any of their 
Affiliates is a party that relate substantially to the Acquired Business and (iii) all Contracts by which any of the Purchased Assets are bound 
(excluding any contracts or agreements which are Seller Retained Assets), including, without limitation, all Contracts set forth on Schedule 1.5 
hereof.  

Statement of Objection. "Statement of Objection" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(c) of this Agreement.  

Tax Benefit. "Tax Benefit" shall have the meaning specified in  
Section 10.4(d) of this Agreement.  

Taxes. "Taxes" shall mean all taxes of any kind, levies or other like assessments, customs, duties, imposts or charges, including without 
limitation, income, gross receipts, ad valorem, value-added, excise, real or personal property, asset, sales, use, license, payroll, transaction, 
capital, net worth, franchise (if not based on income), estimated taxes, withholding, employment, social security, workers' compensation, 
utility, severance, production, unemployment compensation, occupation, premium, windfall profits, transfer and gains taxes or other 
governmental taxes imposed or payable to the United States, or any state, county, local or foreign government or subdivision or agency thereof, 
and in each instance such term shall include any interest, penalties or additions to tax attributable to any such Tax, and such term shall include 
any Tax liability that arises by reason of Seller or Traex being liable for any Tax of any other Person pursuant to Treasury Regulation 
ss.1.1502-6 or any analogous state or local Tax provision, or as a successor, transferee, by contract or otherwise.  
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Tax Returns. "Tax Returns" shall mean all returns, declarations, reports, claims for refund and information returns and statements of any Person 
required to be filed or sent by or with respect to, or in respect of, any Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto and any amendment 
thereof.  

Third Party Claim. "Third Party Claim" shall have the meaning specified in Section 10.4(a) of this Agreement.  

Total Purchase Price. "Total Purchase Price" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.3(a) of this Agreement.  

Traex. "Traex" shall mean Traex Company, a Wisconsin corporation, which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Seller until being dissolved 
pursuant to the Intercompany Transaction prior to the execution of this Agreement.  

Transfer Taxes. "Transfer Taxes" shall have the meaning specified in Section 7.1 of this Agreement.  

Transition Agreement. "Transition Agreement" shall mean the Transition Services Agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit B attached 
hereto.  

2001 Seller Restructuring. "2001 Seller Restructuring" shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.2(a)(iii) of this Agreement.  

Welfare Plan. "Welfare Plan" shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.14(e) of this Agreement.  

Working Capital. "Working Capital" shall have the meaning set forth in Schedule 2.4(b).  

Working Capital Methodologies. "Working Capital Methodologies" shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.4(b) of this Agreement.  

2. PURCHASE AND ASSIGNMENT OF ASSETS OF SELLER.  

2.1 Assets Purchased. Subject to and upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and except as provided in Section 2.2 hereof, 
Seller hereby sells, transfers, assigns, conveys and delivers to Purchaser free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than the Permitted 
Encumbrances, and Purchaser accepts and acquires from Seller, all right, title and interest of the Seller and its Affiliates in the following 
properties, assets, and rights of every nature, kind and description, tangible and intangible (including goodwill), whether real, personal or 
mixed, whether accrued, contingent or otherwise (collectively, the "Purchased Assets"):  

(a) all tangible personal property located at the Facility or primarily related to or primarily used or held for use in connection with the Acquired 
Business including, but not limited to, (i) fixed assets, machinery, equipment, machine tools, tools, tooling, parts, dies, molds, furniture, 
fixtures, furnishings, office equipment, computers, leasehold improvements and vehicles and similar property (including, but not limited to, any 
of the  
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foregoing purchased subject to any conditional sales or title retention agreement in favor of any other Person), and (ii) all inventories of raw 
materials, stores, work in process, and finished goods, component parts, parts and supplies;  

(b) all rights in and to products sold or leased by the Acquired Business (including, but not limited to, products hereafter returned or 
repossessed and unpaid sellers' rights of rescission, replevin, reclamation and rights to stoppage in transition);  

(c) all rights under the Subject Contracts, including, without limitation, any right to receive payment for products sold or services rendered 
(including all rebate payments to the extent such rebate is received by Seller or the Acquired Business in connection with raw material 
inventory being purchased by Purchaser from Seller hereunder), and to receive goods and services, pursuant to such Subject Contracts and to 
assert claims and take other rightful actions with respect of breaches, defaults and other violations of such Subject Contracts;  

(d) all credits, prepaid expenses, deferred charges, advance payments security deposits and prepaid items relating to, or held for use primarily 
for, the Acquired Business;  

(e) all accounts receivable and other rights to receive payments from other Persons relating to the Acquired Business;  

(f) the Facility and all licenses, permits, approvals and qualifications relating to the Facility;  

(g) the "Traex" name;  

(h) all Intellectual Property, and all rights thereunder or in respect thereof owned by Traex, and all Intellectual Property, and all rights 
thereunder or in respect thereof, primarily related to or primarily used or held for use in connection with the Acquired Business, including, but 
not limited to, rights to sue for and remedies against past, present and future infringements thereof, and rights of priority and protection of 
interests therein under any Law and all tangible embodiments thereof, including, without limitation, the Intellectual Property set forth on 
Schedule 2.1(h) hereof;  

(i) all warranties, indemnities and similar rights with respect to any of the Purchased Assets;  

(j) all permits; rights to royalty payments; telephone, telex and telephone facsimile numbers and other directory listings; and any claims, action, 
lawsuit, judgment or causes of action against third parties relating to the Purchased Assets or the Acquired Business;  

(k) all Books and Records;  
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(l) "Canned" or "shrinkwrap" software loaded onto any personal property included in the Purchased Assets which can be transferred to 
Purchaser under the applicable license; and  

(m) all other properties, assets, and rights of every nature, kind and description, tangible and intangible (including goodwill), whether real, 
personal or mixed, whether accrued, contingent or otherwise primarily related to or primarily used or held for use in connection with the 
Acquired Business.  

2.2 Seller Retained Assets. Seller shall retain and not sell and deliver to Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.1, and Purchaser shall not purchase 
from Seller, the following assets of Seller, even though such assets may be used primarily in the operation of the Acquired Business 
(collectively, the "Seller Retained Assets"):  

(a) Cash and cash accounts as of the Closing Date;  

(b) Seller's franchise to be a corporation, corporate minute books, corporate seal and stock transfer books;  

(c) Seller's cancelled checks, bank statements, tax returns and accounting records (except for accounting records related primarily to the 
Acquired Business);  

(d) Any capital stock or equity interest in any other corporation or legal entity;  

(e) All deferred finance and acquisition costs;  

(f) Rights under the contracts, leases, licenses and other agreements listed on Schedule 2.2(f) attached hereto and all intercompany contracts 
between the Acquired Business or Traex and Seller and/or its Affiliates (other than purchase orders in the ordinary course of business and any 
Subject Contract listed on Schedule 1.5 hereof);  

(g) All insurance policies and rights to refunds thereunder;  

(h) All related party accounts and notes receivable set forth on Schedule 2.2(h);  

(i) Any rights to refunds with respect to Taxes and any Tax credits that relate to Taxes which are Excluded Seller Liabilities;  

(j) Any assets of Traex Europe B.V. or Traex Asia-Pacific SDN, BHD; and  

(k) The assets listed on Schedule 2.2(k) attached hereto.  
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2.3 Purchase Price.  

(a) Amount. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Purchaser agrees to pay or cause to be paid to Seller an 
aggregate of USD $16,750,000 as adjusted pursuant to Section 2.4 and  
Section 2.3(d) (the "Purchase Price") and to assume the Assumed Liabilities as provided in Section 3.1 (the sum of the Purchase Price and the 
amount of the Assumed Liabilities constituting the "Total Purchase Price").  

(b) Payment. Subject to the closing adjustments provided for in  
Section 2.3(d) and the post-closing adjustment provided for in Section 2.4 below, if any, the Purchase Price shall be payable as follows:  

(i) At Closing, Purchaser shall assume the Assumed Liabilities as provided in Section 3.1 below by executing the Assignment and Assumption 
Agreement; and  

(ii) At Closing, Purchaser shall pay the amount set forth in  
Section 2.3(a) above by wire transfer of immediately available funds to a "qualified intermediary" (as defined in the Code) designated by 
Seller.  

(c) Allocation. Within 45 days after the Closing Date, Purchaser shall prepare an allocation of the Total Purchase Price (as required pursuant to 
Section 1060 of the Code) among the Purchased Assets and the Covenant Not Compete set forth in Section 7.7 of this Agreement (the 
"Purchase Price Allocation"). Purchaser and Seller (and their Affiliates) shall then cooperate in good faith to revise and finalize the Purchase 
Price Allocation. If Purchaser and Seller (and their Affiliates) are unable to agree on the Purchase Price Allocation within ninety (90) days after 
the Closing Date, Purchaser and Seller will select an appraisal firm (the "Arbitrating Appraiser") mutually acceptable to them to resolve any 
remaining disagreements regarding the Purchase Price Allocation. If Purchaser and Seller are unable to agree on the choice of the Arbitrating 
Appraiser, they will select a nationally recognized appraisal firm by lot (after excluding any such firm engaged by Purchaser, Seller or their 
Affiliates) to be the Arbitrating Appraiser. The cost of any such Arbitrating Appraiser shall be borne equally by Purchaser and Seller. The 
Purchaser and Seller shall be bound by the Purchase Price Allocation determined by the Arbitrating Appraiser. Purchaser and Seller (and their 
Affiliates) shall file all Tax Returns consistently with the Purchase Price Allocation and shall not voluntarily take any action inconsistent 
therewith upon examination of any Tax Return, in any refund claim, in any litigation, or otherwise with respect to such Tax Returns, unless 
required to pursuant to a determination (as defined in  
Section 1313(a) of the Code or any similar foreign, state or local Tax provision).  

(d) Property Taxes. General real estate, personal property and any other property taxes related to the Purchased Assets (the "Property Taxes") 
shall be prorated as of the start of the Closing Date. In the event tax bills for the Property Tax year in which the Closing occurs are not 
available at Closing, such proration shall be based upon the tax bills for the Property Tax year immediately preceding the Property Tax year in 
which the Closing occurs, and Seller's proportionate share thereof shall be subtracted from the payment specified in Section 2.3(b)(ii) above 
(the credit for such proportionate share being the "Prorated Property Taxes").  
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(e) Like-Kind Exchange. Seller desires to structure the transaction so as to qualify as a tax-deferred exchange pursuant to Section 1031 of the 
Code. Purchaser shall reasonably assist and cooperate in such exchange, at no additional cost or expense to Purchaser, and shall execute such 
documents as are reasonably necessary in connection with such exchange (subject to reasonable approval of Purchaser's counsel). Seller may 
assign its rights hereunder to a "qualified intermediary" as defined in the Code. As part of such exchange, Purchaser shall not be required to 
acquire or convey any property or assets other than the consideration being paid herein.  

2.4 Post-Closing Adjustment.  

(a) As of and promptly after the Closing Date, Purchaser shall:  

(i) prepare or cause to be prepared and delivered to Seller an unaudited closing balance sheet for the Acquired Business setting forth the net 
book value of the Purchased Assets and book amount of the Assumed Liabilities as of the Closing Date (such balance sheet is referred to herein 
as the "Closing Balance Sheet"); and  

(ii) from the Closing Balance Sheet, determine the amount of the Working Capital as of the Closing Date (the "Closing Working Capital").  

(b) The Closing Balance Sheet shall be made and prepared in accordance with GAAP and consistent with the accounting principles and 
practices applied in preparation of the Reference Balance Sheet and the calculation of the Closing Working Capital will be determined in 
accordance with the methodologies set forth on Schedule 2.4(b) hereof (the "Working Capital Methodologies"). The Closing Balance Sheet and 
the determination of the Closing Working Capital shall be completed by Purchaser and delivered to Seller within 60 days after the Closing 
Date.  

(c) In the event Seller does not agree as to the Closing Balance Sheet or to the amount of the Closing Working Capital determined by 
Purchaser, then Seller shall deliver to Purchaser a written statement describing with reasonable detail the basis for any such claim within 30 
days after receiving the Closing Balance Sheet (the "Statement of Objection"). Purchaser and Seller will use reasonable efforts to resolve any 
such claims themselves. If they do not obtain a final resolution within 120 days after the Closing Date, however, Purchaser and Seller will 
select an accounting firm from among the "Final Four" accounting firms mutually acceptable to them to resolve any remaining such claims. If 
Purchaser and Seller are unable to agree on the choice of an accounting firm, they will select a nationally recognized accounting firm by lot 
(after excluding any such firm engaged by Purchaser, Seller or their Affiliates) (the "Arbitrating Accountant").  

(d) Within ten (10) calendar days after the engagement of the Arbitrating Accountant, Seller and Purchaser shall provide the Arbitrating 
Accountant with copies of (i) this Agreement, (ii) Closing Balance Sheet prepared by Purchaser, (iii) the Purchaser's calculation of Closing 
Working Capital, (iv) the Statement of Objections, (v) a list of items remaining in dispute, and (vi) a written submission from each of Seller 
and Purchaser setting forth their respective positions with respect to each item remaining in dispute.  
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(e) The Arbitrating Accountant's engagement will be limited to  
(i) reviewing the items placed in dispute pursuant to Section 2.4(d) above, (ii) reviewing the written submissions provided by Seller and 
Purchaser pursuant to  
Section 2.4(d) above, (iii) determining the appropriate and correct amounts for any item in dispute in the Closing Working Capital in 
accordance with Section 2.4(a) and (b) hereof; provided, that in resolving a disputed item, the Arbitrating Accountant may not assign a value of 
any particular item greater than the greatest value of such item claimed by either party or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by 
either party, in each case as presented to the Arbitrating Accountant and (iv) determining the correct Closing Working Capital amount. The 
Arbitrating Accountant shall make a written determination on each disputed matter no later than 180 days after the Closing Date and such 
determination will be conclusive and binding upon Purchaser and the Seller with respect to that disputed matter. The proposed Closing Balance 
Sheet and the Closing Working Capital will be revised as appropriate to reflect the resolution of any such claims pursuant to this Section 2.4.  

(f) The fees, charges and expenses of the Arbitrating Accountant (collectively, the "Accounting Expenses") shall be borne by the parties hereto 
in the following manner: (A) if the difference between the Closing Working Capital determined by Purchaser and the Closing Working Capital 
determined by the Arbitrating Accountant is greater than the difference between the Closing Working Capital set forth in the Statement of 
Objections by Seller and the Closing Working Capital determined by the Arbitrating Accountant, the Purchaser will pay all of the Accounting 
Expenses; (B) if the difference between Closing Working Capital determined by Purchaser and the Closing Working Capital determined by the 
Arbitrating Accountant is less than the difference between the Closing Working Capital set forth in the Statement of Objections by Seller and 
the Closing Working Capital determined by the Arbitrating Accountant, then Seller will pay all of the Accounting Expenses and (C) if the 
difference between Closing Working Capital determined by Purchaser and the Closing Working Capital determined by the Arbitrating 
Accountant is equal to the difference between the Closing Working Capital set forth in the Statement of Objections by Seller and the Closing 
Working Capital determined by the Arbitrating Accountant, then Seller and Purchaser shall each pay one-half of the Accounting Expenses.  

(g) Purchaser will make the work papers and back-up materials necessary for the preparation of the Closing Balance Sheet, and any books, 
records and financial staff of the Acquired Business, available to Seller and its accountants and other representatives and to the Arbitrating 
Accountant resolving any claim concerning the Closing Balance Sheet at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice at any time during (i) the 
preparation of the Closing Balance Sheet, (ii) the review by Seller of the Closing Balance Sheet, and (iii) the resolution by Purchaser and Seller 
and/or the Arbitrating Accountant of any objections thereto.  

(h) Seller will make the work papers and back-up materials necessary for the preparation of the Closing Balance Sheet available to Purchaser 
and its accountants and other representatives and to the Arbitrating Accountant resolving any claim concerning the Closing Balance Sheet at 
reasonable times and upon reasonable notice at any time during (i) the preparation of the Closing Balance Sheet and (ii) the resolution by 
Purchaser and Seller and/or the Arbitrating Accountant of any objections thereto.  
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(i) The Purchase Price will be adjusted if the Closing Working Capital as finally determined under this Section 2.4 is greater than $3,250,617 or 
less than $2,659,595. If the Closing Working Capital is greater than $3,250,617, then the Purchase Price will be increased accordingly on a 
dollar-for-dollar basis of the amount of such excess (the "Positive Closing Date Adjustment Amount"). In such event, the Positive Closing Date 
Adjustment Amount will be paid by Purchaser to Seller together with interest for the period from the Closing Date to the date of payment at the 
rate of 2% per annum, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Seller in writing, no later than three 
business days after the completion of the Closing Balance Sheet and the resolution of any disputes related thereto pursuant to  
Section 2.4 of this Agreement. If the Closing Working Capital is less than $2,659,595, then the Purchase Price will be decreased on a dollar-
for-dollar basis of the amount of such deficiency (the "Negative Closing Date Adjustment Amount"). In such event, Seller will pay the 
Negative Closing Date Adjustment Amount to Purchaser together with interest for the period from the Closing Date to the date of payment at 
the rate of 2% per annum, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Purchaser in writing, no later than three 
business days after the completion of the Closing Balance Sheet and the resolution of any disputes related thereto pursuant to Section 2.4 of 
this Agreement.  

3. ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES.  

3.1 Assumed Liabilities. At Closing, as evidenced by the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, Purchaser hereby assumes and is 
responsible for, solely and exclusively:  

(a) All accounts payable and accrued expenses of Seller related primarily to the Acquired Business that have been incurred in the ordinary 
course of business and are included in the determination of the Closing Working Capital pursuant to Section 2.4 above;  

(b) All (i) Contracts assigned pursuant to Section 2.1(c) (except for liabilities, obligations or commitments resulting from (x) a breach, violation 
(or acts, events or circumstances with which notice or passage of time would constitute a breach or violation) of any such Contract on or prior 
to the Closing Date by the Seller or Traex or any of their Affiliates, (y) to the extent not accrued on the Closing Balance Sheet, nonpayment of 
any accrued expenses, fees or amounts due under such Contracts by Seller, Traex or their Affiliates, which amounts accrued or were otherwise 
due prior to the Closing and  
(z) any stay bonuses or similar payments owed to any of the Business Employees);  

(c) All Prorated Property Taxes specified in Sections 2.3(d) above, provided Purchaser receives equivalent credits against the Purchase Price 
under such Section;  

(d) All product warranty claims of the Acquired Business relating exclusively to products sold after Closing;  

(e) Tuition reimbursement costs for the accounting course being taken by Amanda Kroes, an employee of the Acquired Business; and  
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(f) All liabilities, commitments and obligations set forth on the Closing Balance Sheet (collectively, the "Assumed Liabilities").  

3.2 Excluded Seller Liabilities. Regardless of any disclosure of Seller, Purchaser does not and shall not assume, incur or otherwise become 
responsible for any liabilities, obligations and commitments of Seller or its Affiliates, the Division, Traex or the Acquired Business, other than 
the Assumed Liabilities, whether actual or contingent, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, or known or unknown, including, 
without limitation, all liabilities, obligations and commitments (i) for Taxes of Seller or Traex, including, without limitation, any Taxes arising 
from the transactions described in this Agreement, but excluding the Prorated Property Taxes provided for in  
Section 2.3(d), (ii) related to product liability claims involving or relating to products sold by Seller, Traex or its Affiliates (including any of 
their predecessors) or the Acquired Business prior to Closing, (iii) for any of Seller's, Traex's or the Acquired Business's indebtedness for 
borrowed money, including, without limitation, any inter-company indebtedness; (iv) associated with or relating to any Seller Retained Asset, 
and (v) for any and all Environmental Liabilities to the extent that such Environmental Liabilities occur, arise or originate from acts or 
omissions on or prior to the Closing, regardless of whether such Environmental Liabilities are discovered before or after Closing (collectively, 
the "Excluded Seller Liabilities").  

4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO SELLER AND THE PURCHASED ASSETS. Seller represents and 
warrants to Purchaser that the statements contained in this Section 4 are true and correct, except as set forth in the disclosure schedule provided 
by the Seller to Purchaser on the date hereof (the "Disclosure Schedule"):  

4.1 Corporate Matters Regarding Seller.  

(a) Organization; Power. Seller is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the Laws of the State of Wisconsin. Seller is duly 
qualified or licensed, as the case may be, and in good standing as a foreign corporation where the nature of the activities of the Division or the 
character of the Purchased Assets require such qualification or licensing, except where the failure to be so qualified or licensed would not result 
in a Material Adverse Change. The jurisdictions in which Seller is so qualified or registered are set forth in Section 4.1(a) of the Disclosure 
Schedule. Seller has, and Traex had, all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate the Purchased Assets and to carry on 
the Acquired Business as it is now being conducted.  

(b) Authorization; Validity. Seller has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other documents and 
instruments to be executed and delivered by Seller pursuant hereto and to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution and 
delivery by Seller of this Agreement and the other documents and instruments to be executed by Seller pursuant hereto and the consummation 
by Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action by Seller. No further 
corporate act or proceeding on the part of Seller is necessary to authorize this Agreement or the other documents and instruments to be 
executed and delivered by Seller pursuant hereto or the consummation of the transactions contemplated  
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hereby and thereby. This Agreement and the related agreements, documents and instruments referred to herein to which Seller is a party have 
been duly executed and delivered by Seller and constitute the valid and legally binding obligations of Seller, enforceable against it in 
accordance with their respective terms.  

(c) Compliance; Binding Effect. Except as set forth in Section 4.1(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, the execution and delivery by Seller of this 
Agreement and the related agreements, documents and instruments referred to herein to which Seller or any of its Affiliates is a party, the sale 
and transfer of the Purchased Assets and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not conflict with, contravene, result in a 
violation or breach of or default under (with or without the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both), give rise to a right or claim of 
termination, amendment, modification, vesting, acceleration or cancellation of any right or obligation or loss of any material benefit under, or 
result in the creation of any Encumbrance upon any of the Purchased Assets (other than Permitted Encumbrances) under (i) any Law, order, 
writ, injunction, judgment, arbitration award or decree or other restriction of any kind or character to which either Seller, the Acquired Business 
or the Purchased Assets are subject or bound, (ii) the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of Seller or (iii) any Material Contract.  

4.2 Governmental Consents. No Consent of any Governmental Authority is required for the execution, delivery or performance of this 
Agreement by Seller or the consummation by Seller of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except those set forth in Section 4.2 of 
the Disclosure Schedule.  

4.3 Financial. Seller previously has furnished to Purchaser true and correct copies of the Financial Statements, all of which are attached hereto 
as Section 4.3 of the Disclosure Schedule. Except as indicated in Section 4.3 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Financial Statements are correct 
and complete in all material respects, were prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied through the applicable periods involved 
(except that the Interim Financial Statements are subject to normal year-end adjustments and do not include footnotes), and present fairly and 
accurately in all material respects the financial condition of the Acquired Business as of the respective dates of such Financial Statements and 
the results of operations for the respective periods then ended. Except for the accounting for the contribution, transfer and assumption of assets 
and liabilities pursuant to the 2001 Seller Restructuring and the Intercompany Transaction, since December 31, 2000, there has been no change 
in the accounting methods or practices of Seller or Traex relating to the Acquired Business.  

4.4 Absence of Changes. Except as set forth in Section 4.4 of the Disclosure Schedule and except as disclosed in the Financial Statements, 
since January 1, 2002, the Seller and Traex have conducted the Acquired Business in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past 
practice and there has been no (i) Material Adverse Change, (ii) material damage, destruction or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) 
affecting the Purchased Assets or the Acquired Business, (iii) increase or commitment to increase in either the rate of compensation or the 
actual compensation payable or to become payable by Seller or Traex to any of the employees of Seller or Traex employed in the Acquired 
Business, except in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice, (iv) termination of any previously existing contract, 
agreement or license which, if not terminated, would have been required to be listed on Schedule  
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4.10(a), other than terminations or expirations of such contracts, agreements or licenses in the ordinary course of business, (v) cancellation or 
termination of a relationship, or written notice to Traex or Seller of a future cancellation or termination of a relationship, by any single supplier 
or customer who accounted for more than 5% of the purchases or sales of the Acquired Business, determined by reference to Seller's fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2001, (vi) made any material changes in its sales practices or procedures other than in the ordinary course of business, 
(vii) sell, lease, transfer, or assignment of any material Purchased Asset, other than in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past 
practice, (viii) accelerate, terminate, materially modify or cancel any Contract material to the operation of the Business, other than in the 
ordinary course of business, (ix) grant any license or sublicense of any rights under or with respect to any Intellectual Property, (x) enter into 
any written employment agreement or materially modify the terms of any such existing employment agreement with any of the Business 
Employees, and (xi) delay or postpone the payment of accounts payable and other liabilities outside the ordinary course of business.  

4.5 Powers of Attorney. Except as set forth in Section 4.5 of the Disclosure Schedule, no employees or agents of Seller or its Affiliates hold 
powers of attorney to act with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Acquired Business.  

4.6 Litigation. Except as set forth in Section 4.6 of the Disclosure Schedule, (a) there is no suit, action, or legal, administrative, arbitration or 
other proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against Traex, the Division or Seller relating to the Acquired Business or 
the Purchased Assets; (b) there is no suit, action, or legal, administrative, arbitration or other proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of 
Seller, threatened which questions the legality, validity or propriety of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (c) there is no unfair 
labor practice charge against Traex or the Seller related to the Acquired Business pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened before the 
National Labor Relations Board or any similar state agency; (d) there are no labor strikes pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened 
against Traex or the Seller relating to the Acquired Business and (e) to the Knowledge of Seller, there is no governmental investigation pending 
or threatened against Traex, the Division, or the Seller relating to the Acquired Business or which questions the legality, validity or propriety of 
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  

4.7 Licenses; Compliance With Laws and Regulations.  

(a) Governmental Licenses; Notices. Except as set forth in  
Section 4.7(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, Seller, with respect to the Acquired Business, has all Consents of, with or to any Governmental 
Authority necessary to conduct of the Acquired Business as conducted on the date hereof, excluding such material Consents required under 
Environmental Laws which are covered by  
Section 4.12, and such Consents are in full force and effect and listed in  
Section 4.7(a) of the Disclosure Schedule. Except as set forth in Section 4.7(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, Seller, with respect to the Acquired 
Business and the Purchased Assets, is in compliance in all material respects with all such Consents of, with or to any Governmental Authority.  
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(b) Compliance With Laws and Regulations. Except as provided in  
Section 4.7(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of Seller, Seller, with respect to the Acquired Business, is currently and for a five 
(5) year period prior to January 1, 2002 was, with respect to the Acquired Business, and since January 1, 2002 Traex was, in compliance in all 
material respects with all applicable Laws relating to the operation of the Acquired Business and the Purchased Assets, including, without 
limitation, those relating to employment matters, labor matters, employee safety and health, zoning, building, fire, and plumbing, but excluding 
Environmental Laws which are covered by Section 4.12 hereof.  

4.8 Title to and Condition of Purchased Assets; Sufficiency of Assets.  

(a) Title. Seller owns or has a leasehold or license interest in, or right to all of the Purchased Assets. At Closing, Seller will convey the 
Purchased Assets to Purchaser free and clear of all Encumbrances, except for the Permitted Encumbrances. Subject to (i) the Permitted 
Encumbrances, (ii) any Encumbrances created by the Purchaser, (iii) any Laws which may prohibit or limit the Purchaser's ability to own the 
Purchased Assets and except as contemplated by Section 7.8(a), Purchaser will at Closing own or have valid and enforceable leasehold or 
license interest in, or other valid and enforceable rights to all of the Purchased Assets. The Purchased Assets constitute all of the assets, rights 
and privileges necessary to run or operate the Acquired Business as presently conducted, except for Seller Retained Assets.  

(b) Condition. Each material tangible Purchased Asset (excluding the Seller Retained Assets and inventory,) material to the Acquired Business 
as presently conducted or material to the operation or use the Facility or any material portion thereof is free of material defects, is in 
satisfactory operating condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear), and is adequate for the purposes for which it presently is used. No 
asset essential to the operation of the Acquired Business has been diverted to other uses in contemplation of the sale of the Acquired Business 
and the Purchased Assets.  

4.9 Taxes.  

(a) Except as set forth in Section 4.9(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, with respect to the Acquired Business, Seller and Traex (i) have timely 
filed with the appropriate Governmental Authority all Tax Returns required to be filed by them as of the date of this Agreement for all periods 
ended on or prior to the Closing Date, and (ii) have timely paid all Taxes payable with respect to the Acquired Business. All Tax Returns filed 
by Seller and Traex are correct and complete in all material respects.  

(b) All Taxes that Seller and Traex are required by Law to withhold or collect with respect to the Acquired Business for all periods ending on 
or prior to the Closing Date have been withheld or collected, and have timely paid all such Taxes due any Governmental Authority.  

(c) Except as set forth in Section 4.9(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, neither Seller nor Traex has received any written notice from a taxing 
authority in a jurisdiction where either of them does not file Tax Returns such that either of them may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction 
by virtue of the operation of the Acquired Business.  
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(d) Neither Seller nor Traex has agreed to, and is not required to, make any adjustments pursuant to Section 481(a) of the Code or any similar 
provision of state or local Law by reason of a change in accounting method initiated by Seller or Traex which relates to or affects the Acquired 
Business and, to the Knowledge of Seller, neither the Internal Revenue Service nor any other taxing authority has proposed any such 
adjustment or change in accounting method, and neither Seller nor Traex has any application pending with any taxing authority requesting 
permission for any such changes in accounting methods which relates to or otherwise affects the Acquired Business.  

(e) There are no liens for Taxes (other than for current Taxes not yet due and payable) on the Purchased Assets. None of the Purchased Assets 
is property that is required to be treated for Tax purposes as being owned by any other Person.  

(f) The transactions contemplated herein are not subject to the Tax withholding provisions of ss.3406 or of Subchapter A of Chapter 3 of the 
Code or of any other tax withholding provisions of federal, state, local or foreign law.  

(g) Except as set forth in Section 4.9(g) of the Disclosure Schedule, there is no claim, action, audit or other proceeding now pending or, to the 
Knowledge of Seller, threatened relating to the Taxes of Seller or Traex with respect to the Acquired Business, and no extension or waiver of a 
statute of limitations relating to Taxes with respect to the Acquired Business is in effect with respect to Seller or Traex.  

4.10 Contracts.  

(a) Material Contracts. Section 4.10 of the Disclosure Schedule attached hereto contains a complete and correct list of (i) all Contracts to which 
Traex is a party, (ii) all Contracts to which Seller, Traex or any of their Affiliates is a party that relate substantially to the Acquired Business 
and (iii) all Contracts by which any of the Purchased Assets are bound (excluding any contracts or agreements which are Seller Retained 
Assets) of the type set forth below (collectively, the "Material Contracts"):  

(i) any Contract containing covenants limiting the Acquired Business's ability to compete with any Person in any business or geographic 
territory;  

(ii) any Contract with any officer or director of Seller or former officer or director of Traex or any of their Affiliates (other than in their 
capacity as employees);  

(iii) any Contract for the lease of personal or real property to or from any Person providing for lease payments (individually or in the aggregate 
under any master or universal lease agreement) in excess of $50,000 per annum with respect to the Acquired Business;  

(iv) any Contract (or series of related Contracts) for the purchase of raw materials, commodities, supplies, products, or other personal property, 
or for the furnishing or receipt of services with respect to the Acquired Business, excluding any purchase orders which do not involve 
consideration in excess of $75,000 per annum to one supplier;  
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(v) any Contract (or series of related Contracts) for the sale to customers of products of the Acquired Business, excluding any sales orders 
which do not involve consideration in excess of $75,000 per annum from one sales customer;  

(vi) any Contract providing for the disposition of a material Purchased Asset, other than in the ordinary course of business;  

(vii) any Contract which is an employment, consulting or severance agreement of any Person on a full-time, part-time, consulting or other basis 
whose compensation, including bonuses paid in the past 12 months and excluding benefits under any Benefit Plans, is in excess of $60,000 or 
which provides for severance benefits upon termination of employment or engagement;  

(viii) any Contract with a sales representative, dealer or distributor;  

(ix) a partnership, joint venture or similar relationship;  

(x) any collective bargaining agreements;  

(xi) any Contract relating to the creation, incurrence, assumption or guarantee of indebtedness for borrowed money;  

(xii) any Contract creating an Encumbrance on the Purchased Assets (other than Permitted Encumbrances);  

(xiii) any guarantee of performance or guarantee of liabilities of any other Person;  

(xiv) any Contract for capital expenditures in excess of $100,000 individually with respect to the Acquired Business;  

(xv) any hedging arrangement with respect to the Acquired Business;  

(xvi) any Contract for the license to Seller, Traex or any of their Affiliates of Intellectual Property (other than Licensed Software) used in the 
operation of the Acquired Business;  

(xvii) any Licensed Software, other than Licensed Software which is commercially available on a shrink-wrap basis;  

(xviii) any Contract for the license from Seller or Traex of Intellectual Property;  

(xix) any Contract for freight or transportation of products or materials of the Acquired Business; and  
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(xx) any other Contract involving payments of $75,000 with respect to the Acquired Business in any twelve (12) month period, not otherwise 
listed above.  

(b) Defaults. Seller has delivered or made available to Purchaser a correct and complete copy of each Material Contract. Except as set forth on 
Section 4.10(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, with respect to each of the Material Contracts, (i) such Material Contract is legal, valid and binding 
on the Seller or its Affiliates party to such Contract and, to the Knowledge of Seller, each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect as to 
Seller and, to the Knowledge of Seller, each other party thereto, (ii) none of Seller or Traex or any Affiliate is in breach or default thereunder 
and, to the Knowledge of Seller (A) no other party is in material breach or default thereunder, and (B) no event has occurred which with notice 
or lapse of time would constitute a material breach or default, or permit termination, material modification, or acceleration thereunder and (iii) 
to Knowledge of Seller, there are no pending renegotiations of any material provisions thereof outside the ordinary course of business.  

4.11 Intellectual Property.  

(a) Section 4.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of all patents, registered copyrights, trademarks and service 
marks, trade names, Internet domain names and all registrations and applications for any of the foregoing, owned or licensed by Seller and used 
in connection with the conduct of the Acquired Business (other than the Seller Retained Assets) as presently conducted.  

(b) Except as set forth in Section 4.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, all Intellectual Property that is listed in Section 4.11(a) of the Disclosure 
Schedule and to the Knowledge of Seller, all other Intellectual Property that is part of the Purchased Assets is exclusively owned by Seller free 
and clear of all Encumbrances, and except for fees and costs required by Governmental Authorities to prosecute and maintain such Intellectual 
Property in effect, the Seller is not obligated to make any payments of any kind in respect thereof. The Seller has properly maintained and 
renewed all registrations and related filings with respect to (i) all of the registered Intellectual Property listed in Section 4.11(a) of the 
Disclosure Schedule and (ii) any other registered Intellectual Property that is included in the Purchased Assets, and has used commercially 
reasonable efforts to enforce its rights therein against any known infringement or dilution by third parties.  

(c) Section 4.11(c) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of all licenses granted by or to the Seller with respect to any 
Intellectual Property that is part of the Purchased Assets (other than the Seller Retained Assets and Licensed Software). All such licensed 
Intellectual Property is licensed, leased or otherwise used by the Seller pursuant to terms of a binding Contract under which the Seller has the 
right to use such Intellectual Property as currently used or intended to be used in the Acquired Business.  

(d) Section 4.11(d) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and correct list of all Owned Software. As used herein, "Owned Software" 
shall mean all computer software that is owned by the Seller or an Affiliate or is material to the conduct of the Acquired Business as presently 
conducted (excluding any owned computer software that is a  
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Seller Retained Asset). The Owned Software together with the Licensed Software is referred to as the "Acquired Business Software."  

(e) Except as disclosed in Section 4.11(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Seller is not currently in receipt of any written or, to the Knowledge 
of Seller, oral notice that the conduct of the Acquired Business violates the Intellectual Property rights of any other Person. To the Knowledge 
of Seller, (i) the use by the Seller of any Intellectual Property used in connection with the Acquired Business (excluding the Seller Retained 
Assets) is not violating, infringing, diluting or misappropriating any other Person's Intellectual Property rights and (ii) no Person has threatened 
or claimed that the use by the Seller of any Intellectual Property in connection with the Acquired Business (other than Seller Retained Assets) 
is violating, infringing, diluting or misappropriating such Person's Intellectual Property rights.  

(f) Except as set forth in Section 4.11(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of Seller, to the extent that any material Intellectual 
Property included in the Purchased Assets (excluding Seller Retained Assets) was created for the Seller or any predecessor of the Seller, by or 
with the aid or assistance of an employee, non-employee, consultant or independent contractor, the Seller has received all necessary written 
assignments to the rights, title and interest in such Intellectual Property to obtain for the Seller all rights, title and interest in such Intellectual 
Property.  

4.12 Environmental Matters.  

(a) Except as set forth in Section 4.12(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, Seller, with respect to the Acquired Business, is in compliance in all 
material respects with all Environmental Laws. Neither Seller nor Traex has received in the last five (5) years, any written notice from a 
Governmental Authority, nor does the Seller have any Knowledge that (i) the Acquired Business is not in compliance in all material respects 
with, or is in violation in any material respect of, any Environmental Laws or (ii) any currently existing circumstances are reasonably likely to 
result in (x) a failure of the Seller to comply in all material respects with any Environmental Law, as it relates to the Acquired Business or (y) a 
material violation by Seller of any Environmental Law, as it relates to the Acquired Business. For any written notice described above that was 
received prior to the last five (5) years, Seller and Traex have resolved all outstanding issues related to such notice to the satisfaction of the 
issuing authority.  

(b) All material licenses and permits currently held by Seller pursuant to Environmental Laws are identified in Section 4.12(b) of the 
Disclosure Schedule and constitute all of the material licenses and permits required under Environmental Laws to operate the Acquired 
Business. Except as described in Section 4.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, Seller is in compliance in all material respects with such licenses 
and permits.  

(c) Except as set forth on Section 4.12(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no Environmental Claims (excluding any allegations or 
accusations from such definition) pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no Environmental Claims threatened against Traex or Seller 
relating to the Acquired Business. Neither the Seller, nor Traex has received any written notification, nor does Seller have Knowledge, of any 
allegation of any actual, or potential responsibility for, or any inquiry or investigation regarding, any disposal,  
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release or threatened release of any Materials of Environmental Concern either generated at or transported from the Facility. To the Knowledge 
of Seller, there has been no transportation or other off-site disposal of any Materials of Environmental Concern that has or could reasonably be 
expected to result in Environmental Liabilities.  

(d) Except as disclosed in Section 4.12(d) of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no current or, to the Knowledge of Seller, past releases (i.e., 
any past or present releasing, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, migration, injecting, escaping, leaching, 
disposing, or dumping) of Materials of Environmental Concern in such quantities that would result in Environmental Liabilities.  

4.13 Transactions with Affiliates. Except as set forth on Section 4.13 of the Disclosure Schedule, none of Seller's or Traex's shareholders, 
officers, directors or other Affiliates has any material interest in any Purchased Asset.  

4.14 Benefit Plans.  

(a) Seller has delivered to Purchaser true, correct and complete copies of (i) each Existing Plan and all amendments thereto (or, if not written a 
written summary of its material terms), including a summary of material modifications, and (ii) the most recent determination or opinion letter, 
if any, issued by the IRS with respect to any Existing Plan and any pending request for such a determination letter. No Existing Plan is a 
multiemployer plan within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA.  

(b) Each Existing Plan has in all material respects been maintained in compliance with its terms and all material provisions of ERISA and the 
Code applicable thereto.  

(c) Each Existing Plan which is an employee pension plan within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA (a "Pension Plan"), which is intended 
to be "qualified" within the meaning of Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code has been determined by the IRS to be so qualified and to 
Seller's Knowledge there are no facts which would indicate that the qualified status of each such Pension Plan or the tax exempt status of each 
trust created thereunder has been adversely affected.  

(d) Except as set forth in Section 4.14(d) of the Disclosure Schedule, no Existing Plan which is an employee welfare benefit plan within the 
meaning of Section 3(1) of ERISA provides post-retirement medical or life coverage to any Business Employees, other than as required by 
COBRA.  

4.15 Real Property.  

(a) Except as set forth in Section 4.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Facility constitutes all the fee and leasehold interest in real property 
used or held for use in connection with the Acquired Business. Seller owns and has good, valid, and marketable fee simple title to the Facility, 
free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances.  
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(b) Except as set forth in Section 4.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, (i) to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no planned or commenced public 
improvements related to the Facility that may result in special assessments for which the owner of the Facility would be responsible; (ii) to the 
Knowledge of Seller, there is no planned condemnation or similar action or material change in any zoning or building ordinance materially and 
adversely affecting the Facility; (iii) there are no material structural or mechanical defects in the Facility, and take as a whole, the Facility is in 
satisfactory condition and repair in all material respects, subject to reasonable wear and tear and is adequate for the purpose for which it is 
currently used; (iv) there are no eminent domain or other similar proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened affecting any 
portion of the Facility; (v) the use and operation of the Facility does not violate in any material respect any instrument of record or agreement 
affecting any portion of the Facility; (vi) neither Seller nor Traex has received any written order requiring repairs, alterations or correction of 
any existing conditions of the Facility that have not been remedied; (vii) there is no writ, injunction, decree, order or judgment outstanding, nor 
any action, claim, suit or proceeding, pending or, to Knowledge of Seller, threatened, relating to the ownership, lease, use, occupancy or 
operation by Seller or Traex of the Facility; (viii) to the extent necessary for the conduct of Acquired Business as currently conducted thereon, 
all utility services or systems for the Facility have been installed and are operational and sufficient in all material respects for the operation of 
the Facility as currently operated; (ix) there are no outstanding options or rights of first refusal to purchase the Facility, or any portion thereof 
or interest therein;  
(x) the Seller has not leased or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or occupy all or any portion of the Facility and (xi) the Seller 
has the right of egress and access to the Facility necessary for the conduct of business thereon.  

(c) Except as set forth in Section 4.15(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Facility is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable 
building, zoning, subdivision and other land use and similar Laws affecting the Facility (collectively, the "Real Property Laws"), and in the last 
five (5) years neither Seller nor Traex has received any notice of violation or claimed violation of any Real Property Law. No current use by the 
Seller of the Facility is dependent on a nonconforming use or other governmental approval, the absence of which would materially limit the use 
of the Facility in connection with the operation of the Acquired Business as currently conducted.  

(d) Except as set forth in Section 4.15(d) of the Disclosure Schedule, each parcel included in the Real Property is assessed for real property tax 
purposes as a wholly independent tax lot, separate from adjoining land or improvements not constituting a part of that parcel.  

4.16 Insurance. Section 4.16 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all insurance policies which Seller maintains that cover the Purchased 
Assets. To the Knowledge of Seller, such insurance policies are in full force and effect and Seller has not received any written notice of any 
cancellation of such insurance. During the last two years, no insurance policy covering the Purchased Assets has been cancelled, withdrawn or 
non-renewed by the insurer.  
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4.17 Intercompany Transaction and 2001 Seller Restructuring.  

(a) The Seller and Traex had the requisite corporate power and authority to consummate the Intercompany Transaction and the 2001 Seller 
Restructuring. The consummation by Seller or Traex of the Intercompany Transaction and the 2001 Seller Restructuring has been duly and 
validly authorized by all necessary corporate action and requisite stockholder or shareholder action, on the part of Seller and Traex, and no 
additional corporate action on the part of Traex or Seller was necessary in order to authorize or consummate the Intercompany Transaction and 
the 2001 Seller Restructuring.  

(b) All documents executed and delivered by Seller and Traex in order to consummate the Intercompany Transaction (the "Intercompany 
Transaction Documents") and the 2001 Seller Restructuring (the "2001 Restructuring Documents") were duly executed by each of Seller and 
Traex and, as and if required by applicable Law, filed with the appropriate Governmental Authority. Each Intercompany Transaction Document 
and 2001 Restructuring Document constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each of Seller and Traex, enforceable against each in 
accordance with its terms. The Intercompany Transaction Documents effected the Intercompany Transactions in accordance with all applicable 
Law. The 2001 Restructuring Documents effected the 2001 Seller Restructuring in accordance with all applicable Law. Seller has provided 
complete and correct copies of all Intercompany Transaction Documents to Purchaser.  

(c) Except as set forth in Section 4.17(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, the execution of the Intercompany Transaction Documents and the 2001 
Seller Restructuring Documents and the consummation of the Intercompany Transaction and 2001 Seller Restructuring did not, (i) conflict 
with, contravene, result in a violation or breach of or default under (with or without the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both), (ii) give 
rise to a right or claim of termination, amendment, modification, vesting, acceleration or cancellation of any right or obligation or loss of any 
material benefit under, or (iii) result in the creation of any Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances) upon any of the Purchased 
Assets under (x) any Law, order, writ, injunction, judgment, arbitration award or decree to which either Seller, Traex or the Purchased Assets 
are subject or bound, (y) the articles of incorporation or bylaws of Seller or Traex or (z) any Material Contract.  

4.18 Inventories. Seller represents that, except as set forth on  
Section 4.18 of the Disclosure Schedule and except to the extent disclosed and reserved against in the Financial Statements, all inventories of 
the Acquired Business are recorded on the books of the Acquired Business at the lower of cost or market value on a first-in, first-out basis in 
accordance with GAAP.  

4.19 Accounts Receivable. Seller represents that, except as set forth on Section 4.19 of the Disclosure Schedule and except to the extent 
disclosed and reserved against in the Financial Statements, all accounts receivable of the Acquired Business represent bona fide claims against 
debtors for sales made, services performed or other charges arising on or before the Closing Date, and all of the goods delivered and services 
performed that give rise to such accounts were delivered or performed in accordance with the applicable Contracts.  
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4.20 Suppliers. Section 4.20 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the name of Acquired Business's top ten (10) suppliers of raw materials, 
supplies, merchandise and other goods during the past twelve (12) months for the Acquired Business. None of these suppliers have notified 
Seller or Traex in writing that it intends to stop or materially curtail its sale of raw materials, supplies, merchandise or other goods to the 
Acquired Business or to materially alter the terms and conditions of sale and, to the Knowledge of Seller, none of these suppliers intends to 
stop or materially curtail its sale of raw materials, supplies, merchandise or other goods to the Acquired Business or to materially alter the 
terms and conditions of sale.  

4.21 Customers. Section 4.21 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the name of the Acquired Business's top ten (10) customers during the past 
twelve (12) months. None of these customers have notified Seller or Traex in writing that it intends to stop or materially curtail its purchasing 
of products from the Acquired Business or to materially alter the terms and conditions by which it purchases such products from the Acquired 
Business and, to the Knowledge of Seller, none of these customers intends to stop or materially curtail its purchasing of products from the 
Acquired Business or to materially alter the terms and conditions by which it purchases such products from the Acquired Business.  

4.22 Warranties. Traex's and the Seller's outstanding product warranty claims with respect to products sold or delivered by the Acquired 
Business do not exceed $5,000 in the aggregate.  

4.23 Rebates. Seller has informed Purchaser of all rebates, discounts, promotional allowances or similar payments or obligations to any 
customers of the Acquired Business (the "Rebate Obligations"). All Rebate Obligations are reflected in the Financial Statements in accordance 
with GAAP as consistently applied or have been incurred after the date thereof in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice.  

4.24 Inter-company Contracts and Services.  

(a) Section 4.24(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth (i) each material written agreement or contract in effect as of the Closing Date between 
Traex or the Division, on the one hand, and Seller or any other Affiliates of Seller on the other hand, which affects or relates to the Purchased 
Assets or the Acquired Business and (ii) each Contract to which neither Traex, nor the Division is a party but Seller or an Affiliate of Seller is a 
party (other than Traex) and under which the Acquired Business receives benefits or pursuant to which the Acquired Business is obligated or 
bound pursuant to such Contract.  

(b) Section 4.24(b) of the Disclosure Schedule lists the categories of material services that Seller or its Affiliates provide to the Acquired 
Business in connection with the operation of the Acquired Business as presently conducted, other than the services described in the Transition 
Agreement.  

4.25 Employees. Except as set forth in Section 4.25 of the Disclosure Schedule, neither Seller, nor any of its Affiliates or divisions have 
solicited or sought to induce, directly or indirectly, any Business Employee whose services are material to the operation of the Acquired 
Business to leave their employment or position with the Acquired Business for another  
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position or employment with Seller or any of its Affiliates or divisions. Traex is not delinquent in payments to any of its employees for any 
wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses or other direct compensation for any services performed for it or amounts required to be reimbursed to 
such employees. Traex is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws respecting labor, employment, fair employment 
practices, terms and conditions of employment, worker's compensation, plant closings, and wages and hours. Within the 90 day period ending 
immediately prior to the Closing, Traex has not instituted any layoffs or other reductions in force.  

4.26 Brokers, Finders. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection 
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller.  

4.27 NO OTHER REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY. EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES SET FORTH 
IN THIS SECTION 4 OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE SELLER MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY 
REGARDING THE CONDITION, QUALITY, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY 
PURCHASED ASSET AND ANY SUCH REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY IS HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED.  

5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO PURCHASER. Purchaser represents and warrants to Seller that:  

5.1 Corporate Matters Regarding Purchaser.  

(a) Organization; Power. Purchaser is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Purchaser has 
all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate all of its properties and assets and to carry on its business as it is now 
being conducted.  

(b) Authorization; Validity. Purchaser has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other documents and 
instruments to be executed and delivered by Purchaser pursuant hereto and to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution 
and delivery by Purchaser of this Agreement and the other documents and instruments to be executed by Purchaser pursuant hereto and the 
consummation by Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by the Board of Directors and, if 
required, the shareholder, of Purchaser. No further corporate act or proceeding on the part of Purchaser is necessary to authorize this 
Agreement or the other documents and instruments to be executed and delivered by Seller pursuant hereto or the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement and the related agreements, documents and instruments referred to herein to 
which Purchaser is a party have been duly executed and delivered by Purchaser and constitute the valid and legally binding obligations of 
Purchaser, enforceable against it in accordance with their respective terms.  
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(c) Compliance; Binding Effect. Except as set forth in Schedule 5.1(c) attached hereto, the execution and delivery by Purchaser of this 
Agreement and the related agreements, documents and instruments referred to herein to which Purchaser is a party, the purchase of the 
Purchased Assets, the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not conflict 
with, contravene, result in a violation or breach of or default under (with or without the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both), give rise 
to a right or claim of termination, amendment, modification, vesting, acceleration or cancellation of any right or obligation or loss of any 
material benefit under (i) the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Purchaser, (ii) any Law, order, writ, injunction, judgment, arbitration 
award or decree or other restriction of any kind or character to which the Purchaser is subject or by which the Purchaser is bound or (iii) any 
material contract to which Purchaser is a party or by which Purchaser is bound.  

5.2 Governmental Consents. No Consent of any Governmental Authority is required for the execution, delivery or performance of this 
Agreement by Purchaser or the consummation by Purchaser of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  

5.3 Litigation. There is no action, claim, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Purchaser, threatened against Purchaser which 
questions the legality, validity or propriety of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  

5.4 Brokers; Finders. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection 
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Purchaser.  

6. CLOSING.  

6.1 Closing Date. The Closing of the transactions provided for herein shall take place at such time and date as Seller and Purchaser may 
mutually agree.  

6.2 Closing Deliveries. The following items shall be delivered by the parties at Closing:  

(a) By the Seller. At the Closing, the Seller shall deliver to Purchaser the following:  

(i) Assignment of Purchased Assets: To effect the assignment of the Purchased Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities 
contemplated by this Agreement, Seller will execute and deliver at Closing, the following documents, each of which will be reasonably 
satisfactory in form and substance to Purchaser (collectively, the "Assignment Documents"):  

A. bills of sale conveying to Purchaser all of Seller's personal property included in the Purchased Assets;  

B. assignments of all Contracts included in the Purchased Assets which shall assign to Purchaser all of Seller's right, title and interest therein 
and thereto;  

29  



C. assignments of patents and trademarks and other Intellectual Property rights included in the Purchased Assets in recordable form to the 
extent necessary to assign such rights to Purchaser;  

D. a special warranty deed for the Facility, together with applicable transfer forms (subject to Assumed Liabilities and Permitted 
Encumbrances);  

E. certificates of title to all motor vehicles included in the Purchased Assets, duly endorsed for transfer to Purchaser;  

F. the Assignment and Assumption Agreement; and  

G. such assignment documents and other instruments of transfer as are necessary to properly transfer and assign the Purchased Assets to 
Purchaser, each duly executed by Seller.  

(ii) Transition Agreement. Transition Agreement, duly executed by the Seller.  

(iii) Consents. All Consents to, as the case may be, required under or otherwise necessary to avoid any breach, default, violation of any anti-
assignment clause, cancellation or acceleration or triggering of any rights under those Contracts set forth on Schedule 6.2(a)(iii) attached hereto 
with respect to (A) the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and/or (B) the Intercompany Transaction or any combination of 
these transactions (the "Required Consents").  

(iv) Secretary's Certificate. A certificate of a secretary or assistant secretary of Seller dated the Closing Date certifying, (i) a true and complete 
copy of the Articles of Incorporation of Seller, (ii) a true and complete copy of the Bylaws of Seller and (iii) incumbency matters.  

(v) Survey. A current survey of the Facility prepared by a land surveyor certified or registered in Wisconsin and reasonably acceptable to 
Purchaser, prepared in accordance with the requirements set forth in Schedule 6.2(a)(v) attached hereto, which shall have been prepared and 
delivered sufficiently prior to Closing to allow for the issuance of the title insurance policy specified in Section 6.2(a)(vi) of this Agreement.  

(vi) Title Policy. A current owner's policy of title insurance (or pro forma owners policy) from First American Title Insurance Company with 
respect to the Facility meeting the requirements set forth in Schedule 6.2(a)(vi) attached hereto.  

(vii) FIRPTA Certificate. An affidavit in form and substance satisfactory to Purchaser that satisfies Purchaser's obligations under Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.1445-2(b)(2), duly executed by Seller.  
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(viii) Legal Opinions. An opinion of Quarles & Brady, LLP, counsel to Seller, addressed to Purchaser dated as of the Closing Date in the form 
set forth on Exhibit C-1 and opinion of in-house counsel of Seller, addressed to Purchaser dated as of the Closing Date in the form set forth on 
Exhibit C-2.  

(ix) Intercompany Transaction Documents. All Intercompany Transaction Documents.  

(b) By Purchaser. At the Closing, Purchaser shall deliver to the Seller, the following:  

(i) Ancillary Agreements. The Assignment and Assumption Agreement and Transition Agreement, each duly executed by Purchaser;  

(ii) Secretary's Certificate. A certificate of Purchaser dated the Closing Date and signed on its behalf by its secretary or assistant secretary 
certifying (i) the adoption of attached resolutions of Purchaser's Board of Directors authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this 
Agreement and the related agreements, documents and instruments referred to herein, (ii) a true and complete copy of the certificate of 
incorporation of Purchaser, (iii) a true and complete copy of the bylaws of the Purchaser and  
(iv) incumbency matters;  

(iii) Legal Opinion. An opinion of the general counsel of Purchaser addressed to Seller dated as of the Closing Date in the form set forth on 
Exhibit D; and  

(iv) Payment. Payment by wire transfer of the Purchase Price as provided in Section 2.3 of this Agreement.  

7. COVENANTS OF SELLER.  

7.1 Liability for Transfer Taxes. The Seller shall be responsible for the timely payment of all sales, use, value added, documentary, stamp, 
gross receipts, transfer, conveyance, excise, real estate recording and other similar Taxes and fees ("Transfer Taxes"), arising out of or in 
connection with or attributable to the transactions effected pursuant to this Agreement. The Seller shall prepare and timely file all Tax Returns 
required to be filed in respect of Transfer Taxes (including, without limitation, all notices required to be given with respect to bulk sales taxes), 
provided that the Purchaser shall be permitted to prepare any such Tax Returns that are the primary responsibility of the Purchaser under 
applicable law. The Purchaser's preparation of any such Tax Returns shall be subject to Seller's approval, which approval shall not be withheld 
unreasonably.  

7.2 Further Acts. On the Closing Date, or thereafter if necessary, Seller shall, without cost or expense to Purchaser, execute and deliver to or 
cause to be executed and delivered to Purchaser such further instruments of transfer and conveyance and take such other action as Purchaser 
may reasonably require to carry out more effectively and completely the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  
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7.3 Resin Supplies.  

(a) For a period of five (5) years after the Closing Date (the "Resin Supply Period"), Seller covenants and agrees to use its best efforts to afford 
Purchaser, or any designated Affiliate of Purchaser, the opportunity to participate in the buying group for resin, and/or to be party to, any New 
Resin Contract. To the extent that Seller or its Affiliates will incur any Participation Costs as a result of Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, 
participating in a buying group for resin, or becoming party to any New Resin Contract, Seller shall promptly provide Purchaser, or its 
designated Affiliate, with written notice of such Participation Costs (which notice shall provide reasonable evidence of such Participation 
Costs) (the "Participation Costs Notice") prior to their participating in a buying group for resin, or becoming party to, a New Resin Contract. If, 
upon receipt of the Participation Costs Notice, Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, agrees to participate in such buying group for resin, or 
agrees to become a party to such New Resin Contract, Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, shall notify Seller in writing within five (5) 
business days after receipt of such Participation Cost Notice of such fact and of its agreement to pay the Participation Costs as set forth in the 
applicable Participation Costs Notice. Purchaser, or its designated Affiliates, shall pay such Participation Costs (i) to the extent practicable, 
before they are incurred by Seller or Seller's Affiliate or, if not practicable, reimburse Seller or Seller's Affiliates for such Participation Costs 
within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice that they have been incurred, or (ii) if applicable, assume such Participation Costs in 
accordance with the terms of the New Resin Contact.  

(b) If at any time during the Resin Supply Period, (i) Purchaser or its designated Affiliate is unable to participate in a buying group for resin or 
is unable to be a party to a New Resin Contract, or (ii) Seller is, or its Affiliates are, prohibited from including, or unable to include, Purchaser, 
or its designated Affiliate, as a participant in a buying group for resin, or as a party to any New Resin Contract for purposes of satisfying the 
Acquired Business's resin supply needs, Seller agrees to use its best efforts to sell to Purchaser, or any designated Affiliate of Purchaser, solely 
for the benefit of the Acquired Business, (x) resin of the type purchased by the Acquired Business on the date hereof, which types of resin are 
set forth on Schedule 7.3(b), and (y) any other resin that is used by the Acquired Business to manufacture or produce any of the products 
manufactured as of the date hereof by the Acquired Business which are set forth in the 2002 Traex Product Guide any time during the Resin 
Supply Period, which resin can be available under a then existing New Resin Contract. Such resin shall be resold to Purchaser, or its designated 
Affiliate, at the same price and pursuant to the same terms that Seller or its Affiliates may purchase the resin from the resin supplier under the 
applicable New Resin Contract; provided, that, such resin shall be sold by Seller or its Affiliates to Purchaser or its Affiliates on an AS-IS basis 
except that Seller and its Affiliates shall pass along any warranty provided by the resin supplier with respect to any resin purchased by 
Purchaser or its Affiliates; provided, further that Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, shall receive its pro-rata share of all discounts, rebates or 
other economic benefits under each of the New Resin Contracts its buys any resin from Seller under, with such discounts applied, and such 
rebates paid, in accordance with applicable terms and conditions of each New Resin Contract, as if Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, were a 
party to such New Resin Contract. Seller and its Affiliates shall, at Purchaser's cost, provide such assistance to Purchaser or its Affiliates in 
asserting any breach of warranty or other similar claim against a resin supplier as Purchaser may reasonably request.  
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(c) In the event Purchaser or its Affiliates are purchasing resin from Seller or its Affiliate pursuant to subsection (b) above, during the Resin 
Supply Period, Purchaser, or a designated Affiliate of Purchaser, may (solely for the benefit of the Acquired Business) from time to time issue 
purchase orders to Seller for the purchase of resin to be supplied pursuant to subsection (b) above under the applicable New Resin Contracts 
("Purchase Order"), it being agreed to that notwithstanding the terms and conditions of such Purchase Order, the terms of this Section 7.3 shall 
govern. Each such Purchase Order for resin shall not become an effective order for the purchase of resin until Purchaser, or its designated 
Affiliate, shall have received a Participation Costs Notice from Seller and thereafter confirms in writing to Seller that it intends to purchase the 
resin under such Purchase Order and pay any Participation Costs in connection therewith. To the extent that Seller or its Affiliates will incur 
any Participation Costs in connection with Seller's resale of resin to Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, Seller shall, within ten (10) business 
days of receipt of such Purchase Order for resin, provide Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, with a Participation Costs Notice. If, upon 
receipt of the Participation Costs Notice, Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, agrees to purchase the resin from Seller under such applicable 
Purchase Order, Purchaser, or its designated Affiliate, shall notify Seller in writing confirming its previous Purchase Order (the "PO 
Confirmation") and its agreement to reimburse Seller or its Affiliates for the Participation Costs set forth in the Participation Costs Notice 
within five (5) business days after receipt thereof. Purchaser, or its designated Affiliates, shall reimburse Seller or its Affiliates for such 
enumerated Participation Costs within ten (10) business days of receipt of the PO Confirmation.  

(d) For the purpose of this Section 7.3, (i) "New Resin Contract" shall mean any contract, agreement or arrangement regarding the supply of 
resin (including, without limitation, resin colorants) to the Seller or any of its Affiliates from resin suppliers during the Resin Supply Period 
and (ii) "Participation Costs" shall mean any costs, fees or other expenses (including without limitation any increase in resin prices) which a 
resin supplier imposes on Seller or any Affiliate of Seller in connection with the Purchaser or any Affiliate of Purchaser participating in any 
buying group, becoming a party to any New Resin Contract or purchasing resin from Seller or any Affiliate of Seller, as the case may be, 
including any reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Seller or any Affiliate of Seller in connection with Purchaser or any 
Affiliate of Purchaser participating in any buying group, becoming a party to a New Resin Contract or purchasing resin from Seller or any 
Affiliate of Seller, as the case may be.  

(e) For purposes of notice under this Section 7.3, Seller and Purchaser shall notify each other within thirty (30) days of the Closing Date of the 
person and coordinates of the person who shall receive all notices under this Section 7.3 (each the "Notice Person"). Any time thereafter, each 
party may notify the other in writing of any change in the applicable party's Notice Person. Any notices or other communications required or 
permitted under this  
Section 7.3 shall be in writing and shall be considered delivered in all respects when delivered by hand or by facsimile transmission (but only if 
followed by transmittal by national overnight courier or hand delivery on the next business day) or on receipt after dispatch by registered or 
certified mail, postage prepaid or on the next business day if transmitted by national overnight courier to the applicable Notice Person.  
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7.4 Books and Records. As soon as reasonably practical after the Closing Date, Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Purchaser all of 
the Books and Records in the possession of Seller or its Affiliates; provided, however, that Purchaser recognizes that certain Books and 
Records may be part of other books and records of Seller which are not part of the Purchased Assets; provided, Seller shall use its reasonable 
efforts to separate or extricate the Books and Records from the data and materials which are not part of the Purchased Assets and provide 
Purchaser with such Books and Records in usable electronic or hard copy form.  

7.5 Corporate Name. To the extent the trademarks, service marks, brand names, logos or trade, corporate or business names of Seller or of any 
of Seller's Affiliates ("Seller IP") are not included in the Purchased Assets but are used by the Acquired Business on existing supplies of 
packaging or printed advertising and promotional materials, catalogs, inventories or like materials (collectively, the "Packaging") included in 
the Purchased Assets, Purchaser and the Acquired Business may use such Packaging or sell such inventories after the Closing Date (without 
altering or modifying such Packaging and Inventories) until such Packaging is exhausted and in any event no later than December 31, 2003. 
Seller and its Affiliates, as applicable, hereby grant to Purchaser a royalty free, non-exclusive and nontransferable license to use Seller IP as it 
exists on such Packaging in the ordinary course of business until December 31, 2003.  

7.6 Use of Business Name. After the Closing, Seller shall not, directly or indirectly, use or do business, or allow any Affiliate to use or do 
business, or assist any third party in using or doing business, under the name and mark "Traex" (or any other name confusingly similar to such 
names and marks).  

7.7 Covenant Not to Compete; Non-Solicitation.  

(a) For a period of five (5) years from and after the Closing Date (the "Non-Compete Period"), Seller and Seller's Affiliates shall not, and Seller 
shall cause its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, own, manage, operate, participate in, engage in, or have an investment interest in a 
Competing Business anywhere in the world, whether as a manufacturer, distributor, reseller, partner, stockholder, equity holder, member, sole 
proprietor, contractor, owner, consultant or otherwise except with respect to the services to be provided to the Acquired Business and Purchaser 
pursuant to the Transition Agreement or as permitted below.  

(b) Except for the persons listed in Section 4.25 of the Disclosure Schedule, for a period of three (3) years from and after the Closing Date, 
Seller and its Affiliates shall not, and Seller shall cause its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly solicit or seek to induce any of the employees 
of the Acquired Business on or after the Closing Date to leave their employment or positions with the Acquired Business or Purchaser, 
provided, however, that "solicit or seek to induce" shall not include, and none of Seller or any of its Affiliates shall be prohibited from (i) 
advertising employment opportunities in any national newspaper, trade journal or other publication in a major metropolitan area, e.g. 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin and (ii) participating in any third party hiring fair or similar event open to the public or negotiating with, offering 
employment to or employing such persons contacted through such event. Seller shall be  
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responsible for any violation of this covenant by any of its Affiliates, employees, agents or representatives.  

(c) Nothing in the foregoing provisions of this Section 7.7 shall restrict or prohibit:  

(i) Seller from continuing to manufacture, distribute, service, sell or market (x) any products currently produced by Seller or any current 
Affiliate of Seller and (y) any other products which are comparable items which are typically manufactured or sold by Seller or its current 
Affiliates, other than those products which are currently produced by the Acquired Business itself;  

(ii) Seller from owning less than 5% of the stock of a publicly-held corporation whose stock is traded on a national securities exchange or listed 
with the Nasdaq Stock Market; or  

(iii) Seller acquiring a business which derives less than $5 million of its gross revenues (as determined based on such business's most recently 
completed fiscal year) from the sale of Acquired Business Products.  

(d) As used in this Section 7.7, (i) "Competing Business" shall mean the design, development, manufacture, distribution, servicing, sale or 
marketing of the Acquired Business Products; (ii) "Acquired Business Products" shall mean: (x) plastic and metal products and articles used for 
(1) the dispensing to the end user consumer of paper, tissue, napkins, straws, toothpicks, beverage containers and lids; or (2) tabletop items 
used or consumed by patrons of bars, hotels, restaurants and similar eating and drinking establishments which are comparable to the items 
typically manufactured or sold by, and/or which could be readily be manufactured or sold by, the Acquired Business, including, but not limited 
to, salt and pepper dispensers, ash trays, menu covers, check trays, flower vases, baskets, ramekins, liquid dispensers, tumblers and stemware 
and similar beverageware items, plates, bowls, and similar dinnerware items, cutlery and chafers (excluding items made entirely of metal); and 
(y) any article or service offered for sale in the 2002 Traex Product Guide.  

(e) If the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision of this Section 7.7 is invalid or unenforceable, 
the parties hereto agree that the court making the determination of invalidity or unenforceability shall have the power to reduce the scope, 
duration, or area of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases, or to replace any invalid or unenforceable term or provision with 
a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or 
provision, and this Agreement shall be enforceable as so modified after the expiration of the time within which the judgment may be appealed.  

(f) Seller agrees that the Acquired Business and Purchaser and its Affiliates may suffer irreparable harm from a breach of any of the covenants 
and/or agreements contained in this Section 7.7. In the event of an alleged or threatened breach by Seller or any of its Affiliates of any of the 
provisions of this Section 7.7, the Acquired Business or Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or successors and assigns may, in addition to all other 
rights and remedies  
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existing in their favor, apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for specific performance and/or injunctive or other relief in order to enforce 
or prevent any violations of the provisions hereof (including the extension of the Non-Compete Period by a period equal to the length of the 
violation of this  
Section 7.7), without the Purchaser or any of its affiliates being obligated to post any bond or other security. In the event an alleged breach or 
violation by Seller or any of its Affiliates of any of the provisions of this Section 7.7, the Non-Compete Period shall be tolled for the period of 
the violation by Seller or its Affiliates if such alleged breach or violation is resolved against Seller or its Affiliates.  

(g) The parties hereto acknowledge that the covenants in this  
Section 7.7 are intended to benefit Purchaser, its Affiliates and the Acquired Business, and their respective successors and assigns from and 
after the Closing, but, in the event an Affiliate of Seller is acquired by a third party which is not an Affiliate of Seller and will not be an 
Affiliate of Seller, such covenants shall not be binding upon such Affiliate or the acquiror of such Affiliate.  

7.8 Assistance for Certain Consents.  

(a) To the extent that any of the Purchased Assets are not capable of being assigned or transferred without the Consent of the other party thereto 
or any third party, or if such assignment or attempted assignment or transfer would constitute a breach thereof or a violation of any Law, 
decree, order, other governmental edict, this Agreement shall not constitute an assignment or transfer thereof, or an attempted assignment or 
transfer of any such Purchased Assets until properly transferred.  

(b) If any of the Purchased Assets are not assigned to Purchaser upon consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement due to 
circumstances described in Section 7.8(a) above, then Purchaser shall not assume any liabilities or obligations related to or arising out of such 
non-transferred Purchased Assets until such Purchased Assets can be properly transferred to Purchaser; provided, however, if Seller provides 
Purchaser with, or Purchaser receives, the benefits of such non-transferred Purchased Asset in accordance with Section 7.8(c) below, Purchaser 
shall reimburse Seller for all corresponding payments due under such non-transferred Purchased Asset during the time such benefits are 
provided to Purchaser.  

(c) The Seller is not obligated to transfer to the Purchaser any of its rights and obligations in and to any of the Purchased Assets without first 
having obtained all necessary Consents, including the Required Consents, unless Purchaser otherwise notifies Seller in writing prior to Closing 
that such assets should be assigned to Purchaser. Prior to the Closing Date, the Seller shall have used its reasonable efforts to obtain the 
Required Consents without conditions or requirements that are materially adverse to the Purchaser. To the extent that the Consents necessary to 
properly assign, transfer or sublicense any of the Purchased Assets to Purchaser are not obtained prior to Closing, Seller shall, commencing on 
the Closing Date, and continuing for the duration of each such Purchased Asset, or such shorter period if Purchaser notifies Seller that it no 
longer desires such Purchased Asset, use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) provide to Purchaser and the Acquired Business the benefits of 
any such Purchased Asset not assigned, transferred, subleased or sublicensed due to Seller's failure or inability to obtain such Consent during 
such period and  
(ii) aid Purchaser and the Acquired Business in  
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obtaining any Consents required for the proper transfer of such Purchased Assets to the Purchaser. With respect to the Required Software 
Agreements, Purchaser will use commercially reasonable efforts to replace the services or software provided under such agreements in the 
event it becomes evident to Purchaser that Purchaser will not be able to obtain the required Consent necessary for proper transfer of the 
applicable Required Software Agreement.  

8. COVENANTS OF PURCHASER.  

8.1 Further Acts. On the Closing Date, or thereafter if necessary, Purchaser shall, without cost or expense to Seller, execute and deliver to or 
cause to be executed and delivered to Seller such further documents and take such other action as Seller may reasonably require to carry out 
more effectively and completely the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  

8.2 Product Matters. Purchaser shall, at Seller's cost, provide such assistance as Seller may reasonably request, including without limitation, 
providing replacement products, in connection with any product warranty, product liability or similar claim relating to products of the Acquired 
Business sold prior to Closing.  

9. MUTUAL COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES.  

9.1 Publicity. No public announcement or other publicity regarding the transactions referred to herein shall be made by any party hereto 
without the prior written approval of all parties hereto as to form, timing and manner of distribution or publication, except to the extent 
otherwise required by any applicable Law, including any securities Laws, or on advice of counsel. A party required to make a public 
announcement regarding the transactions described herein shall use reasonable efforts to provide the other party with advance notice of the 
timing and contents of such announcement.  

9.2 Further Actions Regarding Transferred Assets.  

(a) To the extent that time does not permit proper recordation of such assignments contemplated by this Agreement (other than as to real 
property), as for example in the case of certain assignments of Intellectual Property, Seller shall cause the assignment of beneficial title therein 
to be effected as of the Closing and, subsequent to the Closing, will at no cost to Seller provide all assistance and cooperation as is reasonably 
necessary to effectuate recordable assignment of such assets.  

(b) Until March 31, 2004, if it is discovered by either of the parties hereto that certain assets and properties of the Acquired Business were not 
properly included in the Purchased Assets and assigned to Purchaser, Seller shall promptly take all actions necessary to effect the proper 
assignment and transfer of all right, title and interest in all such assets and properties to Purchaser, as designated by Purchaser.  

(c) Until March 31, 2004, if it is discovered by either of the parties hereto that (i) any Seller Retained Asset was improperly assigned to 
Purchaser or (ii) any Assumed Liability was not properly assumed by Purchaser prior to the Closing which was  
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required to be assumed by the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement and was not properly assumed by the Purchaser at the Closing, Purchaser 
shall, and Purchaser shall take all actions necessary to effect the assignment back to Seller of such Seller Retained Assets, or the assumption by 
Purchaser of such Assumed Liabilities, as the case may be.  

9.3 Access to Information.  

(a) Seller will grant to Purchaser access to any relevant records related to operation of the Acquired Business that is reasonably required by 
Purchaser and not transferred hereunder. Purchaser will grant to Seller access to any relevant records related to the Acquired Business that is 
reasonably required by Seller and transferred hereunder. Any such access shall be during normal business hours where such data and records 
are regularly maintained. However, such access to records shall be granted solely be for a proper business purpose (e.g., litigation not covered 
by Article 10 hereof, preparation of Tax Returns). To the extent such request for records relates to any matter subject to Articles 10 hereof, then 
access to records shall be governed by Section 10.4(e) hereof and not this Section 9.3(a). To the extent any information provided to Purchaser 
hereunder does not relate to the Acquired Business, Purchaser shall keep such information confidential. To the extent any information provided 
by Purchaser to Seller is deemed confidential information to the Acquired Business or the Purchaser by the Purchaser, Seller shall agree to keep 
such information confidential, unless such information is required to be disclose in connection with litigation or any filing with a Governmental 
Authority.  

(b) After the Closing Date, Seller will cooperate with Purchaser, and Purchaser will cooperate with Seller, in the preparation of all Tax Returns 
and will provide (or cause to be provided) any records and other information the other so reasonably requests (including, without limitation, 
information necessary to calculate the research tax credit pursuant to Section 41 of the Code (and any similar state, local or foreign tax 
provision) with respect to the Acquired Business), and will provide reasonable access to, and the reasonable cooperation of its employees and 
auditors. Seller will cooperate in all reasonable respects with Purchaser and Purchaser will cooperate in all reasonable respects with Seller in 
connection with any Tax investigation, audit or other proceeding.  

9.4 Employees.  

(a) Except for those Business Employees set forth on Schedule 9.4(a)(i), Purchaser shall make offers of employment to all active Business 
Employees, effective as of the Closing Date. For this purpose a Business Employee shall be an "active" Business Employee if such employee is 
actively at work on the Closing Date, or is absent from work on the Closing Date due to holiday, vacation, jury duty or sick leave (provided 
such sick leave is not reasonably likely to result in such Business Employee becoming entitled to disability benefits under Seller's long term 
disability plan). Purchaser's offer of employment shall be at the same wage and salary rate of compensation as such individual received from 
Seller, and pursuant to the benefit plans as summarized on Schedule 9.4(a)(ii). Each Business Employee who accepts Purchaser's offer of 
employment and becomes an employee of Purchaser on the Closing Date shall be referred to herein as a "Transferred Employee." Purchaser 
shall provide to the Transferred Employees severance benefits under the terms of Purchaser's severance plan;  
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provided that if the Transferred Employees set forth on Schedule 9.4(a)(iii) otherwise become entitled to severance benefits under the terms of 
Purchaser's severance plan between the Closing and December 31, 2003, the amount of and form of severance benefits shall be as set forth on 
Schedule 9.4(a)(iii) (the "Special Severance"). Prior to Closing, Seller shall inform the Transferred Employees set forth on Schedule 9.4(a)(iii) 
of the Special Severance arrangement. In the event Purchaser becomes obligated to provide Special Severance to any of the Transferred 
Employees set forth on Schedule 9.4(a)(iii) during the 120 days following Closing, then Seller shall reimburse Purchaser within 10 business 
days of receipt of an invoice for the amount of such severance, including the cost of the continued employee benefits; provided, however, that 
the amount of the salary continuation component of such severance reimbursement obligation shall not exceed the amount determined based on 
the Transferred Employee's salary rate as in effect at the time of the Closing, without regard to any increase following the Closing. Purchaser 
shall credit each Transferred Employee with years of service with Seller and Traex (and any predecessor thereof) for purposes of eligibility, 
and vesting under each employee benefit program Purchaser maintains for Transferred Employees, and for determining levels of benefits under 
Purchaser's severance, vacation and other paid-time off programs, but not for benefit accrual purposes under any defined benefit or cash 
balance pension plan. It is specifically understood and agreed that Purchaser shall have the right, exercisable in its sole discretion to terminate 
or layoff any Transferred Employees on or after the Closing Date.  

(b) Purchaser agrees to establish flexible spending account arrangements for Transferred Employees identical to those maintained by Seller 
with respect to such Transferred Employees with initial account balances equal to the account balances of such Transferred Employees under 
Seller's flexible spending arrangements immediately prior to Closing. Purchaser shall reimburse Seller from contributions received from 
Transferred Employees for any negative balances under Seller's flexible spending arrangement as of the Closing Date. Seller shall transfer to 
Purchaser all positive balances under Seller's flexible spending arrangement.  

(c) Except to the extent included in the Assumed Liabilities or as otherwise provided in this Section 9.4, Seller shall retain all liability for the 
Existing Plans.  

(d) Purchaser shall establish, effective as of the Closing Date, a group health plan containing the features set forth on Schedule 9.4(a)(ii) in 
which Transferred Employees and their qualifying dependents who are covered under Seller's group health plan on the Closing Date shall be 
eligible to participate effective on the day immediately following the Closing Date.  

(e) Seller shall fully vest all Business Employees in their account balances under the Existing Plan which is a 401(k) plan (the "Seller's  
401(k) Plan") on the Closing Date. As soon as practicable following the Closing Date, Seller shall spin-off and transfer the account balances of 
each Transferred Employee who is a participant in Seller's 401(k) plan to a 401(k) plan maintained by Purchaser (the "New 401(k) Plan") in 
cash pursuant to a trustee to trustee transfer in accordance with Section 414(l) of the Code. The transfer of the account balance liability and 
related assets shall include a trustee-to-trustee transfer of all participant loan accounts and liabilities under Seller's 401(k) Plan.  
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(f) To the extent accrued on the Closing Balance Sheet, Purchaser shall assume the liability with respect to all accrued and unpaid vacation and 
other paid time off with respect to Transferred Employees.  

(g) (i) Seller and Purchaser shall adopt the alternative procedure of Rev. Proc. 96-60 for purposes of filing IRS Forms W-4 (Employee's 
Withholding Allowance Certificate) and W-5 (Earned Income Credit Advance Payment Certificate). Under this procedure Seller shall provide 
to Purchaser all IRS Forms W-4 and W-5 on file with respect to each Transferred Employee, and Purchaser will honor these forms until such 
time, if any, that such Transferred Employee submits a revised form.  

(ii) With respect to garnishments, tax levies, child support orders, and wage assignments in effect with Seller on the Closing Date for 
Transferred Employees, Purchaser shall honor such payroll deduction authorizations with respect to Transferred Employees and will continue 
to make payroll deductions and payments to the authorized payee, as specified by the court or governmental order which was filed with Seller 
on or before the Closing Date, and Seller will continue to make such payroll deductions and payments to authorized payees with respect to all 
other Business Employees. Seller shall, as soon as practicable after the Closing Date, provide Purchaser with such information in the 
possession of Seller as may be reasonably requested by Purchaser and necessary for Purchaser to make the payroll deductions and payments to 
the authorized payee as required by this subsection (ii).  

(h) Seller shall cooperate with Purchaser in providing such employee records, data and information necessary in order for Purchaser to perform 
its obligations and responsibilities under this Section 9.4.  

(i) No provision of this Section 9.4 shall create any third party beneficiary or other rights in any Business Employee or former employee 
(including any beneficiary or dependent thereof) of the Seller in respect of continued employment (or resumed employment) with the Purchaser 
and no provision of this Section 9.4 shall create any such rights in any such persons in respect of any benefits that may be provided, directly or 
indirectly, under any Existing Plans or any such similar plan or arrangement which may be established by the Purchaser for Transferred 
Employees.  

10. SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATION.  

10.1 Survival.  

(a) Representation and Warranties. The representations, warranties, covenants and obligations of Seller and Purchaser contained in this 
Agreement shall survive the Closing as follows (a) the covenants and obligations of Seller and Purchaser shall survive indefinitely, unless 
otherwise limited by their terms herein, (b) the representation and warranties of Seller and, Purchaser not listed in (x)-(z) below shall survive 
until March 31, 2004 and (c) the following representations and warranties of Seller and Purchaser shall survive as follows: (x) the 
representations and warranties of Seller contained in the first and last sentence of Sections 4.1(a) (Organization; Power), 4.1(b)  
(Authorization; Validity), second and third sentences of 4.8(a)  
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(Title to Purchased Assets) and the second sentence of 4.15(a) (Real Property), and the representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in 
Section 5.1(a) (Organization; Power) and 5.1(b) (Authorization; Validity) shall survive indefinitely, (y) the representations and warranties of 
Seller contained in Sections 4.9 (Taxes) shall survive until forty-five (45) days following the expiration of the applicable statute or similar 
period of limitations and (z) the representations and warranties of Seller contained in Section 4.12 (Environmental Matters) shall survive for a 
period of five (5) years after the Closing Date; it being understood that in the event notice of any Claim for indemnification under Section 10.2
(a) or Section 10.3(a) shall have been given within the applicable survival period, the representations and warranties that are the subject of such 
indemnification Claim shall survive with respect to such Claim until such time as such Claim is finally resolved.  

(b) Other Indemnities By Seller. Seller's obligation to indemnify Purchaser pursuant to Sections 10.3 (e), (f), (h), (j), (k) and (l) shall survive 
until the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date. Seller's obligation to indemnify Purchaser pursuant to Section 10.3(d) shall survive until the fifth 
anniversary of the Closing Date, provided, however, such limitation on indemnification shall not limit or affect (in any manner) any of the 
indemnification obligations of Seller set forth in Sections 10.3 (g), (i),  
(m), (p) and (q) which are each indemnities of specified Seller Excluded Liabilities. Seller's obligation to indemnify Purchaser pursuant to 
Section 10.3(n) and (o) shall survive until the one year anniversary of the Closing Date. Seller's obligation to indemnify Purchaser pursuant to 
Section 10.3(p) shall survive until forty-five (45) days following the expiration of the applicable statute or similar period of limitations. Seller's 
obligation to indemnify Purchaser pursuant to Sections 10.3(b) and (c) shall survive indefinitely. Seller's obligation to indemnify Purchaser 
pursuant to Sections  
10.3 (g), (i), (m) and (q) shall survive indefinitely, notwithstanding the fact that the liabilities indemnified under such Sections are Seller 
Excluded Liabilities, as such term is defined under Section 3.2 of this Agreement. The termination of any indemnification obligations of Seller 
under Section 10.3 of this Agreement pursuant to the terms of this Section 10.1(b) shall not any way affect, or be interpreted to affect, the fact 
that Purchaser has assumed and is responsible for, solely and exclusively, the Assumed Liabilities (as defined in  
Section 3.1) and under no circumstances shall Purchaser or its Affiliates be deemed to have assumed, incurred or become responsible for any of 
the Excluded Seller Liabilities (as defined in Section 3.2), which liabilities Purchaser has clearly and explicitly not assumed, incurred or 
become responsible according the terms of this Agreement. It is understood and agreed to that in the event notice of any Claim for 
indemnification under Sections 10.3 (d), (e), (f), (h), (j),  
(k), (l) (n), (o) or (p) shall have been given within the applicable survival period set forth above, Purchaser's right to indemnification and 
Seller's obligation to indemnify such Claim under any such Sections shall survive with respect to such Claim until such time as such Claim is 
finally resolved. It is further understood and agreed, that notwithstanding the termination of any indemnification obligations under Section 10.3
(j) in accordance with this  
Section 10.1(b), Purchaser shall, from and after the Closing be entitled to avail itself of all remedies available under Law or equity, including 
without limitation, the right to seek contribution, injunctive relief or specific performance, as it relates to any Claims that relate to, arise out of 
or result from matters covered under Section 10.3(j).  
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10.2 Indemnification by Purchaser. From and after the Closing, Purchaser shall indemnify, save and hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates and 
each of the foregoing's respective directors and officers (solely in their capacity as officers or directors) (the "Seller Indemnified Parties") from 
and against and all Damages arising out of, resulting from or incident to:  

(a) the breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made by Purchaser in this Agreement as of the Closing Date without regard to 
any qualification contained in any representation or warranty as to materiality;  

(b) any breach, default or lack of performance on the part of Purchaser of any of its agreements or covenants contained in this Agreement or in 
any exhibit, schedule, certificate, or instrument of transfer delivered by Purchaser hereunder; and  

(c) any Assumed Liabilities.  

10.3 Indemnification by Seller. From and after the Closing, Seller shall indemnify, save and hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates and each 
of the foregoing's respective officers and directors (solely in their capacity as officers or directors) (collectively, the "Purchaser Indemnified 
Parties") from and against any and all Damages arising out of, resulting from or incident to:  

(a) the breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty made by Seller in this Agreement as of the Closing Date without regard to any 
qualification contained in any representation or warranty as to materiality;  

(b) any breach, default or lack of performance on the part of Seller of any of its agreements or covenants contained in this Agreement or in any 
exhibit, schedule, certificate, or instrument of transfer delivered by Purchaser hereunder;  

(c) any Seller Retained Assets;  

(d) any Excluded Seller Liabilities related to, incident to or arising out of the Acquired Business or the Purchased Assets;  

(e) any (x) breach, violation (or acts, events or circumstances with which notice or passage of time would constitute a breach or violation) of 
any such Contract on or prior to the Closing Date by the Seller or Traex or any of their Affiliates, (y) to the extent not accrued on the Closing 
Balance Sheet, nonpayment of any accrued expenses, fees or amounts due under such Contracts by Seller, Traex or their Affiliates, which 
amounts accrued or were otherwise due prior to the Closing;  

(f) any claims, suits, actions, or proceedings made with respect to any of the Business Employees or former employees of the Acquired 
Business for worker's compensation or similar claims whether or not insured or self-insured, to the extent the injury occurred prior to Closing, 
regardless of when the claim is filed with the appropriate agency;  
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(g) claims, suits, actions, or proceedings (including those related or arising out of product warranties) relating to or arising out of any product, 
component or other item sold prior to Closing by or on behalf of Seller, Traex or any predecessor thereto in connection with the Acquired 
Business (other than product warranty claims that arise out of or relate to products sold after the Closing);  

(h) any violation of any Environmental Law that relates to or arises out of any act or omission or occurrence prior to Closing or circumstances 
or conditions existing prior to Closing as it relates to the Facility or the Acquired Business;  

(i) any release, discharge or migration of Materials of Environmental Concern at any time to the extent arising or originating from any release 
or discharge at or from the Facility at any time on or before the Closing;  

(j) any waste materials, including, but not limited to, any waste water, any Materials of Environmental Concern or any product, that was off-
specification, damaged or otherwise unsold, that were generated or stored at and transported from the Facility on or before Closing;  

(k) any violation of the Wisconsin Uniform Commercial Code - Bulk Sales Act resulting from or arising out of the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or arising out of the Intercompany Transaction (except for any Assumed Liability);  

(l) failure to comply with the requirements of Section 4980B of the Code relating to each M&A qualified beneficiary as defined in the 
regulations issued under Section 4980B of the Code whose qualifying event occurred prior to or in connection with the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement;  

(m) any claims, suits, actions or proceedings relating to or arising out of any bodily injury, sickness or disease arising from or relating to any 
exposure to or contact with any asbestos or other allegedly injurious materials or substances prior to the Closing Date as it relates to the 
Acquired Business or the Facility;  

(n) the failure to obtain any Consent prior to Closing from any third party required under or otherwise necessary to avoid any breach, default, 
violation of any anti-assignment clause, cancellation or acceleration or triggering of rights under the Contract for Sale of Polymers between 
Equistar Chemicals, LP, Polymers Division, Orbis Corporation, Poly Hi Solidur, Inc. and Traex, dated April 16, 2001;  

(o) the failure to obtain any Consent prior to Closing from any third party required under or otherwise necessary to avoid any breach, default, 
violation of any anti-assignment clause, cancellation or acceleration or triggering of rights under Required Software Agreements;  

(p) any Taxes of Seller, Traex or any Affiliate of Seller related or incident to the Acquired Business; and  
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(q) any indebtedness for borrowed money of Seller, Traex or an Affiliate of Seller related to the Acquired Business, including, without 
limitation, any intercompany indebtednesses.  

10.4 Indemnification Process. The Person making a claim for indemnification under this Section 10 shall be, for the purposes of this 
Agreement, referred to as the "Indemnified Party" (provided that for the purpose of clause (c) below such term shall refer to the party hereto to 
whom such Person is related for purposes of obtaining the benefits of this Section 10) and the party or parties against whom such claims are 
asserted under this Section 10 shall be, for the purposes of this Agreement, referred to as the "Indemnifying Party." All claims by any 
Indemnified Party under this Section 10 shall be asserted and resolved as follows:  

(a) Notice of Claims. In the event that (i) any claim, action, suit, arbitration, hearing or proceeding is asserted or instituted against any 
Indemnified Party by any Person other than the parties to this Agreement or their Affiliates which could give rise to Damages for which an 
Indemnifying Party could be liable to an Indemnified Party for Damages under this Agreement (such claim, demand or Proceeding, a "Third 
Party Claim") or (ii) any Indemnified Party under this Agreement shall have a claim to be indemnified for Damages by any Indemnifying Party 
under this Agreement which does not involve a Third Party Claim (such claim, a "Direct Claim" and, together with Third Party Claims, 
"Claims"), the Indemnified Party shall with reasonable promptness and in any event within 10 business days of becoming aware of such Claim 
send to the Indemnifying Party a written notice specifying in reasonably detail the nature of such Claim, the amount of Damages sought in such 
Claim, if known, and the provisions of this Agreement in respect of which such right of indemnification is claimed or arises (a "Claim Notice"), 
provided that a delay or defect in notifying the Indemnifying Party shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations under this 
Agreement except to the extent that (and only to the extent that) the Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced by such delay or defect.  

(b) Third Party Claims. In the event of a Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to assume and control the defense of such 
Third Party Claim and to appoint counsel of the Indemnifying Party's choice at the expense of the Indemnifying Party to represent the 
Indemnified Party and any others the Indemnifying Party may reasonably designate in connection with such Third Party Claim (in which case 
the Indemnifying Party shall not thereafter be responsible for the fees and expenses of any separate counsel retained by any Indemnified Party 
except as set forth below); provided that such counsel is reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed. Notwithstanding an Indemnifying Party's election to appoint separate counsel to represent an Indemnified 
Party in connection with a Third Party Claim, an Indemnified Party shall have the right to employ one separate counsel (plus one local counsel, 
if necessary), and the Indemnifying Party shall bear the reasonable fees, costs and expenses of such one separate counsel (plus one local 
counsel, if necessary) if (i) there exists a conflict of interest (including the availability of one or more legal defenses to the Indemnified Party 
which are not available to the Indemnifying Party) that would make it inappropriate in the reasonable judgment of the Indemnified Party for the 
same counsel to represent both the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party, provided that the Indemnified Party and such counsel shall 
contest such Third Party Claim in good faith or (ii) if the Claim seeks injunctive relief which, if granted could materially and adversely affect 
the  
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Indemnified Party or its Affiliates. The Indemnified Party shall cooperate with the Indemnifying Party and its counsel in such defense and 
make available to the Indemnifying Party all witnesses, records, materials, and information in the Indemnified Party's possession or under the 
Indemnified Party's control relating thereto as may be reasonably requested by the Indemnifying Party. In the event the Indemnifying Party 
fails to assume the defense of such Third Party Claim within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice thereof in accordance with the terms hereof, 
(i) the Indemnified Party against which such Third Party Claim has been asserted shall have the right to undertake the defense, compromise or 
settlement of such Third Party Claim on behalf of, at the expense of and for the account and risk of the Indemnifying Party using one counsel, 
plus one local counsel, if necessary, and (ii) the Indemnifying Party agrees to cooperate with the Indemnified Party in such defense and make 
available to the Indemnified Party, all witnesses, records, materials and information in the Indemnifying Party's possession or under the 
Indemnifying Party's control relating thereto as may be reasonably requested by the Indemnified Party.  

(c) Settlement of Third Party Claims. In connection with the settlement or compromise of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall 
not, without the written consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), (i) settle or 
compromise any Third Party Claims or consent to the entry of any judgment which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the 
delivery by the claimant or plaintiff to the Indemnified Party of a written release from all liability in respect of such Third Party Claim of all 
Indemnified Parties affected by such Third Party Claim or (ii) settle or compromise any Third Party Claim if the settlement or compromise 
imposes equitable remedies or material obligations on the Indemnified Party other than financial obligations for which such Indemnified Party 
will be indemnified hereunder or (iii) settle or compromise any Third Party Claim if the Indemnified Party will be required to make any 
payment with respect to such compromise or settlement due to the application of the limitations of Section  
10.5. No Third Party Claim which is being defended in good faith by the Indemnifying Party or which is being defended by the Indemnified 
Party in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be settled or compromised by the Indemnified Party without the written consent of 
the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed); provided, however, if a Third Party Claim is being 
defended by an Indemnified Party pursuant to the last sentence of clause (b) above (unless the Indemnifying Party and Indemnified Party 
mutually agree that the Indemnified Party shall defend such Third Party Claim), the limitations on the Indemnified Party's right to settle or 
compromise set forth in this clause (c) shall not apply to such Indemnified Party, unless the Indemnifying Party has been advancing (in a timely 
manner) payment of such Indemnified Party's costs and expenses associated with such defense (subject to the undertaking of the Indemnified 
Party to reimburse such advances in the event such costs of defense are not ultimately to be indemnifiable under this Section 10).  

(d) Reduction of Damages.  

(i) To the extent any Damages of an Indemnified Party are reduced by receipt of payment under insurance policies, which payments are not 
subject to retroactive adjustment or other reimbursement to the insurer in respect of such payment, such payments (net of the expenses of the 
recovery thereof) (such net payment, a "Reimbursement") shall be credited against any such Damages; provided, however, the pendency of 
such payments  
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shall not delay or reduce the obligation of the Indemnifying Party to make payment to the Indemnified Party in respect of such Damages. If any 
Reimbursement is obtained subsequent to payment by an Indemnifying Party in respect of any Damages, such Reimbursement shall be 
promptly paid over to the Indemnifying Party.  

(ii) In the case any event shall have occurred which would otherwise entitle either party to assert a claim for indemnification hereunder, no 
Damages shall be deemed to have been sustained by such party to the extent of  
(i) any actual Tax savings realized by such party with respect thereto (the "Tax Benefit") and (ii) in the event of an indemnification claim for 
Damages for lost profits, any Taxes that would have actually been payable as a result of such indemnification payment being includible in the 
taxable income of the Indemnified Party. Except as otherwise set forth in the preceding sentence, if any receipt of Damages are reported as 
income on Purchaser's or any of Purchaser's Affiliates income tax returns, Damages shall be increased by such an amount necessary in order for 
the Indemnified Party to receive a net payment, after paying any Taxes resulting from its receipt of any indemnification payment for such 
Damages, equal to the amount of Damages otherwise determined in accordance with this Section 10.4(d). The Tax losses, deductions, credits or 
other items of the Indemnified Party resulting from Damages shall be deemed to be realized proportionately with any other Tax losses, 
deductions, credits or other items available to the Indemnified Party. To the extent there is a determination (as defined in Section 1313(a) of the 
Code or any comparable provision of state, local or foreign law) disallowing the Tax Benefit, the Indemnifying Party shall refund to the 
Indemnified Party the amount of any related reduction of Damages previously allowed pursuant to this Section 10.4(d).  

(e) Access. From and after the delivery of a Claim Notice under this Agreement, at the reasonable request of the Indemnifying Party, each 
Indemnified Party shall grant the Indemnifying Party and its representatives all reasonable access to the books, records and properties of such 
Indemnified Party to the extent reasonably related to the matters to which the Claim Notice relates. All such access shall be granted during 
normal business hours and shall be granted under conditions which will not unreasonably interfere with the business and operations of such 
Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party will not, and shall require that its representatives do not, use (except in connection with such Claim 
Notice) or disclose to any third Person other than the Indemnifying Party's representatives or agents (except as may be required by applicable 
Law) any information obtained pursuant to this Section 10.4(e) which is designated as confidential by an Indemnified Party.  

(f) Environmental Procedures. With respect to Seller's indemnification obligations relating in any way to Environmental Laws, Materials of 
Environmental Concern or Environmental Liabilities, the following provisions shall apply:  

(i) If such Claim relates to the release of Materials of Environmental Concern at, on or under the Facility, the necessity for investigation or 
remediation ("Corrective Action") shall be determined pursuant to the Environmental Laws in effect at the Closing. If the Corrective Action is, 
or may be required, in addition to providing access pursuant to Section 10.4(e) above, Purchaser shall permit Seller to conduct its own 
investigation, testing or corrective action with respect to the matter, at Seller's sole expense,  
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provided such investigation, testing or corrective action does not unreasonably interfere with the operation of the Facility and the Acquired 
Business.  

(ii) Purchaser and Seller shall provide the other with the results, including analytical data, of any investigation or testing conducted by either of 
them or, if available, any third party.  

(iii) Except as may otherwise be required by Law, Purchaser shall not contact any Governmental Authority with respect to the subject matter of 
the indemnification Claim without prior notice to, and consultation with, Seller.  

(iv) Purchaser shall provide Seller a reasonable opportunity to participate in any discussions or negotiations with any Governmental Authority 
concerning such matter.  

(v) If Corrective Action is required in any such matter (pursuant to the standard above), Purchaser shall give Seller a reasonable opportunity to 
develop and implement a plan of Corrective Action, such plan to be subject to Purchaser's approval (not to be unreasonably withheld), and, if 
requested by Seller, reasonably cooperate with Seller in the development and implementation of such plan on a cost-effective basis.  

(vi) Purchaser shall reasonably cooperate with Seller in performing such tasks as Seller and its technical professionals and representatives may 
reasonably request as being necessary to complete any Corrective Action being undertaken by Seller pursuant to this Agreement, with 
Purchaser being compensated for any expenses incurred in connection therewith (excluding Purchaser's employee time). Without limiting the 
scope of the foregoing, Purchaser shall cause its employees to reasonably cooperate with Seller and to afford Seller, its agents, employees and 
technical professionals reasonable access to relevant records relating to the matters which may be Seller's responsibility under this Agreement, 
provided that such access shall not unreasonably interfere with the operations of the Facility or the Acquired Business.  

(vii) With respect to any Corrective Action undertaken by Seller, Seller shall be responsible for completing such Corrective Action only to the 
extent necessary to obtain closure or a "no further action" designation from the applicable Government Authority pursuant to applicable 
Environmental Laws.  

(g) Definition of Damages. "Damages" shall mean any and all costs, losses, (including diminution in value) Taxes, liabilities, obligations, 
damages, deficiencies and expenses (whether or not arising out of Third Party Claims), including interest, penalties, costs of mitigation, losses 
in connection with any Environmental Laws (including any clean-up or remedial action), damages to the environment, consequential damages, 
lost profits and other losses resulting from any shutdown or curtailment of operations of the Acquired Business, damages to the environment 
and, reasonable attorneys' fees; provided, that "Damages" shall not include punitive damages, exemplary damages, multiple damages, and other 
penalty damages except to the extent such damages relate to or arise out of any Third Party Claim, in which case such damages shall be 
included in the definition of "Damages." The term "Damages" as used in  
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this Section 10 is not limited to matters asserted by third parties against Seller or Purchaser, but includes Damages incurred or sustained by 
Seller Indemnified Parties or Purchaser Indemnified Parties in the absence of Third Party Claims.  

10.5 Limitation on Indemnification.  

(a) No amount shall be payable by any Indemnifying Party pursuant to Section 10.2 (a) or Section 10.3(a) unless the aggregate amount of 
Damages indemnifiable under Section 10.2(a) or Section 10.3(a), respectively, exceeds $400,000 (at which point the Indemnified Party shall be 
entitled to the last $300,000 of indemnifiable Damages accrued up to such threshold and all amounts in excess of such threshold (subject to the 
other applicable limitations set forth in this Section 10.5)); provided, however, that the above limitation shall not apply to any indemnification 
obligations of Seller to Purchaser Indemnified Parties arising from Seller's representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.1(b) 
(Authorization; Validity), the second and third sentence of 4.8(a) (Title to Purchased Assets), 4.9 (Taxes), and the second sentence of  
Section 4.15(a) (Real Property) or indemnification obligations of any party under any other provisions of Section 10.2 or Section 10.3.  

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the maximum amount of indemnifiable Damages which may be 
recovered by any Purchaser Indemnified Parties from Seller and by any Seller Indemnified Parties from Purchaser arising out of, resulting from 
or incident to the matters enumerated in Section 10.2(a) or Section 10.3(a) shall be an amount equal to $5 million; provided, however, that this 
limitation shall not apply to any indemnification obligations of Seller to any Purchaser Indemnified Parties arising from representations and 
warranties set forth in Section 4.1(b)  
(Authorization; Validity), the second and third sentence of Section 4.8(a) (Title to Purchased Assets), Sections 4.9 (Taxes), and the second 
sentence of  
Section 4.15(a) (Real Property) or indemnification obligations of any party under any other provisions of Section 10.2 or Section 10.3.  

(c) The maximum amount of lost profits and other losses resulting from any shutdown or curtailment of operations of the Acquired Business 
which may be recovered as Damages by any Purchaser Indemnified Parties from Seller arising out of, resulting from or incident to the matters 
enumerated in Section 10.3 shall be an amount equal to $6,000,000.  

10.6 Exclusive Remedy. Except as provided in Section 10.1(b) and except for equitable relief, including injunctive relief or specific 
performance, to which any party hereto may be entitled, from and after the Closing, the indemnification obligations of Purchaser and Seller 
under this  
Section 10 shall constitute the sole and exclusive remedies of Seller and Purchaser, respectively, for the breach of any covenant or 
representation or warranty in this Agreement by the Seller or the Purchaser, as the case may be.  

11. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic laws of the State of Wisconsin, 
without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Wisconsin or any other jurisdiction) that 
would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Wisconsin. No party hereto, solely by virtue of executing this 
Agreement, shall be deemed to  
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have submitted to the personal jurisdiction of any forum or waived any objection such party may have as to proper venue of any forum.  

12. NOTICES. Any notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be considered delivered in 
all respects when it has been delivered by hand or overnight courier, by acknowledged facsimile transmission followed by the original mailed 
by certified mail, return receipt requested, or three (3) days after it is mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, first class postage 
prepaid, addressed as follows:  

 

or such other addresses as shall be similarly furnished in writing by either party.  

13. EXHIBITS. All exhibits and schedules hereto are by reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof.  

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; BINDING EFFECT. This Agreement (including all schedules and exhibits attached hereto) contains the entire 
agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the transactions contemplated herein, and there are no agreements or understandings 
between the parties other than those set forth herein or executed simultaneously or in connection herewith. This Agreement shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.  
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To Purchaser:                              With a c opy to: 
------------                               -------- ------ 
 
 
Libbey Inc.                               Mark D. G erstein 
Attn:  Mark E. Songer                     Latham & Watkins 
300 Madison Avenue                        233 S. Wa cker Drive 
P.O. Box 10060                            Sears Tow er, Suite 5800 
Toledo, OH  43699                         Chicago, IL 60606 
Fax:  419-325-2585                        Fax: 312- 993-9767 
 
To Seller:                                 With a c opy to: 
---------                                  -------- ------ 
 
Menasha Corporation                        Michael Lappin 
Attn:  Art Huge                            Quarles & Brady LLP 
1645 Bergstrom Road                        411 East  Wisconsin Avenue  
P.O. Box 367                               Milwauke e, WI 53202 
Neenah, WI 54957-0367                      Fax:  41 4-271-3552 
Fax:  920-751-1200 
                                           And 
 
                                           Thomas V . Bender 
                                           Menasha Corporation 
                                           1645 Ber gstrom Road 
                                           P.O. Box  367 
                                           Neenah, WI   54957-0367 
                                           Fax:  92 0-751-1904 



15. HEADINGS. The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not constitute a part hereof.  

16. EXPENSES. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, each of the parties hereto shall be solely responsible for and pay its own 
consulting, accounting, legal, and other charges and expenses incurred by such party in connection with the negotiation, execution and 
performance of this Agreement, the related agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby without obligation to pay or 
contribute to the expenses incurred by any other party; provided, however, (a) all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the title policy 
(including all endorsements) delivered pursuant to Section 6.2(a)(vi) of this Agreement shall be borne solely by the Seller, (b) all fees and 
expenses incurred in connection with obtaining the real estate survey referred to in Section 6.2(a)(v) of this Agreement shall be borne solely by 
the Purchaser, and (c) all fees and expenses incurred by Purchaser in obtaining any environmental reports or other assessments or and 
appraisals of the Acquired Business or Purchased Assets shall be borne solely by Purchaser.  

17. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, modified, superseded or cancelled, and any of the terms, covenants, representations, 
warranties or conditions hereof may be waived, only by a written instrument executed on behalf of all of the parties hereto or, in the case of a 
waiver, by the party waiving compliance.  

18. WAIVER. The failure of any party at any time or times to require performance of any provision of this Agreement shall in no manner affect 
the right to enforce that provision or any other provision hereof at any time thereafter, except as specifically limited herein. Any waiver of any 
term or condition shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach, or a subsequent waiver of the same term or condition, or the 
waver of any other term or condition.  

19. TIME OF THE ESSENCE. Time is deemed to be of the essence with respect to all of the terms, covenants, representations and warranties 
of this Agreement.  

20. ASSIGNMENT. Except as contemplated by Section 2.3(e), this Agreement may not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise by Seller 
without the prior written consent of Purchaser. This Agreement may not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise by Purchaser without the 
prior written consent of Seller, except, Purchaser may, without prior consent of any other party hereto, transfer or assign by operation of law or 
otherwise this Agreement to any Affiliate or subsidiary of Purchaser, provided that in the event Purchaser assigns all or a portion of its rights 
and obligations under this Agreement, Purchaser hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the other parties hereto the prompt and 
full discharge by such subsidiary or Affiliate of all of Purchaser's obligations under this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof and 
Seller shall not be required to pursue any remedy against such subsidiary or Affiliate hereunder prior to pursuing such remedy against 
Purchaser.  

21. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE. Each of the parties acknowledges and agrees that the other party would be damaged irreparably in the event 
any of the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their specific terms or otherwise are breached. Accordingly, each 
of the parties agrees that the other party shall be entitled to an injunction or  
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injunctions to prevent breaches of the provisions of this Agreement and to enforce specifically this Agreement.  

22. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY. Except as provided in Section 10 as to indemnified parties and except as contemplated by Section 
2.3(e), this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted assigns and nothing herein, 
express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever 
under or by reason of this Agreement.  

23. SEVERABILITY. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any Law or public 
policy, all other terms and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal 
substance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such 
determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith 
to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.  

24. COUNTERPARTS; FACSIMILE SIGNATURE. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Each of the parties to this Agreement agrees that a signature 
affixed to a counterpart of this Agreement and delivered by facsimile by any Person is intended to be its, his or her signature and shall be valid, 
binding and enforceable against such Person.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Asset Purchase Agreement all as of the day and year first above written. 

SELLER:  

MENASHA CORPORATION  

 

PURCHASER:  

LIBBEY INC.  
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By:      /s/      Arthur W. Huge 
   ----------------------------------------- 
 
Its:     Vice President, CFO & Treasurer 
    ---------------------------------------- 

By:      /s/      Arthur H. Smith 
   ----------------------------------------- 
 
Its: Vice President 
    ---------------------------------------- 
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STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT  

This Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2002 (this "AGREEMENT"), is between BSN Glasspack N.V., a limited liability 
company (naamloze vennootschap) organized under the Laws of the Netherlands and having its registered seat at Schiedam and its principal 
place of business at Buitenhavenweg 116, 3113 BE Schiedam (the "SELLER") and Saxophone B.V., a limited liability company (besloten 
vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) organized under the Laws of the Netherlands and having its registered seat at Amsterdam and its 
principal place of business at Koningslaan 34, 1075 AD Amsterdam (the "PURCHASER"). The Seller and the Purchaser are referred to herein 
collectively as the "PARTIES" and individually as a "PARTY".  

RECITALS  

A. The Seller is the owner of all of the shares in the capital, consisting of eight hundred and twenty (820) registered shares with a nominal 
value of Euro 100 (one hundred euro) each and numbered 1 to 820 (the "SHARES"), of B.V. Koninklijke Nederlandsche Glasfabriek Leerdam, 
a limited liability company (besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) organized under the Laws of the Netherlands and having 
its registered seat at Leerdam and its principal place of business at Lingedijk 8, 4142 LD Leerdam (the "COMPANY"). The Company has a 
debt owed under a current account maintained with the Seller amounting to Euro 31,217,051.57 (including accrued interest through December 
27, 2002) as of the date hereof (the "DEBT").  

B. The Purchaser has conducted a due diligence investigation of the Company and, for that purpose, was given access to certain confidential 
information about the Company by the Seller and the Company.  

C. The Company is the owner of all of the shares in the capital, consisting of hundred and forty (140) registered shares with a nominal value of 
Euro 100 (one hundred euro) each and numbered 1 to 140, of B.V. Leerdam Crystal, a limited liability company (besloten vennootschap met 
beperkte aansprakelijkheid) organized under the laws of the Netherlands and having its registered seat at Leerdam and its principal place of 
business at Lingedijk 8, 4142 LD Leerdam ("CRYSTAL"). Crystal has a debt owed under a current account maintained with BSN Glasspack 
Finance amounting to Euro 1,906,360.78 (including accrued interest through December 27, 2002) as of the date hereof (the "CRYSTAL 
DEBT").  

D. The Seller wishes to sell and transfer, and the Purchaser wishes to purchase, the Shares and the Debt (subject to adjustment as provided 
herein).  
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E. In light of the Purchaser's indirect acquisition of Crystal as a subsidiary of the Company, the Purchaser wishes to obtain, and the Seller 
agrees to grant, an option for the Purchaser to transfer Crystal to the Seller within a specified period of time.  

The Parties have therefore agreed as follows:  

ARTICLE 1  
SALE AND PURCHASE OF SHARES AND ADJUSTED DEBT  

1.1. Sale and Purchase. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Seller hereby sells and transfers to the Purchaser, and the 
Purchaser hereby purchases from the Seller, the Shares and the Adjusted Debt, free and clear of all Encumbrances, as well as all rights 
attaching to the Shares (including entitlement to all of the dividends related to the profits made by the Company during the 2002 fiscal year) 
and the Adjusted Debt.  

1.2. Adjustment of Debt. The amount of the Debt transferred hereunder (the "ADJUSTED DEBT") shall be equal to the amount of the Debt, 
reduced by the euro equivalent of the amount of cash transferred to the Seller pursuant to Section 4.4. Such cash shall constitute a full 
repayment of the portion of the Debt not transferred hereunder.  

1.3. Purchase Price. The total consideration payable for the Shares and the Adjusted Debt shall be forty-two million, three hundred thousand 
euro (Euro 42,300,000) (the "PURCHASE PRICE"), payable on the date hereof, by wire transfer in immediately available funds to the account 
no 30003 03620 00020117741 49 of the Seller opened with Societe Generale Paris Opera - France (SWIFT Code SOGEFRPPHPO). The 
Purchase Price amount is composed of an amount equal to the amount of the Adjusted Debt attributable to the Adjusted Debt, and the 
remainder attributable to the Shares.  

1.4. Manner of Payments. All payments to be made pursuant to this Agreement (other than the payment of the Purchase Price, which shall be 
paid in accordance with Section 1.3) shall be made in euros, for same day value, by wire transfer to the bank account notified in writing by the 
payee to the payor no later than three Business Days before the date of payment.  

ARTICLE 2  
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASER  

The Purchaser represents and warrants that the following statements are true and correct as of the date hereof, unless otherwise stated:  
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2.1. Organization; Authority; Execution.  

(a) The Purchaser is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under the Laws of the Netherlands, and has the corporate 
power and authority to conduct its business as currently conducted.  

(b) The Purchaser has the power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The Purchaser has duly 
authorized the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transaction, and no other corporate action on the part of the 
Purchaser is necessary to authorize the execution by it of this Agreement or the consummation of the Transaction.  

(c) This Agreement has been duly executed by the Purchaser and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Purchaser, enforceable 
against it in accordance with its terms.  

2.2. Consents and Notices. The Purchaser is not required to obtain any Consents from, make any filings with, or give any notices to any 
Governmental Authority or other Person that have not already been given in connection with the execution or enforceability of this Agreement 
or the consummation of the Transaction.  

2.3. Effect of the Transaction. The execution of this Agreement by the Purchaser, its performance of its obligations hereunder, and the 
consummation by it of the Transaction does not give rise to any conflict with, or violation or breach of, any provision of its organizational 
documents (including by-laws), any obligation (whether contractual or otherwise) of the Purchaser and/or one or more of its Affiliates, or of 
any applicable Law.  

ARTICLE 3  
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLER  

The Seller represents and warrants that the following statements are true and correct as of the date hereof, unless otherwise stated:  

3.1. Organization; Authority; Execution.  

(a) Each of the Seller, the Company and Crystal is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under the Laws of the 
Netherlands. Each of the Company and Crystal has the corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate the assets held or used by it and 
to conduct its business as currently conducted. The Company is duly registered with the trade register (handelsregister)  
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at the Chamber of Commerce of Tiel, and the information contained in such trade register as reflected in extracts from such trade register dated 
April 4, 2002, copies of which are attached as ANNEX 3.1, is correct and complete. A copy of the current organizational documents of the 
Company is attached hereto as ANNEX 3.1.  

(b) The Seller has the power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. The Seller has duly 
authorized the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transaction to the extent legally required, and no other corporate 
action on the part of the Company, the Seller or the Seller's Affiliates is necessary to authorize the execution by the Seller of this Agreement or 
the consummation of the Transaction.  

(c) This Agreement has been duly executed by the Seller, and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Seller, enforceable against 
it in accordance with its terms.  

(d) None of the Seller, the Company and Crystal is the subject of any current or pending Proceeding under any bankruptcy, insolvency, 
moratorium on payments, judicial composition, dissolution, liquidation or any other debtor relief or similar Laws.  

(e) There has been no proposal made or resolution adopted by any competent corporate body of the Seller, the Company or Crystal for the 
dissolution, liquidation, merger or split-up of any of them.  

(f) The minute books or similar records of the Company contain an accurate record of all meetings and other corporate action of its 
stockholders, Board of Management or Directors or other governing bodies, and any committees thereof, since January 1, 2000. All of the 
registers, account books and corporate documents of the Company have been and continue to be regularly maintained, and give a true and fair 
account of the activities of the Company as required by legislation, regulations or internal rules, subject to irregularities that have no material 
adverse effect on the Company.  

(g) The Seller has delivered to the Company, or the Company is otherwise in possession of, all corporate documents of the Company or to 
which the Company is entitled by Law.  

3.2. Capital.  
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(a) Other than the Shares, there are no outstanding shares or other securities (including warrants) issued by the Company. All of the Shares 
have been validly issued and are fully paid up. The Company has not issued any depositary receipts of shares (certificaten van aandelen). There 
are no options, warrants or other agreements or undertakings pursuant to which the Company is or could be bound to issue any shares or other 
securities (including warrants). No securities issued by the Company are listed on any stock exchange or unregulated market.  

(b) Other than the shares in the capital of Crystal that are owned by the Company, there are no outstanding shares or other securities (including 
warrants) issued by Crystal. All of Crystal's shares have been validly issued and are fully paid up. Crystal has not issued any depositary receipts 
of shares (certificaten van aandelen). There are no options, warrants or other agreements or undertakings pursuant to which Crystal is or could 
be bound to issue any shares or other securities (including warrants). No securities issued by Crystal are listed on any stock exchange or 
unregulated market.  

3.3. Ownership of Stock.  

(a) The Seller is the unconditional legal and beneficial owner and the holder of record of the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances. The 
rights of the Seller with respect to the Shares are not subject to revocation, rescission or any form of annulment whatsoever.  

(b) None of the Shares have been transferred or encumbered in advance  
(bij voorbaat), and Seller has not received any notice (betekening) of an attachment (beslag) thereon;  

(c) The Company is the unconditional legal and beneficial owner and the holder of record of all of the shares in the capital of Crystal, free and 
clear of all Encumbrances. The rights of the Company with respect to such shares are not subject to revocation, rescission or any form of 
annulment whatsoever. None of the shares of Crystal have been transferred or encumbered in advance (bij voorbaat), and the Company has not 
received any notice (betekening) of an attachment (beslag) thereon.  

(d) Other than the shares of Crystal, the Company does not own and has not committed to acquire, directly or indirectly, any shareholding or 
other interest in any corporation, partnership or other entity. The Company does not serve as director or manager of any company or entity, 
other than Crystal.  
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3.4. Consents and Notices.  

(a) Except as set out in ANNEX 3.4, none of the Seller, its Affiliates or the Company is required to obtain any Consents from, make any filings 
with, or give any notices to any Governmental Authority or other Person in connection with the execution or enforceability of this Agreement 
or the consummation of any part of the Transaction. All Consents, filings or notices set out in ANNEX 3.4 have been obtained, filed or given, 
in each case in writing.  

(b) The works council of the Company has been duly informed of and otherwise consulted on, and has given its advice on, the Transaction, in 
accordance with the applicable collective bargaining agreement and the Dutch Works Councils Act (Wet op de ondernemingsraden).  

(c) The relevant Dutch trade unions have been duly informed of the Transaction in accordance with the Dutch Merger Code (SER - besluit 
Fusiegedragsregels 2000 ter bescherming van de belangen van werknemers).  

3.5. Effect of the Transaction. Except as indicated in ANNEX 3.5, the execution of this Agreement by the Seller, its performance of its 
obligations hereunder, and the consummation by it of the Transaction does not and will not constitute a breach of the Company's, the Seller's or 
the Seller's Affiliates' obligations vis-a-vis third parties and, without limiting the foregoing, will not give rise to any of the following:  

(a) any conflict with, or violation of, any provision of the organizational documents (including articles of association or by-laws) of the Seller, 
its Affiliates or the Company;  

(b) any conflict with, or violation or breach of, any applicable Law, or to the Seller's best knowledge, any other obligation of the Company;  

(c) any loss by the Company of any Subsidy, to the Seller's best knowledge;  

(d) any breach of or default or event that, with the lapse of time or giving of notice would constitute a default, under any Contract of the 
Company, to the Seller's best knowledge, or any contractual cause for early termination of or acceleration of payment under any Contract of the 
Company, to the Seller's best knowledge;  

(e) any obligation to pay a bonus or indemnity of any type whatsoever to any employee or corporate executive of the Company, to the Seller's 
best knowledge;  
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(f) any change to, suspension, cancellation or withdrawal of, any Consent granted to the Company, or any favorable Tax or Social benefit or 
regime enjoyed by the Company, to the Seller's best knowledge;  

(g) any entitlement for any party to be released from its obligations under the terms of any guarantee, comfort letter or other similar document 
issued as a surety or in support of any undertakings by the Company, to the Seller's best knowledge;  

(h) any registration or creation of a pledge or other security interest on the assets of the Company, to the Seller's best knowledge; and  

(i) any impairment to the continued ownership and use by the Company of the Intellectual Property Rights set out in ANNEX 3.11(a), to the 
Seller's best knowledge,  

unless such events or circumstances set out in paragraphs (b) through (i) would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse 
effect on the condition (financial or otherwise), income, properties, Liabilities or operations of the Company, or on the Purchaser's ownership 
of the Shares and the Adjusted Debt.  

3.6. Compliance with Law. To the Seller's best knowledge:  

(a) The Company is currently conducting, and has always conducted, its business in compliance with all applicable Laws, Consents, Permits 
and recommendations from Governmental Authorities, subject to irregularities that have no material adverse effect on the Company.  

(b) The Company possesses all Consents and Permits required in connection with its operations as currently conducted, and all such Consents 
and Permits are in full force and effect, subject to irregularities that have no material adverse effect on the Company. There are no pending 
Proceedings to modify, suspend, terminate or otherwise limit any such Consent or Permit that would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company.  

(c) A situation or practice by or involving the Company that is not in strict compliance with all applicable Laws, Consents, Permits or 
recommendations from Governmental Authorities, shall not constitute a breach of the representation and warranty given in this Section 3.6, if 
the competent Governmental Authorities have accepted and/or tolerated such situation or practice with full knowledge of all facts and 
circumstances relevant to such non-compliance.  
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3.7. Accounting and Financial Documents.  

(a) ANNEX 3.7(a) contains complete and correct copies of the audited annual financial statements of the Company (balance sheet, profit and 
loss statement, cash flow statement and notes on the accounts (including off-balance sheet undertakings)), including the report and opinion of 
the independent auditor of the Company, as of and for the period ended December 31, 2001, prepared in accordance with Dutch GAAP (the 
"2001 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS").  

(b) ANNEX 3.7(b) contains complete and correct copies of the unaudited financial statements of the Company (balance sheet, profit and loss 
statement and notes on the accounts (including off-balance sheet undertakings)) as of and for the period ended September 30, 2002, prepared in 
accordance with Dutch GAAP and including a comparison to the comparable period ended September 30, 2001 (the "2002 FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS"; together with the 2001 Financial Statements, the "FINANCIAL STATEMENTS").  

(c) The Financial Statements give a true and accurate account of the financial condition, assets, liabilities and results of operations of the 
Company as of the respective dates thereof and for the periods then ended. The 2001 Financial Statements have been certified without 
qualification by the independent auditor of the Company.  

(d) ANNEX 3.7(d) contains complete and correct copies of the unaudited financial statements of Crystal (balance sheet, profit and loss 
statement and cash flow statement) as of and for the period ended September 30, 2002, prepared in accordance with Dutch GAAP. Subject to 
customary year-end adjustments, such financial statements give a true and accurate account of the financial condition, assets, liabilities and 
results of operations of Crystal as of the date thereof and for the period then ended.  

3.8. Conduct of business. To the Seller's best knowledge, since September 30, 2002, except as specifically contemplated herein or as indicated 
in ANNEX 3.8:  

(a) Each of the Company and Crystal has carried out its activities solely within the Ordinary Course of Business, using all reasonable efforts in 
accordance with past practice to (i) preserve the organization and value of its business, its goodwill and reputation, its relationships with 
clients, suppliers, customers, agents, public authorities and any other parties having business dealings with it,  
(ii) keep available the services of its employees, (iii) maintain all assets and properties in work-  
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ing condition, and (iv) comply in all material respects with all contractual and other obligations applicable to its business.  

(b) The Company has not terminated any business relationship that could materially affect its condition, financial or otherwise, or prospects;  

(c) The Company has not undertaken any transaction materially modifying the substance of, or the rights over, its assets, such as any transfer, 
pledge, lease, grant of license or other rights to third parties with respect to its tangible or intangible assets, except for transactions that were 
entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business (excluding real estate transactions between or among the Company, Crystal, the Seller and the 
Seller's Affiliates);  

(d) The Company has not declared any dividends or made any other distribution of profits, reserves or retained earnings;  

(e) The Company has not incurred or become subject to any Liability or entered into any transaction that is outside the Ordinary Course of 
Business and that could materially affect its condition, financial or otherwise, or prospects;  

(f) The Company has not accelerated the collection of, granted any discounts (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business) with respect to, or 
sold to third parties, any accounts receivable related to the Company, or delayed the payment of any payables related to the Company or any 
portion thereof;  

(g) The Company has not changed the collective status of its employees as described in ANNEX 3.18(b), nor has it granted any additional 
benefit to any of its directors, consultants or employees, with the exception of compulsory salary increases made pursuant to the terms of the 
applicable collective bargaining agreement;  

(h) The Company has not agreed to any merger, de-merger, spin-off or consolidation; changed its share capital, issued any securities of any 
nature whatsoever (including warrants), granted any stock options, or purchased any of its own securities;  

(i) No amendments have been made to the organizational documents (including articles of association and by-laws) of the Company;  

(j) The Company has not made any change in its accounting procedures or practices;  

(k) The Company has not made any capital expenditures in excess of Euro 1,250,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency), nor has it 
committed to purchase orders or otherwise assumed liability for a capital expenditure of Euro 250,000 individually or  
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Euro 500,000 in the aggregate (or the equivalent thereof in each case in any other currency) which remains an obligation of the Company on 
the date hereof;  

(l) No material modifications to any Contract or other arrangement between the Company and the Seller or its Affiliates have been made, other 
than as specifically envisioned under this Agreement;  

(m) The Company has not, except in the Ordinary Course of Business, (i) varied the terms of any existing indebtedness or guarantee; (ii) 
subjected any of its properties or other assets to any Encumbrance other than Permitted Encumbrances; (iii) discharged or satisfied any 
Encumbrance or paid or satisfied any Liability; (iv) cancelled, compromised, settled or otherwise adjusted any debt, claim or Proceeding or 
waived or released any right relating to its business; or (v) sold, assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of any assets; and  

(n) The Company has not agreed to do any of the foregoing.  

3.9. Real Property.  

(a) ANNEX 3.9(a) sets out a complete and accurate list of real property owned by the Company. The Company has good and valid title to all 
such property, free and clear of all Encumbrances, except for Permitted Encumbrances and except as envisioned under the agreement or 
agreements to be entered into among the Company, the Seller and Crystal pursuant to Section 5.7.  

(b) Upon the implementation of the arrangements set out in Section 5.7, each of the Company and Crystal will have a valid and subsisting right 
to use all parcels of real estate currently used (but not owned) by it, in each instance free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted 
Encumbrances. Other than the parcels falling under the arrangements set out in Section 5.7, and except as set out in ANNEX 3.9(b), neither the 
Company nor Crystal leases or uses any real property not owned by it.  

(c) There are no pending zoning, condemnation or expropriation Proceedings of which the Company is aware that would preclude or materially 
impair the use of any property owned, leased or used by the Company or Crystal.  

(d) The buildings and other facilities or installations owned by the Company are not built or situated on land not owned by the Company, 
except to the extent such buildings or other facilities or installations are built or situated on the parcels of land that are the subject of the 
arrangements set out in Section 5.7(a).  
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3.10. Movable Property and Businesses. To the Seller's best knowledge, except as set out in ANNEX 3.10, and upon implementation of the 
arrangements referred to in Section 5.7(d), the Company either owns free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, or 
uses under the terms of a valid lease or finance lease, all movable property, machinery and equipment that it uses.  

3.11. Intellectual Property Rights. To the Seller's best knowledge:  

(a) ANNEX 3.11(a) sets out a complete and accurate list of all Intellectual Property Rights that the Company owns. Except as set out in 
ANNEX 3.11(a), (i) all such Intellectual Property Rights are valid and free from any Encumbrances; (ii) the Company has made all filings, 
payments and formalities necessary to ensure its full and exclusive ownership of such Intellectual Property Rights, enforceable against third 
parties; and (iii) no license or right to use of any of the Intellectual Property Rights set out therein has been granted.  

(b) ANNEX 3.11(b) sets out a complete and accurate list of all Intellectual Property Rights that the Company uses under license, including an 
indication of which such licenses will terminate or will require renewal as a result of the Transaction.  

(c) Except as set out in ANNEX 3.11(b), the Company is not infringing and has not infringed, and is not participating and has not participated 
in any infringement of, any Intellectual Property Rights of any other Person. Except as set out in ANNEX 3.11(b), there are no pending adverse 
claims with respect to any Intellectual Property Rights, either owned or licensed.  

(d) Crystal validly uses the trade name "Royal Leerdam Crystal", as currently used, free from any Encumbrances. No license or right to use 
such trade name has been granted, and there are no pending adverse claims with respect to such trade name.  

3.12. Indebtedness.  

(a) The Company has no Indebtedness, except for the Debt. The Seller has valid ownership of the Debt, free and clear of all Encumbrances. All 
interest on the Debt through and including December 27, 2002, has either been paid or is included in the amount of the Debt.  

(b) Crystal has no Indebtedness, except for the Crystal Debt. BSN Glasspack Finance has valid ownership of the Crystal Debt, free and clear of 
all Encumbrances. All interest on the Crystal Debt through and including December 27, 2002, has either been paid or is included in the amount 
of the Crystal Debt.  
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3.13. Receivables. To the Seller's best knowledge, all accounts receivable set out in the Financial Statements and all other rights of payment, 
including, without limitation, unbilled amounts and credits extended to third parties acquired by the Company between September 30, 2002, 
and the date hereof, have arisen from bona fide transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business, are free from any Encumbrances, and the 
reserves or write-offs for bad debts in the Financial Statements have been computed in a manner consistent with past practice.  

3.14. Contracts. To the Seller's best knowledge, ANNEX 3.14 sets out a complete and accurate list of all Contracts (setting forth an indication 
of the purpose of the contract, the names of the parties thereto, and its execution date), other than Contracts solely between or among the 
Company, Crystal, the Seller and/or the Seller's Affiliates and Contracts that this Agreement contemplates will be executed in connection with 
the Transaction, falling under any of the following categories:  

(a) Contracts (including customer contracts and groups of contracts related to the same subject matter) involving the Company's obligation to 
pay, or entitlement to receive, under the normal course of such Contracts, a total amount in excess of Euro 250,000, or the equivalent thereof in 
any other currency, calculated on the date hereof;  

(b) Contracts, the term of which exceeds one year or is unlimited in duration (with the exception of labor agreements), that the Company may 
not terminate on less than six months' notice without payment of an indemnity, and that involve the Company's obligation to pay, or entitlement 
to receive, under the normal course of such Contracts, a total amount in excess of Euro 50,000, or the equivalent thereof in any other currency, 
calculated on the date hereof;  

(c) Contracts giving rise to the payment by the Company of finder's fees to the other party (or to any entity or individual connected therewith) 
in consideration for business referred to the Company by such party;  

(d) Contracts providing for the sharing of profits, the payment of commissions, or the payment of any amounts based on profits or revenues;  

(e) Contracts under which the Company is bound to refrain from competing or otherwise restricting the Company's ability to compete in its 
market;  

(f) Contracts granting exclusive rights, other than exclusive arrangements with suppliers of goods or services not related to the Company's core 
commercial activities;  
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(g) Any outstanding loans granted by the Company;  

(h) Guarantees, sureties, warranties and credit support agreements given by (i) the Seller or its Affiliates for the benefit of the Company (except 
for those that will be terminated or otherwise come to an end upon the consummation of the Transaction); or (ii) the Company, other than 
guarantees as to product performance or prepayments received, guarantees given in the Ordinary Course of Business, or guarantees to secure 
utility purchases or rental payments, but including such guarantees if to or for the benefit of the Seller or its Affiliates; and  

(i) Contracts relating to the holding and/or transfer of securities or interest in any entity or to the control or management thereof.  

To the Seller's best knowledge, all such Contracts, together with all other contractual relationships falling within the scope of any 
representation or warranty set forth in this Article 3, are valid and binding and in full force and effect, and enforceable in accordance with their 
terms. To the Seller's best knowledge, the Company is not in breach of any such Contract and has not waived any right under any such Contract 
that could have a material adverse effect on the Company, and the Company has not received any notice of breach, default, acceleration or 
transfer under any such Contract. To the Seller's best knowledge, no other party to any Contract is in default thereunder. To the Seller's best 
knowledge, except as set out in ANNEX 3.14, all Persons that have entered into any such Contract entitling them to terminate such Contract or 
accelerate performance thereunder in the event of a change of control of the Company have waived such right in writing in connection with the 
Transaction.  

3.15. Cancellation of related-party contracts and satisfaction of debts. Except as specifically envisioned by this Agreement and except for the 
Debt and the Crystal Debt, the Seller has:  

(a) repaid or procured the repayment to or by the Company or Crystal of any debt owed to or by the Company or Crystal (including, without 
limitation, amounts outstanding under any loans granted by or to the Company or Crystal) by or to any of the Seller, its Affiliates or any 
Related Person thereof, including all interest thereon, without any penalty for prepayment, with the exception of those debts that would have 
arisen from bona fide transactions between the Company, Crystal the Seller and/or its Affiliates in the Ordinary Course of Business and the 
payment of which would not have been delayed;  
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(b) terminated or procured the termination of, without any penalty or payment by, or Liability to, the Company or Crystal, all Contracts 
between any of the Seller, its Affiliates or any Related Person thereof, on the one hand, and the Company and/or Crystal, on the other hand 
(including, without limitation, arrangements for any services to be provided to the Company and/or Crystal by the Seller or its Affiliates other 
than pursuant to the Service Agreement to be entered into pursuant to Section 5.6), except for the foreign exchange contract entered into 
between the Company and BSN Glasspack Finance attached hereto as ANNEX 3.15(b), the benefits of which will remain fully available to the 
Company through December 31, 2003; and  

(c) procured the full release, without any Liability to the Company or Crystal, effective as of the date hereof, of all past, present or future 
guarantor obligations of the Company and Crystal, in any form whatsoever, including as joint and several obligor, that benefit any of the Seller, 
its Affiliates or any Related Person thereof.  

3.16. Subsidies. To the Seller's best knowledge, ANNEX 3.16 sets out a complete and accurate list of all Subsidies that (i) either impose on the 
Company any obligations or conditions that remain in effect as of the date hereof or that will come into effect hereafter or (ii) provide for future 
benefits, setting out the status of each Subsidy, including the benefits thereof and any obligations or conditions imposed on the Company. To 
the Seller's best knowledge, except as set out in ANNEX 3.16, the Company is not in breach of any of the terms and conditions of any Subsidy. 

3.17. [intentionally omitted]  

3.18. Employment Matters. To the Seller's best knowledge:  

(a) Except as set out in ANNEX 3.18(a), there are no current or pending collective or individual labor disputes with the employees of the 
Company which may materially affect the Company's condition, financial or otherwise, or prospects.  

(b) ANNEX 3.18(b) sets out, for the Company and, where applicable, for each separate branch or facility:  

(i) all applicable collective bargaining agreements;  

(ii) the compensation scheme, including premiums, bonuses, commissions, fringe benefits, applicable to all of the employees or certain 
categories thereof; and  
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(iii) the profit-sharing, incentive, stock-options, company savings and other similar plans.  

(c) ANNEX 3.18(c) sets out a list of all employees of the Company and of Crystal as of the date hereof, together with their annual 
compensation, date of hire and length of service.  

(d) ANNEX 3.18(d) sets out (i) copies of model employment agreements as entered into by the Company, and (ii) copies of all agreements 
under which certain employees or corporate officers enjoy benefits, the value of which would exceed by at least Euro 10,000 the value of those 
arising from the collective status referred to in Section 3.18(b) or the model agreements attached hereto (including, without limitation, 
increased severance pay, extended notice periods, fringe benefits, and pensions), together with a list of the names of the beneficiaries of such 
agreements and the nature of the exceptional benefits granted.  

(e) There are no existing undertakings or obligations of the Company, or by which it is bound, vis-a-vis former employees or corporate officers 
of the Company.  

(f) The Company has no obligations vis-a-vis bodies representing its employees exceeding those provided for by applicable Law or the 
collective status referred to in Section 3.18(b).  

(g) Except as set out in ANNEX 3.18(g), no pending claim has been made against the Company by any relevant authority for failure to comply 
with labor rules and regulations that is not fully and finally settled.  

(h) Neither the Seller nor the Company has undertaken to grant any benefits to any employees or corporate officers of the Company as a result 
of the completion of the Transaction.  

(i) The Company has not made any commitment in connection with any Social plan which has not been performed, nor has the Company made 
any written commitment in connection with any future collective dismissal or reorganization, except for irregularities that have no material 
adverse effect on the Company.  

(j) The Company is and has complied with all provisions of labor and Social Laws, the collective status described in Section 3.18(b), and 
individual employment contracts, except for irregularities that, individually or in the aggregate, have no material adverse effect on the 
Company.  
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(k) No senior executive of the Company has declared in writing his or her intention to resign, and no senior executive of the Company has 
resigned since the date three months before the date hereof.  

3.19. Pension and Other Employee Benefit Matters.  

(a) ANNEX 3.19(a) sets out a complete and accurate list of all pension, pre-pension, health, disability and other employee benefit commitments 
of the Company and Crystal and all payment obligations of the Company and Crystal in connection with such commitments.  

(b) The BSN Plan, a copy of which is attached as ANNEX 3.19(b), is the only collective and/or individual pension scheme to which the 
Company and Crystal are obligated to make any contribution or otherwise fulfill any commitment. The BSN Plan was implemented before 
June 1, 1999, and has not been altered in any material respect since June 1, 1999, other than as required by applicable Law.  

(c) Since the last date on which the pensionable salaries of employees of the Company and Crystal were determined, neither Company nor 
Crystal has granted, committed to or agreed to any salary increases or other adjustments to pensionable salaries that will or could result in back 
service or future service payment obligations other than as provided in the applicable collective bargaining agreements disclosed in ANNEX 
3.18(b) for employees falling under the provisions of the applicable collective bargaining agreements.  

(d) The BSN Plan and former collective and individual pension, health, disability or similar schemes of the Company or Crystal or applicable 
to the Company's or Crystal's employees (each a "FORMER PLAN") are and have been in material compliance with applicable Law, except for 
irregularities that have no material adverse effect on the Company, Crystal, the BSN Plan or Former Plan, as appropriate.  

(e) All contributions due to the BSN Plan under applicable contract or Law are and have been made in full, and all other obligations to the BSN 
Plan arising under applicable contract or Law (including back-service payments) have been satisfied, in a timely manner, to the extent required 
by applicable Law.  

(f) No Person has granted a waiver of participation in the BSN Plan with respect to any of the Company's or Crystal's employees.  

16  



(g) There are no current or pending Proceedings regarding the BSN Plan or any Former Plan, or the implementation thereof, and to the Seller's 
best knowledge, no such Proceedings have been threatened in writing.  

3.20. Tax, Social Security, Customs.  

(a) Each of the Company and Crystal has timely filed true, accurate and complete Tax and Social reports, returns and notices as required by 
applicable Laws, has withheld from its employees and timely paid to the appropriate Governmental Authority proper and accurate amounts for 
all periods through the date hereof as required by applicable Tax withholding provisions of applicable Laws, and has otherwise complied with 
all applicable Tax and Social Laws.  

(b) Each of the Company and Crystal has timely paid all Taxes and Social Charges that became due before the date hereof. Each of the 
Company and Crystal has fully, duly and timely paid all corporate income taxes due on its share of the taxable profits of the current fiscal unity 
among the Company, Crystal, the Seller and certain of the Seller's Affiliates (the "FISCAL UNITY") for Dutch corporate income tax purposes 
(vennootschapsbelasting). The Seller has repaid, or caused the repayment of, all advances made by the Company or Crystal to other members 
of the Fiscal Unity for Taxes with respect to the fiscal year 2002.  

(c) Except as set forth in ANNEX 3.20(c), to the Seller's best knowledge, (i) none of the Company, Crystal, the Seller and the Seller's Affiliates 
has received any written information request, notice of initiation of an audit or inquiry or similar written notice from any Tax or Social 
authorities or bodies relating to any Taxes for which the Company or Crystal is or may be liable, and (ii) no such audit or inquiry has been 
initiated.  

(d) Neither the Company nor Crystal enjoys or has enjoyed any Tax or Social benefit, favorable regime or Consent in consideration for or 
subject to undertakings or obligations by which either of them is still bound. Neither the Company nor Crystal owns any asset (i) the tax value 
of which is materially less than its net book value, (ii) which is subject to any holding obligation, or (iii) to which any latent or contingent Tax 
or Social Liability not shown in the Financial Statements is attached. The information provided and the representations made to the Tax or 
Social authorities by the Company or Crystal in connection with the obtaining of any Tax or Social benefits, favorable regimes or Consents 
enjoyed by it were true, accurate and complete. The profit-sharing, incentive, stock-options, company sav-  

17  



ings and other similar plans enjoyed by the Company's and Crystal's employees qualify for the Tax and Social exemptions normally applicable 
to them.  

(e) To the Seller's best knowledge, and except as indicated in ANNEX 3.20(e), neither the Company nor Crystal will incur any Tax burden as a 
result of the termination, subsequent to or as a result of the sale of the Shares or otherwise as a result of the Transaction, of any fiscal unity 
regime applicable to it.  

(f) Neither the Company nor Crystal is entitled to any corporate income Tax receivables.  

(g) A complete and accurate list of the Tax elections made by the Company and Crystal (including, but not limited to, elections related to fiscal 
unity regimes for corporate income tax and V.A.T.) is attached as ANNEX 3.20(g), together with copies of the fiscal unity decree 
(beschikking) for corporate income tax purposes and the fiscal unity decree for V.A.T. purposes.  

(h) Except as a result of the fiscal unity election and the fiscal unity degree set out in ANNEX 3.20(g), neither the Company nor Crystal has 
assumed or is bound to assume the Tax Liabilities of any other Person or to indemnify such Person for such Tax Liabilities other than as 
required by applicable Law.  

3.21. Litigation. Except as set out in ANNEX 3.21, there are no current or pending Proceedings to which the Company is a party or in which 
the Company is otherwise involved, and to the Seller's best knowledge, no such Proceedings have been threatened in writing. There are no 
Judgments in force or outstanding against the Company that impose ongoing or future obligations on the Company.  

3.22. Product Liability. To the Seller's best knowledge, the Company has not been ordered or requested by any governmental or judicial 
authority, or by any professional or consumer body whatsoever, to recall any product manufactured or marketed by it, or to inform the users 
thereof of the existence of any defect in any such product or danger caused by, or related to, its use.  

3.23. Bank Accounts and Signature Powers. To the Seller's best knowledge, ANNEX 3.23 sets out a complete and accurate list of the bank 
accounts and safe deposit boxes opened in the name of the Company, with the names of the persons authorized to operate such accounts or to 
have access to such deposit boxes, as well as a list of all of the powers of attorney granted by the Company with a description of the powers 
thus granted, their term and the positions occupied by the persons to whom they have been granted.  
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3.24. Intermediaries. All negotiations relating to this Agreement have been carried out without the involvement of any person acting on behalf 
of the Seller or the Company in a manner that could give rise to any valid claim against the Company or the Purchaser for any broker's or 
finder's fee or similar compensation in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.  

3.25. Completeness of Representations and Warranties. The Seller has not omitted to disclose to the Purchaser any facts of which the Seller has 
knowledge that would be necessary to make the information contained in this Agreement and its annexes, taken as a whole, not misleading.  

3.26. Seller's knowledge. Where the above representations and warranties are subject to the Seller's knowledge, the Seller's knowledge shall 
mean (i) the Seller's actual knowledge; (ii) knowledge of the Company, Crystal and their businesses that a reasonably prudent Person wholly 
owning companies of a comparable size and type has; (iii) knowledge that the Seller, using reasonably diligent efforts to obtain from the 
Company and Crystal all relevant information, would have; and (iv) knowledge that the Seller could reasonably be expected to have in its 
capacity as a co-owner and co-operator of the site at Leerdam.  

ARTICLE 4  
COVENANTS OF THE PURCHASER  

4.1. Best efforts undertaking. In case any further action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, the Purchaser 
shall use its best efforts to take or cause to be taken any such action.  

4.2. Confidentiality. For three years following the date hereof, the Purchaser shall refrain, and shall cause its Affiliates to refrain, from using in 
the manufacture of glass packaging (glass containers) or providing any third party (except for its advisors and bankers) any Confidential 
Information about the Seller or its Affiliates obtained in the course of negotiating the Transaction, other than as required by applicable Law or 
to enforce its rights under this Agreement.  

4.3. Non-solicitation. For two years following the date hereof, the Purchaser shall not employ or solicit for employment, either directly or 
indirectly, management employees of the Seller (except for such employees whose employment has been terminated by the Seller and for a 
cause not pertaining to the employees concerned), or incite any of those employees to leave any position they occupy now or in the future with 
the Seller.  
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This prohibition shall not apply to advertisements placed in publications in general circulation.  

4.4. Transfer of cash.  

(a) The Purchaser shall, within five Business Days after the date hereof, cause the Company to transfer to the Seller the cash balance credited 
on the bank accounts of the Company as of the close of business on the Business Day preceding the date hereof, excluding any amounts paid to 
the Company before the date hereof pursuant to  
Section 3.20(b), in full repayment of the portion of the Debt not transferred hereunder.  

(b) The Purchaser shall, within five Business Days after the date hereof, cause Crystal to transfer to BSN Glasspack Finance the cash balance 
credited on the bank accounts of Crystal as of the close of business on the Business Day preceding the date hereof, excluding any amounts paid 
to Crystal pursuant to Section 3.20(b) before the date hereof, in partial repayment of the Crystal Debt.  

4.5. Cooperation in limiting application of fiscal unity anti-abuse rules. A copy of the request filed by the Fiscal Unity with the Dutch Tax 
authorities on behalf of the VG Holding B.V. (the parent of the Seller), the Company and Crystal to apply the Resolution of the Dutch 
Underminister of Finance dated February 15, 2002 (nr. CPP 2001/3580) in the event that the Dutch Tax authorities or a court in the final 
instance decide(s) that one or more transactions have occurred that will give rise to an additional Tax assessment imposed on the Seller 
according to Article 15 of the Corporation Tax Act 1969 and the 16th standard condition (Wet op de vennootschapsbelasting 1969, zestiende 
standaardvoorwaarde) is attached as ANNEX 4.5. Such request is intended to ensure that, where, pursuant to Article 15 of the Corporation Tax 
Act 1969 and the 16th standard condition, a transaction has occurred that will give rise to an additional Tax assessment imposed on the Seller 
and its Affiliates, such additional Tax assessment is limited to only those particular assets that have been transferred between the Seller, its 
Affiliates, the Company and Crystal under the aforementioned transactions. In the event such assets cannot be identified, the Purchaser shall 
cooperate with the Seller to take such additional steps as are reasonably required to cause the fiscal unity anti-abuse rule to be limited to assets 
that have been transferred between the Seller, its Affiliate, the Company and Crystal under the aforementioned transactions.  

4.6. Distribution agreements. The Purchaser acknowledges that the Company has entered into agreements with Luigi Bormioli Corporation 
regarding the distribution of the Company's products in the United States and Canada, and with Royal Doulton Canada  
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regarding the distribution of the Company's products in Canada. In addition to the payment of the Purchase Price, the Purchaser acknowledges 
and accepts all responsibility, expense and associated costs in the event that such agreements are terminated as contemplated by the Purchaser 
as a fundamental premise for its entering into the Transaction. The Purchaser acknowledges that the Seller shall not bear any responsibility for 
any such expenses and costs, whether incurred by the Purchaser or the Company. The Purchaser hereby waives any rights of rescission, 
cancellation and similar rights under Belgian law that it may have with respect to this Agreement arising out of the cancellation of such 
distribution agreements.  

ARTICLE 5  
COVENANTS OF THE SELLER  

5.1. Best efforts undertaking. In case any further action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, the Seller shall 
use its best efforts to take or cause to be taken any such action.  

5.2. Confidentiality. For three years following the date hereof, the Seller shall refrain, and shall cause its Affiliates to refrain, from using in the 
manufacture of glass tableware or providing any third party (except for its advisors and bankers) any Confidential Information about the 
Purchaser, its Affiliates, the Company or Crystal obtained in the course of negotiating the Transaction, other than as required by applicable 
Law or to enforce its rights under this Agreement.  

5.3. Non-competition and non-solicitation.  

(a) For three years following the date hereof, the Seller shall not (except as permitted by Section 5.3(b)) undertake, directly or indirectly, 
personally or through other individuals or entities, whether or not for compensation, throughout the world, any activity that might compete with 
the Company and/or Crystal.  

(b) The Seller shall be entitled to purchase equity interests or assets of a third party that would otherwise result in a breach of Section 5.3(a), 
provided that (i) the portion of the business so acquired that competes with the Company and/or Crystal (the "COMPETING BUSINESS") had 
an average annual turnover for the three years preceding such acquisition of no more thanEuro30 million; and (ii) the Competing Business 
represented no more than 25% of the average annual turnover of the acquired business as a whole for the three years preceding such 
acquisition. Promptly following the acquisition of any Competing Business authorized hereunder, the Seller shall grant the Purchaser an option, 
to remain available for  
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25 Business Days, to purchase the Competing Business in cash at fair market value, as determined by an investment banker of international 
repute selected by the Seller. If the Purchaser does not exercise such option within 25 Business Days of the Purchaser's receipt of the option, 
the Seller shall use its best efforts to sell the Competing Business to a third party within six months of the consummation of the Seller's 
acquisition of the Competing Business. Before agreeing to any sale of the Competing Business for a price less than that determined by the 
investment banker pursuant to this section, the Seller shall offer the Competing Business to the Purchaser for such price. If the Purchaser does 
not accept such offer within 25 Business Days of its receipt of such offer, the Seller may proceed with the sale to a third party; provided, 
however, that if the sale to the third party is not consummated within six months after the Purchaser's rejection of such offer, the procedure 
contemplated in the preceding sentence shall be applicable before any sale can be made. For the avoidance of doubt, the procedures set out in 
this Section 5.3(b) shall apply to any Competing Business acquired within the three-year period referred to in Section 5.3(a), regardless of 
whether such procedures extend beyond such three-year period.  

(c) For two years following the date hereof, the Seller shall not employ or solicit for employment, either directly or indirectly, management 
employees of the Company or Crystal (except for such employees whose employment has been terminated by the Company or Crystal and for 
a cause not pertaining to the employees concerned), or incite any of those employees to leave any position they occupy now or in the future 
with the Company or Crystal. This prohibition shall not apply to advertisements placed in publications in general circulation.  

5.4. Pension Matters.  

(a) As of the date hereof, the coverage of the Eligible Employees for the benefits provided through the BSN Fund Foundation shall terminate, 
without prejudice to any rights under the BSN Plan and under this Agreement.  

(b) As soon as reasonably practicable after the date hereof, the Purchaser shall establish a defined benefit plan providing the Eligible 
Employees with benefits comparable to those granted under the BSN Plan (the "PURCHASER'S PLAN") by implementing such actions as 
might be required to that effect, including (i) the incorporation of a foundation (stichting) (the "RL PENSION FOUNDATION") as referred to 
in Section 2.1(b) of the Dutch Pensions Act, (ii) the establishment of pension regulations (a pensioenreglement) in accordance with the Dutch 
Pensions Act, and (iii) the execution of an agreement between the RL Pension Foundation and the Com-  
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pany and Crystal, as appropriate, as referred to in Section 3a of the Dutch Pensions Act.  

(c) (i) The Seller shall seek to have the BSN Fund Foundation establish as of the Reference Date on its books and records (without having to 
segregate any actual assets) a separate account (the "Account"), to which shall be credited:  

(A) an amount of assets (reflecting proportionally the combination of total fixed income and non-fixed income assets managed by the BSN 
Fund Foundation as of the Reference Date) equal to one hundred and five percent (105%) of the aggregate value of the vested and accrued 
pension obligations as of the Reference Date with respect to Eligible Employees (excluding the effect of any increase in their salaries for 2003) 
under (x) the Standard Plan, calculated in accordance with Sections 18.2 and 18.3 of the Standard Plan Regulations and based on the 
employment status and credited service at the Reference Date and using pensionable earnings based on the actual salary at the Reference Date; 
and (y) the TOP Plan, calculated in accordance with Section 12.3 of the TOP Plan Regulations, and, with respect to Eligible Employees who 
are covered by the transitional rules under Section 15 of the TOP Plan, calculated on the basis of an assumed TOP retirement age of 60 or 62, 
as the case may be, using the accrual rates set forth in Sections 15.3 and 15.4 of the TOP Plan Regulations, and in all cases calculated based on 
the employment status, salary (for the determination of pensionable earnings) and credited service from April 1, 1998, as set forth in Sections 
15.3 and 15.4 of the TOP Plan, of Eligible Employees as of the Reference Date and, unless otherwise provided herein, in accordance with the 
actuarial assumptions set forth in the ABTN, a copy of which is attached as ANNEX 5.4(c); and  

(B) an amount equal to the portion of the Premium Deposit outstanding on the Reference Date equal to the ratio between the sum of the value 
of the TOP benefits for each Eligible Employee projected to their early retirement age (less the TOP benefits taken into account in paragraph 
(A) above and excluding the TOP benefits accruing at 2 and 15/35%, 2 and 11/37% or 2 and 6/37%, as applicable, per year of service from the 
Reference Date onwards) relative to the sum of the value of the TOP benefits for each active employee covered under the BSN Plan (including 
the Eligible Employees) projected to their early retirement age  
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(less the TOP benefits as would be determined under paragraph (A) above and excluding the TOP benefits accruing at 2 and 15/35%, 2 and 
11/37% or 2 and 6/37%, as applicable, per year of service from the Reference Date onwards), both determined in accordance with the actuarial 
assumptions set forth in the ABTN.  

the aggregate amount calculated in accordance with (A) and (B) above being subject to adjustment as provided below.  

(ii) At any time between the Reference Date and the date seven Business Days before the Pension Transfer Date, the Purchaser may elect to 
convert all or any portion of the assets credited to the Account into cash, with the understanding that the cash proceeds from sale of the 
investments will be promptly reinvested in high quality short-term interest bearing government debt. Upon receipt of a written notice from the 
Purchaser electing such cash conversion, the Seller shall seek to have the BSN Plan convert the assets credited to the Account (or the 
designated portion thereof) into cash, in accordance with reasonable instructions as to the assets to be converted. If the assets credited to the 
Account as of the Reference Date have not been definitively ascertained at the time of such election, the Seller shall seek to have the BSN Plan 
(x) convert assets representing up to 70% (unless otherwise agreed) of the reasonably estimated value of the non-cash assets credited to the 
Account into cash, and (y) as soon as the amount of assets to be credited to the Account as of the Reference Date is definitively ascertained, 
convert the remainder of such assets into cash, in each case to the extent requested by the Purchaser and crediting the resulting cash to the 
Account. The Seller shall seek to have the BSN Plan convert such assets to cash within seven Business Days after the Seller's receipt of written 
notice from the Purchaser electing such conversion, on the basis of a valuation of such assets made at the time of such conversion to cash, it 
being understood that the Purchaser and the BSN Fund shall not be responsible for fluctuations in the valuation of such assets between the 
Reference Date and the date of conversion of such assets, without prejudice to the Purchaser's rights in the event that such assets are not 
converted in a timely manner in accordance with this Section 5.4(c)(ii).  

(iii) From the Reference Date through the Pension Transfer Date, the amount credited to the Account shall be:  
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(A) reduced by the amount of any benefit payments made to or in respect of any Eligible Employee who is entitled to such benefits under the 
BSN Plan, and who elects to transfer his or her accrued benefits to the RL Pension Foundation;  

(B) reduced by the value of any benefits transferred to another pension plan or insurance company before the Pension Transfer Date at the 
request of an Eligible Employee, following the termination of such Eligible Employee's service with the Company or Crystal; and  

(C) increased or reduced, as the case may be, on a monthly basis and on the Pension Transfer Date to reflect (x) if the Purchaser has not elected 
to convert any of the assets credited to the Account to cash, the time-weighted investment return on each category of assets credited to the 
Account from time to time over that period; and (y) if the Purchaser elects to convert some or all of the assets credited to the Account to cash, 
the time-weighted investment return on each category of assets credited to the Account and not converted to cash from time to time over that 
period, and an investment return on the cash credited to the Account at a rate per annum equal to the actual return on the high quality short-
term interest bearing government debt in which such cash is to be invested pursuant to  
Section 5.4(c)(ii).  

(d) On a day following the fulfillment of all conditions necessary to complete the transfer of assets and assumption of liabilities contemplated 
by this Section 5.4(d), including the granting of a consent by the PVK to such transfer, on which the Purchaser and the Seller may agree, or in 
the absence of such agreement 10 Business Days after the fulfillment of such conditions, (the "PENSION TRANSFER DATE"):  

(i) the Seller shall seek to have the BSN Fund Foundation transfer to the RL Pension Foundation (x) if the Purchaser has elected to convert 
some or all the assets in the Account to cash pursuant to Section 5.4(c)(ii), an amount in cash equal to the cash balance of the Account 
attributable to such converted assets as of the Pension Transfer Date; and (y) with respect to assets that the Purchaser has not elected to convert 
in the Account to cash pursuant to Section 5.4(c)(ii), assets credited to the Account and valued as of the Pension Transfer Date; and  

(ii) the Purchaser shall cause the RL Pension Foundation to assume from the BSN Fund Foundation, in consideration for the cash or assets 
transferred to  
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it pursuant to Section 5.4(d)(i), liabilities equal to the accrued benefits allocable to all Eligible Employees who are participants in the BSN Plan 
as of the Pension Transfer Date and who have consented to the transfer of their benefits pursuant to Section 5.4(i).  

If the assets and/or cash transferred to the RL Pension Foundation on the Pension Transfer Date are insufficient to meet the funding 
requirements of the RL Pension Foundation, the Seller shall not, in the absence of any breach of this Agreement and without prejudice to 
Section 5.4(g), be liable for such shortfall.  

(e) The Seller shall procure that all required filings and submissions to the PVK and other appropriate Governmental Authorities be made, and 
that all necessary amendments to the BSN Plan, the relevant provisions in the related pension regulations and the related agreement with the 
Seller are made, as may be required in connection with the contemplated transfer of cash or assets (including the establishment and operation of 
the Account and transfers to and from the Account) and assumption of liabilities described herein.  

(f) Within the later of 60 days after obtaining all required approvals and 30 days after being notified of the establishment of the RL Pension 
Foundation, the Purchaser shall notify or procure that the RL Pension Foundation notifies the Eligible Employees (except for those referred to 
in Section 5.4(k)) in a legally appropriate manner of their right to transfer from the BSN Fund Foundation to the RL Pension Foundation of all 
their benefits accrued in the BSN Fund Foundation, the consequences of such transfer (including a reference to a waiver of all claims against 
the BSN Fund Foundation) and the consequences of not transferring.  

(g) If and to the extent that the PVK or the BSN Fund Foundation does not approve the transfer of the cash or assets contemplated to be 
transferred pursuant to Section 5.4(d)(i), or is otherwise limited or restricted to do so, the excess of the amount required to be transferred over 
the amount permitted to be transferred shall be paid by the Seller to the Purchaser in cash on the Pension Transfer Date, in a manner that will 
secure for such amount the same tax treatment as the tax treatment enjoyed by the cash or assets transferred pursuant to Section 5.4(d)(i). If the 
BSN Fund Foundation does not take any other action requested by the Seller pursuant to its obligations hereunder, the Seller shall place the 
Purchaser and the RL Pension Foundation in the position they would have been in had the BSN Fund Foundation taken such action. The Parties 
shall meet and negotiate in good faith, and shall use their best efforts to implement, any steps (including modifications to the arrangements set 
out in this Section 5.4) reasonably necessary to pro-  
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cure the approval and cooperation of the PVK and BSN Fund Foundation and otherwise to implement this Section 5.4, it being understood that 
such negotiations shall not result in a reduction of the amount ultimately payable by the BSN Fund Foundation and/or the Seller to the RL 
Pension Foundation and/or the Purchaser pursuant to Sections 5.4(d) and (g).  

(h) The Purchaser shall bear all reasonable and customary costs associated with the transfer of the assets and assumption of the liabilities 
contemplated herein.  

(i) If any Eligible Employee does not consent to the contemplated transfer of his or her benefits accrued in the BSN Fund Foundation to the RL 
Pension Foundation, such benefits shall continue to be met by the BSN Fund Foundation and shall continue to be governed by the terms and 
conditions of the BSN Plan. Eligible Employees who do not transfer their accrued benefits to the RL Pension Foundation will be treated as 
deferred vested plan members for purposes of Article 18 of the Standard Plan and Article 12 of the TOP Plan from the Reference Date 
onwards. In this case, the amount credited to the Account as of the Reference Date shall be reduced by the amount that otherwise would be 
credited to the Account as of the Reference Date with respect to such non-consenting Eligible Employees pursuant to  
Section 5.4(c)(i)(A).  

(j) From the date hereof until the Pension Transfer Date, the Seller shall provide or shall seek to have the BSN Fund Foundation provide to the 
Purchaser, the Company and Crystal all information and documents concerning the Account or otherwise reasonably necessary to ensure the 
effective transfer from the BSN Fund Foundation to the RL Pension Foundation envisioned in this Section 5.4 or to facilitate the Parties' 
compliance with their obligations hereunder.  

(k) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, each of the Company's and Crystal's employees listed in ANNEX 5.4(k) (which 
includes all employees who, as of the date hereof, have been on sick leave for a continuous period of at least three months), for so long as such 
employee has not fully recovered and resumed their duties with the Company or Crystal: (i) shall be considered to be a non-consenting 
employee within the meaning of Section 5.4(i); and  
(ii) shall remain fully covered by the BSN Plan, with the Seller or an Affiliate thereof continuing to make all payments and contributions 
required with respect to such employee's coverage under the BSN Plan. If any such employee fully recovers and resumes his or her duties with 
the Company or Crystal before becoming permanently disabled, and if such employee consents to the transfer of his or her benefits to the RL 
Pension Foundation: (x) if the Account has not yet been paid to the  
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RL Pension Foundation, the employee shall no longer be considered a non-consenting employee; or (y) if the Account has been paid to the RL 
Pension Foundation, the Seller shall seek to procure the transfer of such employee's benefits from the BSN Fund Foundation to the RL Pension 
Foundation consistent with the principles of this Section  
5.4 (including the obligation to transfer 105% of the value of such employee's vested and accrued pension obligations pursuant to  
Section 5.4(c)(i)(A)); provided, however, that the Reference Date with respect to such employee shall be deemed to be the date on which such 
employee has fully recovered and resumes his or her active duties with the Company or Crystal.  

(l) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Purchaser shall not be entitled to make any claim based on the level of 
provisions, deposits or contingent assets recorded or disclosed in the Financial Statements in connection with pension and other matters 
referred to in this Section 5.4, to the extent that the Seller has complied with this Section 5.4.  

5.5. Allocation of electricity.  

(a) The Company and Crystal on the one hand, and the Seller and its Affiliates on the other, shall be entitled to share pro rata in the benefits of 
any investment in increased electricity capacity, according to their respective share of the total cost of such investment.  

(b) In the event of any curtailment or rationing of electricity through and including December 31, 2007, that would affect the Company and/or 
Crystal, the Seller shall allocate to the Company and Crystal continuously a percentage of electricity available to the Seller and its Affiliates in 
Leerdam equal to the average amount of electricity used by the Company and Crystal in 2001 and 2002, expressed as a percentage of the total 
electricity used by the Seller, its Affiliates, the Company and Crystal in Leerdam in 2001 and 2002; provided, however, that any electricity 
made available during such curtailment or rationing solely because of improvements in capacity made after the date hereof shall be allocated 
according to Section 5.5(a).  

5.6. Service Agreement. On the date hereof, the Seller shall enter into, and shall cause the Company, to enter into, a service agreement, 
pursuant to which the Seller will make available to the Company, and the Company will make available to the Seller, certain operation, 
management and procurement services, in the form attached as ANNEX 5.6.  
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5.7. Disposition of real property and certain assets.  

(a) As soon as reasonably practical hereafter, the Seller shall, and the Purchaser shall cause the Company to, negotiate in good faith and execute 
an agreement or agreements pursuant to which all real estate properties located on the industrial site of Leerdam, currently occupied 
exclusively or otherwise exclusively used by either of them (an "EXCLUSIVE OCCUPANT"), that are necessary for the conduct of its 
business as currently conducted, to which the Exclusive Occupant does not have full title and the partial or full title of which is held by the 
other (the "EXCLUSIVE USE PROPERTIES"), be leased and thereafter transferred to the Exclusive Occupant. A map outlining the Exclusive 
Use Properties is attached as ANNEX 5.7(a). Such agreement or agreements (and the Parties' conduct in the interim) shall be negotiated 
according to the following principles:  

(i) each Exclusive Occupant shall have the exclusive right to occupy and use the Exclusive Use Properties that it currently occupies and uses;  

(ii) the Parties shall make their best efforts to transfer the title to any Exclusive Use Properties to the relevant Exclusive Occupant, provided, 
however, that any such transfer of title shall be completed under arm's length conditions and after the lapse of any time period necessary to 
implement such a transfer and to mitigate in the most efficient manner any damages, whether financial or otherwise, incurred to the transferor 
and the transferee as a result of such transfer;  

(iii) any lease granted to an Exclusive Occupant in connection with any of its Exclusive Use Properties shall be agreed under arm's length 
conditions;  

(iv) each Exclusive Occupant shall bear all Taxes, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, those related to insurance, maintenance 
and repairs) incurred in connection with and, more generally, shall comply with all obligations relating to, its Exclusive Use Properties, as if 
such Exclusive Occupant were the holder of the full title thereto.  

(b) In the event of any dispute arising in connection with the implementation of Section 5.7(a), the Parties shall appoint an independent expert 
with appropriate expertise relating to the subject matter of such dispute to facilitate the resolution of such dispute. Such expert shall be selected 
by the Parties or, if the Parties fail to agree on such expert within 30 days of receipt of written notice of such dispute by either Party, appointed 
by the President of the International Chamber of Com-  
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merce at the request of either Party. The Parties shall share equally the costs of such expert.  

(c) The Company, Crystal and the Seller shall be entitled to continue the use of the properties, facilities and assets of the Company, Crystal and 
the Seller that have consistently been used jointly by them (as described and indicated in ANNEX 5.7(a)) (the "SHARED PROPERTIES"), 
according to the following principles:  

(i) The owner of a Shared Property shall grant the other user(s) access to and use of such Shared Property consistent with past practice, subject 
to such reasonable changes as the users may negotiate in good faith.  

(ii) Any user of a Shared Property that it does not own may give notice to the owner thereof of its intention to cease permanently use of such 
Shared Property. After the later of the expiration of 30 days from the receipt of such notice and the actual cessation of use of such Shared 
Property, the user giving notice shall have no further entitlement to use, and no further obligations with respect to, such Shared Property. If any 
user of a Shared Property that it does not own ceases to use such Shared Property for a period of 6 months, the owner of such Shared Property 
may terminate such user's entitlement to access and use such Shared Property upon 3 months' written notice, if such user does not object 
reasonably to such termination and resume consistent use within such 3 months' period.  

(iii) The owners and users of Shared Properties shall take such reasonable further steps as may be legally required to make effective their and 
the other users' respective rights with respect to the Shared Properties.  

(iv) No later than 30 days before the end of each year, the users of each Shared Property shall negotiate in good faith their anticipated use 
(expressed as a percentage) of such Shared Property in the subsequent year, based on past practice and any reasonable anticipated changes. 
Unless otherwise provided in the Service Agreement to be entered into pursuant to  
Section 5.6, such users shall share all Taxes, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, those related to insurance, maintenance and 
repairs) incurred in connection with such Shared Property according to their respective percentage of use. If, at the end of any year, the owner 
of such Shared Property estimates that actual use by any user deviated by more than 15% from the agreed percentage, it shall notify such 
estimate to the other user(s) in writing, setting out the particular details of such estimate, and the users shall endeavor to agree  
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in good faith on any appropriate reallocation of such Taxes, costs and expenses according to the actual percentages of use. If no such agreement 
is reached within 30 days of such written notice, the owner or the user may commence proceedings under Article 9.  

(v) Any Taxes, costs and expenses incurred solely by reason of one user's activities or use of a Shared Property shall be borne exclusively by 
such user.  

(vi) Unless otherwise provided in the Service Agreement to be entered into pursuant to Section 5.6, and subject to the allocation of costs and 
expenses pursuant to paragraphs (iv) and (v), the owner of each Shared Property shall be responsible for maintenance, insurance, payment of 
Taxes and other actions necessary to maintain the utility of the Shared Property for the other users.  

(d) The assets set out in ANNEX 5.7(d) shall be transferred to the Company according to the same principles set out in Section 5.7(a), except 
that the Company shall have the continued exclusive use of such assets without charge during the interim between the date hereof and transfer, 
and such transfer shall be for a consideration of Euro 1.  

(e) The Seller shall assign to the Company, and shall cause the Company to accept, an assignment, pursuant to which the Seller assigns all of 
its rights and obligations under two lease agreements between the Seller and Buijs v.o.f. Zand- en Grindhandel, in the form attached as 
ANNEX 5.7(e).  

(f) The map attached as ANNEX 5.7(a) is to be interpreted assuming the accuracy of the information as to ownership of the relevant parcels 
attached to such map and without prejudice to the representations and warranties set out in Section 3.9. The exclusive or shared use of the 
facilities and land of the Seller, the Company and Crystal as of the date hereof, as shaded on the map in light of such ownership assumptions, 
shall determine whether such facilities and land constitute properties fully-owned and exclusively used by the owner, Exclusive Use Properties 
or Shared Properties. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 5.7, and without prejudice to the representations and warranties set 
out in Section 3.9, the map, which reflects the Parties' current best understanding, after careful consideration, of the use of the properties 
identified therein, may be revised in good faith based on the actual use and ownership of such properties as of the date hereof, consistent with 
the principles set out in Sections 5.7(a) and (c), to the extent that such actual use or ownership as of the date hereof is not correctly reflected by  
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such map. The Party proposing any such revision shall present substantial evidence in support of any such revision within 60 days after the date 
hereof.  

5.8. Purchase of Crystal products. For each of the calendar years 2003 to 2005, the Seller shall purchase from Crystal at leastEuro 150,000 of 
products manufactured by Crystal.  

5.9. Insurance. From the date hereof until the Company and Crystal obtain replacement coverage:  

(a) The Seller shall ensure the continued coverage of the Company and Crystal for the insurance policies set out in ANNEX 5.9. The Purchaser 
shall make or cause the Company and/or Crystal to make all corresponding premium payments with respect to such insurance policies.  

(b) The Purchaser shall cause the Company and Crystal to take all reasonable steps promptly to obtain replacement coverage for such insurance 
policies.  

(c) The Purchaser, the Company and Crystal shall be responsible for any costs and expenses incurred in connection with any claim made under 
such insurance policies, including without limitation any out-of-pocket expenses, deductibles and amounts in excess of any coverage limits.  

ARTICLE 6  
OPTION TO TRANSFER CRYSTAL  

6.1. Put; term. The Seller hereby grants to the Purchaser an option to transfer Crystal to the Seller (the "PUT") for a price of Euro 1. The Put 
shall automatically expire and no longer be exercisable on April 1, 2003, unless the Purchaser notifies the Seller in writing before such date that 
it wishes to extend the exercise period, in which case the Put shall automatically expire and no longer be exercisable on or after July 1, 2003.  

6.2. Exercise. The Purchaser may give written notice to the Seller of its intent to exercise the Put at any time before the expiration of the Put. 
Upon the Seller's receipt of such notice, the Parties shall promptly take such actions as are necessary to complete the transfer of all of the shares 
of Crystal from the Company to the Seller for the agreed price ofEuro 1. Without prejudice to any rights the Seller may have arising out of 
Section 6.5, neither the Company nor the Purchaser shall be required to make any representation, warranty or covenant with respect to such 
transfer, except as specifically envisioned in this Agreement and apart from the obligation to deliver all of the shares of Crystal free and clear 
of all Encumbrances.  
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6.3. Purchase of Additional Crystal Shares and rescheduling of Crystal Debt. Upon expiration of the Put (without it having been exercised):  

(a) The Seller shall cause the holder of the Crystal Debt, and the Purchaser shall cause Crystal, to agree to reschedule an amount (the 
"RESCHEDULED CRYSTAL DEBT") of the Crystal Debt equal to the lesser of (i) the Crystal Debt as at December 31, 2002, less any amount 
repaid pursuant to Section 4.4(b); and (ii) Euro 1.6 million. Such Rescheduled Crystal Debt shall be repayable to the holder thereof in three 
equal annual installments due on December 31 of each year beginning with 2003, and shall not bear interest during such payment period.  

(b) The Purchaser shall cause Crystal to issue additional capital stock for the amount of the Crystal Debt in excess of the Rescheduled Crystal 
Debt (the "ADDITIONAL CRYSTAL SHARES"), and the Seller shall cause the holder of the Crystal Debt at the time of such expiration to 
contribute such excess amount in kind to the capital of Crystal, resulting in a corresponding set-off for the amount of the Crystal Debt in excess 
of the Rescheduled Crystal Debt.  

(c) Within one Business Day following the issuance of the Additional Crystal Shares, the Seller shall cause the holder of the Additional Crystal 
Shares to sell the Additional Crystal Shares to the Purchaser or the Company, at the Purchaser's direction, and the Purchaser shall purchase or 
cause the Company to purchase the Additional Crystal Shares for a price of Euro 1.  

(d) The Purchaser shall cause the Company to assume or guarantee Crystal's obligations under this Section 6.3 within 15 days after the date 
hereof. Following the expiration of the Put, the Parties shall promptly take such actions as are necessary to complete the transfer of the 
Additional Crystal Shares to the Purchaser or the Company, at the Purchaser's direction, and the rescheduling of the Rescheduled Crystal Debt.  

6.4. Extension of Put. If the Purchaser elects to extend the Put pursuant to  
Section 6.1 beyond March 31, 2003, the Purchaser shall pay to the Seller an amount in consideration for the extension of the Put corresponding 
to the interest that would be payable on the Rescheduled Crystal Debt from and including April 1, 2003 through (a) if the Put is subsequently 
exercised, the date on which the Put is exercised; or (b) if the Put is not subsequently exercised, June 30, 2002, in either case calculated at a rate 
based on the actual average weighted cost incurred by BSN Glasspack Finance in obtaining external financing, plus a margin equal to that 
invoiced by BSN Glasspack Finance to its Affili-  
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ates, consistent with past practice. Such amount shall be payable on the date of exercise or expiration of the Put, as applicable.  

6.5. Management of Crystal. From the date hereof until the earlier of the date on which the Put is exercised and the date on which the Put 
expires:  

(a) The Purchaser shall manage or shall cause the Company to manage the business of Crystal, and shall cause Crystal to conduct its affairs in 
the Ordinary Course of Business, using all reasonable efforts in accordance with past practice to (i) preserve the organization and value of its 
business, its goodwill and reputation, its relationships with clients, suppliers, customers, agents, public authorities and any other parties having 
business dealings with it,  
(ii) keep available the services of its employees, (iii) maintain all assets and properties in working condition, and (iv) comply in all material 
respects with all contractual and other obligations applicable to its business.  

(b) The Purchaser shall not and shall cause the Company not to take any action with respect to Crystal, and shall cause Crystal not to take any 
action, outside the Ordinary Course of Business without the Seller's written consent.  

(c) The Purchaser shall provide or shall cause the Company to provide to the Seller the monthly financial statements of Crystal in a timely 
fashion. The Seller shall submit any inquiries with respect to such financial statements within 10 Business Days of the Seller's receipt thereof.  

6.6. Lead Crystal Product operations. From the date hereof until the earlier of the date on which the Put is exercised and the date on which the 
Put expires, the Purchaser shall not, and shall cause the Company not to, undertake the manufacture of Lead Crystal Products other than 
through the business of Crystal.  

6.7. Trademark and trade name matters. The Seller shall use its utmost best efforts to cooperate with the Purchaser in taking all reasonable 
measures to obtain assurances (including, as necessary, from the Royal Court of the Netherlands) regarding the continued ability of the 
Company to use its trade name and trademarks containing the words "Koninklijke" and/or "Royal", whether the Company remains affiliated 
with Crystal or not.  

6.8. Consequences of exercise. Subject to the condition precedent of the Purchaser exercising the Put, the Parties agree as follows, with respect 
to the period following such exercise:  
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(a) Confidentiality. Until December 31, 2005, the Purchaser shall refrain, and shall cause its Affiliates to refrain, from providing any third party 
(except for its advisors and bankers) any Confidential Information about Crystal obtained in the course of negotiating the Transaction, other 
than as required by applicable Law or to enforce its rights under this Agreement.  

(b) Restriction of activities. The Purchaser shall cause the Company not to manufacture Lead Crystal Products at the Leerdam site until 
December 31, 2004, and not to use the trade name "Royal Leerdam" in connection with Lead Crystal Products thereafter, for so long as Crystal 
continues to use the trade name "Royal Leerdam Crystal". (c) Non-solicitation. Until December 31, 2004, the Purchaser shall not employ or 
solicit for employment, either directly or indirectly, management employees of Crystal (except for such employees whose employment has 
been terminated by Crystal and for a cause not pertaining to the employees concerned), or incite any of those employees to leave any position 
they occupy now or in the future with Crystal. This prohibition shall not apply to advertisements placed in publications in general circulation.  

(d) Seller's non-competition covenant. For the purposes of Section 5.3, the manufacture and distribution of Lead Crystal Products shall not 
constitute an activity that competes with the Company.  

(e) Sale of Crystal. Before agreeing to any sale to any third party of Crystal, or any substantial portion thereof, the Seller shall offer such 
business to the Purchaser for the price offered by such third party. If the Purchaser does not accept such offer within 25 Business Days of the 
Purchaser's receipt of such offer, the Seller may proceed with the sale to a third party; provided, however, that if the sale to the third party is not 
consummated within six months after the Purchaser's rejection of such offer, the procedure contemplated in the preceding sentence shall be 
applicable before any sale can be made.  

(f) Intellectual Property.  

(i) The Purchaser shall not, and shall cause the Company not to, object to the use by Crystal of the name "Royal Leerdam Crystal" in 
connection with the production and distribution by Crystal of Lead Crystal Products. The Purchaser shall, and shall cause the Company to, take 
such further steps as are  
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reasonably requested by the Seller or Crystal that are necessary to permit Crystal to continue such use.  

(ii) For so long as the Company uses the trademark or trade name "Royal Leerdam", the Seller shall cause Crystal not to object to the use by the 
Company of the name "Royal Leerdam" in connection with the production and distribution of the Company's products, except as provided in 
Section 6.8(b).  

(iii) For so long as the Company uses the trademark or trade name "Royal Leerdam", the Seller shall, or shall cause Crystal to, notify the 
Purchaser and the Company in writing of any proposed use of the name "Royal Leerdam Crystal" in connection with any products other than 
Lead Crystal Products, or any registration of the name "Royal Leerdam Crystal" as a trademark in any jurisdiction, at least 60 days before such 
use commences or such registration application is filed. The Purchaser may, within such 60-day period, notify its objection to any such 
proposed use or registration on the grounds that it would have an adverse effect on the goodwill of the Company, its Intellectual Property 
Rights and/or its products or the continued enjoyment by the Company of its rights attached to the trademark "Royal Leerdam", which shall be 
reasonably justified. Upon its receipt of such a notice, the Seller shall not, and shall cause Crystal not to, commence such use or file such 
registration application, without prejudice to its right to challenge the grounds for the Purchaser's objection.  

(iv) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit the Company's right to use the name "Royal Leerdam", or to require the Purchaser or 
the Company to take any steps to limit such use, except for Section 6.8(b).  

(v) The Purchaser shall cause the Company to transfer to Crystal the registered trademarks "Leerdam Unica" and "Leerdam Serica" for Euro 1 
each.  

(g) Service Agreement. The Purchaser shall cause the Company to provide the services to Crystal that are indicated in the Service Agreement 
referred to in Section 5.6 as conditional upon the exercise of the Put.  

(h) Real Property. The premises currently occupied and used by Crystal in the Royal Leerdam manufacturing building and the sales store 
adjacent to the parking lot near the main entrance to the Leerdam site shall not be considered either an Exclusive Use Property or a Shared 
Property. The Company shall grant Crystal a  
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lease (expiring on the tenth anniversary of the date hereof) for such property on market terms and conditions, to include the following specific 
provisions:  

(i) The Company shall be responsible for structural maintenance (including walls, floor, carpeting, ceiling, roof, and electrical, natural gas and 
water infrastructure) and for its share of the showroom, entrance hall, toilets and conference rooms.  

(ii) Crystal shall be responsible for structural maintenance for the sales store.  

(iii) Crystal shall be responsible for maintenance relating to the manufacturing operation, ventilation of furnaces, lehrs and any batch delivery 
systems.  

(iv) Crystal shall have the financial responsibility for any environmental remediation directly related to its activities in the leased space.  

(v) Rent shall be stated at an annual cost per square meter with an automatic escalation clause at the Dutch CPI.  

(vi) Real property tax allocation shall be consistent with the methodology used between the Company and the Seller.  

(vii) Crystal shall bear a portion of the insurance costs for the relevant buildings proportionate to its share of the total square meters of space in 
such buildings, as reasonably determined by the Company.  

(viii) Crystal shall bear a portion of the costs on other shared spaces, including the parking lots and roadways, proportionate to its usage of such 
spaces.  

(ix) Crystal may terminate the lease on six months' prior written notice.  

The other premises occupied or used by Crystal shall be subject to the provisions of Section 5.7(a) - (c) and (f).  

(i) Further obligations. The Seller's obligations under Sections 5.2, 5.3, 5.5 and 5.8, to the extent they apply to Crystal, shall no longer be 
binding on the Seller.  

(j) Pension matters.  

(i) If the Account referred to in Section 5.4 has not yet been paid to the RL Pension Foundation on the date of exercise of the Put, the amount 
credited to such Account shall be reduced as of such date to the amount that would have  
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been credited to the Account as of such date had the employees of Crystal never been considered to be Eligible Employees.  

(ii) If the Account referred to in Section 5.4 was paid to the RL Pension Foundation before the date of exercise of the Put, the Purchaser shall 
seek to cause the transfer, as soon as reasonably practicable following such date, from the Purchaser's Plan to the BSN Plan of such assets and 
liabilities as would place the RL Pension Foundation and the BSN Fund Foundation in the position they would have been in had the employees 
of Crystal never been considered to be Eligible Employees; provided, however, that the provisions of  
Section 5.4(i) shall apply mutatis mutandi to such transfer.  

ARTICLE 7  
INDEMNIFICATION OF PURCHASER  

7.1. Indemnification. The Seller shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Purchaser (by way of a payment to be made to the Purchaser or 
the Company, at the Purchaser's direction) from and against any and all Damages that may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the 
Purchaser, the Company or any Affiliate thereof as a result of:  

(a) any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of the Seller hereunder;  

(b) any breach of any covenant or agreement of the Seller contained in this Agreement;  

(c) any Liability for Taxes of the Seller or its Affiliates, including any Liability arising out of any Tax assessed at the level of the Fiscal Unity 
not allocable to the Company;  

(d) any (past, present or future) Liability of the Company on account of Social Charges, pensions or other employee benefits, to any Person 
who was employed by the Company before the date hereof but who is permanently disabled and was transferred to the payroll of the Seller or 
any of its Affiliates.  

The Seller shall not be liable for any such Damages arising as a result of: (i) the passing of, or any change in, after the date hereof, any Law or 
administrative practice of any Governmental Authority not actually in force as of the date hereof (even if retroactive in effect), including, 
without limitation, any increase in the Tax rates in effect on the date hereof or the imposition of any Tax not in effect on the date hereof; or  

(ii)  
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any matter, event, circumstances or qualifications disclosed or reflected in the annexes to this Agreement.  

7.2. Environmental Matters.  

(a) The Seller shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Purchaser (by way of a payment to be made to the Purchaser or the Company, at 
the Purchaser's direction) from and against any and all Damages that may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Purchaser, the 
Company or any Affiliate thereof as a result of any of the following events and circumstances, to the extent that they occurred or existed at any 
time on or before the date hereof:  

(i) any pollution, contamination or Release that would violate or require remediation under any applicable Law on the date hereof, the source of 
which is or was any activity of the Company or any property owned, leased, used or operated by it;  

(ii) any pollution or contamination of any land, premises or facilities owned, leased, used or operated by the Company that would violate or 
require remediation under any applicable Law on the date hereof;  

(iii) any storage or treatment of dangerous or toxic wastes or substances on land owned, leased, used or operated by the Company in a manner 
that would violate any applicable Law on the date hereof;  

(iv) any shipment or transportation of any dangerous or toxic wastes or substances by the Company or at its direction at any time before the 
date hereof in a manner that would violate any applicable Law on the date hereof;  

(v) any disposal of wastes by the Company or at its direction in a manner that would violate any applicable Law on the date hereof; and  

(vi) any failure of the Company to obtain, maintain in full force for the operation of the Company's business, submit timely renewal 
applications for and comply with all Permits required under applicable Environmental Laws.  

(b) The Seller shall be obligated to make indemnification payments for claims arising out of the matters set out in this Section 7.2 only if the 
aggregate amount of such claims exceeds Euro 1 million.  
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(c) No disclosure by the Seller or any other Person, whether in this Agreement or otherwise, pertaining to the matters set out in Section 7.2(a), 
shall qualify or limit the Seller's obligations under this  
Section 7.2.  

(d) The Seller shall not be liable for any Damages under this Section 7.2 arising as a result of the passing of, or any change in, after the date 
hereof, any Law or administrative practice of any Governmental Authority not actually in force as of the date hereof (even if retroactive in 
effect), except for orders, Judgments and decisions based on any Law actually in force as of the date hereof, but including, without limitation, 
any increase in the Tax rates in effect on the date hereof or the imposition of any Tax not in effect on the date hereof.  

7.3. Calculation of Damages. In calculating the amount of any Damages claimed by the Purchaser pursuant to this Article 7:  

(a) the amount of any indemnification or other recoveries (including insurance proceeds) paid to the Purchaser or the Company by any third 
party with respect to such Damages shall be deducted;  

(b) the amount of any reserve or provision included in the Financial Statements for Damages to which such claim relates shall be deducted; and 

(c) the amount of the Damages shall be increased or reduced by an amount such that the Purchaser or the Company shall be, after having been 
indemnified and taking into account the Tax consequences of such payment (including Tax savings or Tax benefits, including without 
limitation any Tax reduction, credit, redemption or loss carry back or carry forward), in the same position as it would have been, had the 
Damages not occurred.  

In the event that the amount of any reduction in the amount of Damages calculated under this Section 7.3(a) is determined only after payment 
by the Seller of the amount otherwise required pursuant to this Article 6, the Purchaser or the Company shall repay to the Seller promptly after 
such determination any such payments that the Seller would not have had to make pursuant to this Article 6, had such determination been made 
at or prior to the time of such payment.  

7.4. Method of Asserting Claims, etc. All claims by the Purchaser shall be asserted and resolved as follows:  

(a) Claim Notices. In the event that (i) any claim, demand or Proceeding is asserted or instituted by any Person other than the Purchaser and/or 
its Affiliates (including  
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by any Governmental Authority) (a "THIRD PARTY") which could give rise to Damages for which the Seller would be liable to the Purchaser 
or the Company hereunder (any such claim, demand or Proceeding, a "THIRD PARTY CLAIM"), or (y) the Purchaser or the Company shall 
have a claim to be indemnified by the Seller which does not involve a Third Party Claim (any such claim, a "DIRECT CLAIM"), the Purchaser 
shall send to the Seller a written notice (a "CLAIM NOTICE") specifying the factual basis of such claim and the amount or a good faith 
estimated amount of related Damages (which estimate shall not be conclusive of the final amount of such claim), all with reasonable 
particularity and containing a reference to the provisions of this Agreement in respect of which a right to be indemnified is claimed, all 
supporting evidence in order for the Seller to assess the merits of the claim and the computation or estimate of Damages, as well as the mention 
of the beneficiary of the indemnification, if any.  

(b) Time for Claim Notice. The Purchaser shall send a Claim Notice: (i) in the case of a Third Party Claim, within 30 days of receipt of actual 
notice by the Company of such Third Party Claim (or such shorter period as may be warranted under the circumstances), and  
(ii) in the case of a Direct Claim, with reasonable promptness in view of the circumstances (but in no event later than 30 days after or the 
Company first becomes aware of the facts upon which the Direct Claim is based); provided, however, that in either case any delay in sending a 
Claim Notice shall not result in the Purchaser or the Company forfeiting any right hereunder, but may result only in the deduction of an amount 
from any indemnity payable with respect to such Third Party Claim or Direct Claim, to the extent that the Seller establishes that such delay has 
actually prejudiced its defense against such Third Party Claim or Direct Claim. For purposes of this Section 7.4(b), the knowledge of the 
Company shall mean the knowledge of the general manager of the Company.  

(c) Direct Claims. In the event of a Direct Claim, the Seller shall have 30 days following its receipt of the relevant Claim Notice (the "DIRECT 
CLAIM REVIEW PERIOD") to make such investigation of the underlying claim as it considers necessary or desirable. If the relevant parties 
agree, on or prior to the expiration of the Direct Claim Review Period, upon the validity and amount of such claim, the Seller shall pay to the 
Purchaser, within 10 days following the date of such agreement, the agreed amount of such claim or Damage. If the Parties are unable to reach 
an agreement on or prior to the date of the expiration of the Direct Claim Review Period or if the Seller notifies the Purchaser during the Direct 
Claim Review Period that it disputes its liability to the Purchaser in respect of the under-  
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lying claim, setting forth the reasons for such objection, the Seller or the Purchaser may commence proceedings pursuant to Article 9.  

(d) Third Party Claims.  

(i) Third Party Claim Review Period. In the event of a Third Party Claim, the Seller shall have 30 days following its receipt of the relevant 
Claim Notice (the "THIRD PARTY CLAIM REVIEW PERIOD") to make such investigation of the underlying claim as it considers necessary 
or desirable and to notify the Purchaser whether or not it: (x) disputes its liability to the Purchaser in respect of such Third Party Claim (and if 
so, the Seller shall set out the reasons for such disagreement), and (y) elects to control the defense of such Third Party Claim. If the Seller 
notifies the Purchaser within the Third Party Claim Review Period that it disputes its liability to the Purchaser in respect of the Third Party 
Claim, and the Parties do not resolve such dispute by the end of the Third Party Claim Period, either Party may commence proceedings under 
Article 9.  

(ii) Defense of Third Party Claims.  

(A) In the event that the Seller notifies the Purchaser during the Third Party Claim Review Period that it elects to control the defense of the 
Third Party Claim, then until such time, if any, as it is determined or agreed that the Seller has no liability to the Purchaser in respect of such 
Third Party Claim, the Seller shall have the right (but not the obligation) to control the defense of such Third Party Claim and may retain 
counsel of its choice to represent the Purchaser or the Company and shall pay the fees and disbursements of such counsel. To the extent 
requested by the Seller, the Purchaser shall and shall cause the Company to take such actions, provide such information, document, data as the 
Seller shall consider reasonably necessary or appropriate under the circumstances and to cooperate with the Seller and its counsel in contesting 
any such Third Party Claim, and shall refrain from taking any action likely to jeopardize or interfere with the defense of such claim. The 
Purchaser or the Company may assist, at its expense, in the defense against any Third Party Claim with counsel of its choice.  

(B) In the event that the Seller (x) does not elect to control the defense of a Third Party Claim, (y) fails to elect to control the defense of a Third 
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Party Claim on a timely basis, or (z) having elected to control the defense of a Third Party Claim on a timely basis, fails to assume control of 
any such defense with reasonable promptness after written demand to such effect by the Purchaser, the Purchaser shall conduct or shall procure 
that the Company conducts the defense of such Third Party Claim (subject to subsection (iv) below) in good faith and using all reasonable 
means and defenses available to it or to the Company and shall have the right to retain counsel of its choice. The Purchaser or the Company 
shall keep the Seller timely informed of the development of the underlying claim. At any time during the defense of such Third Party Claim, 
the Seller shall have the right (x) to retain counsel of its choice, at its expense, and (y) to make such recommendation as it deems appropriate 
for the defense of said Third Party Claim.  

(iii) Counterclaim and Cross-Claim. To the extent reasonably requested by the Seller and related to the claim in question, the Purchaser shall 
make or shall procure that the Company makes any counterclaim against any Person asserting such Third Party Claim or any cross-claim 
against any other Person that may be liable; provided, however, that the Purchaser or the Company shall not be required to make any 
counterclaim or cross-claim that could prejudice its commercial interests. The Seller shall be responsible for all legal fees and costs in relation 
with such counterclaim.  

(iv) Settlement of Third Party Claims.  

(A) If the Seller elects to control of the defense of a Third Party Claim as provided in Section 7.4(d)(ii), the Seller shall not be liable for any 
Third Party Claim which is settled or otherwise compromised or in respect of which any admission of liability is made by the Purchaser or the 
Company without its prior written consent. In such connection, if the Purchaser or the Company receives from a Third Party or if the Purchaser 
or the Company proposes to make to a Third Party an offer of settlement of such Third Party Claim (a "SETTLEMENT OFFER"), the 
Purchaser or the Company shall notify the Seller of such Settlement Offer promptly upon receipt thereof from the Third Party and reasonably 
in advance of responding thereto, or reasonably in advance of making such Settlement Offer, and shall provide with such notice all related 
supporting documentation required to enable the Seller to assess the relative merits of the Settlement Offer. At the reasonable re-  
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quest of either of the Parties, the Parties will consult in good faith with respect to any such Settlement Offer. Within 20 Business Days from the 
receipt of the Settlement Offer notification, the Seller shall determine whether to consent to the Settlement Offer, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. If a Settlement Offer involving only the payment of monetary damages is received, which the Seller, but not the 
Purchaser, is willing to accept, the Purchaser may elect to continue the defense of such Third Party Claim at its own expense; provided that, in 
that case, the liability of the Seller shall be limited to the lesser of: (i) Damages calculated as if the Third Party Claim were settled in 
accordance with the proposed Settlement Offer, and (ii) the Damages actually suffered by the Purchaser or the Company taking into account 
the final determination of the Third Party Claim. The Seller shall not consent to any Settlement Offer involving relief other than or in addition 
to the payment of monetary damages without the Purchaser's written consent.  

(B) If the Seller does not elect to control the defense of the Third Party Claim, the Purchaser or the Company shall keep the Seller timely 
informed of any Settlement Offers it receives and any related negotiations, and shall notify the Seller of its intention to accept or to make any 
Settlement Offer it deems fair and reasonable, without prejudice to any right of indemnification the Purchaser may have against the Seller 
under this Agreement, such notification providing the terms and conditions of the Settlement Offer. Within 15 Business Days of receipt of such 
notice, the Seller may deliver to the Purchaser a notice either approving or disputing the Settlement Offer. If the Seller disputes the Settlement 
Offer and admits in writing its liability to the Purchaser for all Damages arising out of such Third Party Claim, the Seller may immediately 
assume the control of the defense of such Third Party Claim pursuant to Section 7.4(d)(ii)(A). If a notice disputing a Settlement Offer contains 
no such admission, or if the Seller does not deliver a notice within the 15-Business Day period, the Purchaser or the Company shall be free to 
enter into any settlement of such Third Party Claim, without prejudice to their indemnification rights under this Agreement.  

(e) Cooperation. From and after the delivery of a Claim Notice hereunder, at the reasonable request of the Seller, the Purchaser shall and shall 
cause the Company  
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to grant the Seller and its representatives (including professional advisors) reasonable access to the books, records, computerized systems, 
senior management, employees and properties of the Purchaser or of the Company to the extent reasonably related to the matters to which the 
Claim Notice relates. The Seller will not, and shall require that its representatives do not, use (except in connection with such Claim Notice, the 
defense of any related Third Party Claim and any counterclaims or cross-claims made pursuant to subsection (d)(iii) above) or disclose to any 
third party other than the Seller's representatives (except as may be required by applicable Laws) any information obtained pursuant to this 
Article  
6. All such access shall be granted during normal business hours, and shall be granted under conditions which will not unduly interfere with the 
business and operations of the Purchaser or of the Company.  

(f) Mitigation. The Purchaser shall use its reasonable efforts and shall cause the Company to use its reasonable efforts to mitigate any Damages 
resulting from any matters giving rise to a claim for indemnification under this Article 7, including without limitation  
(i) pursuing in good faith any claim that it or the Company may have under any applicable insurance policy or similar arrangement; and  
(ii) not taking any action vis-a-vis any Governmental Authority or other third party aimed at causing a breach of any representations and 
warranties with the view to collect Damages that would not otherwise have been incurred and that would give rise to a claim for 
indemnification under this Article 7, other than as required by applicable Law or in the pursuit of other legitimate business purposes.  

(g) Payment. Amounts payable by the Seller under this Article 7 with respect to Third Party Claims shall become due and payable immediately 
upon the Purchaser's or the Company's legal or contractual obligation to pay such amount to the relevant Third Party.  

(h) Subrogation. Upon the receipt of payment from the Seller with respect to any claim, the Purchaser shall subrogate the Seller in all of the 
Purchaser's and the Company's rights against Third Parties with respect to such claim.  

7.5. De minimis. Subject to Section 7.8, no indemnification shall be paid in connection with any claim under Section 7.1 for an amount less 
than Euro 10,000 (it being understood that claims for amounts exceeding Euro 10,000, are to be fully indemnified, subject to the terms of this 
Agreement, including the amount up to Euro 10,000), unless such claim involves a breach of a representation or warranty under Article 3 that 
is qualified by reference to the materiality of the breach. A series of claims having the same cause shall be considered together as one claim for 
the purposes of this Section 7.5.  
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7.6. Deductible. Subject to Section 7.8, the Seller shall be obligated to make any indemnification payment only if the aggregate amount of the 
claims made by the Purchaser under Section 7.1 exceeds Euro 250,000, and in such case only for the excess of such claims over that amount.  

7.7. Maximum Amount. Subject to Section 7.8, the Seller's liability for claims under Sections 7.1 and 7.2 shall not exceedEuro12 million in the 
aggregate.  

7.8. Exceptions to limitations on indemnification.  

(a) Sections 7.5, 7.6 and 7.7 shall not apply to claims arising out of:  

(i) the Seller's obligation to deliver the Shares and the Adjusted Debt free and clear of all Encumbrances pursuant to  
Section 1.1;  

(ii) the Company's ownership of all of the shares in the capital of Crystal free and clear of all Encumbrances;  

(iii) the validity of the Company's existence and Crystal's existence under the Laws of the Netherlands;  

(iv) breaches of the Seller's representations under Section 3.12; and  

(v) the matters set out in Section 7.1(b), (c) and (d).  

(b) Sections 7.5 and 7.6 shall not apply to claims arising out of  
Section 7.2.  

7.9. Interest. Any amounts due to the Company or the Purchaser, or to be repaid to the Seller, under this Article 6 shall automatically bear 
interest at a rate per annum equal to EURIBOR for three-month deposits plus 1.25% calculated on the basis of a 365-day year and the actual 
number of days elapsed, from the thirtieth day after the date of the corresponding initial payment giving rise to the right to indemnification or 
repayment.  

7.10. Deadlines for Claims. Any claim for breach of a representation or warranty under Section 7.1(a), except for claims for breach of the 
representations and warranties set out in Sections 7.8(a)(i), (ii) and  
(iii), shall give rise to indemnification only to the extent that the Purchaser notifies it to the Seller before the expiration of an 18-month period 
from the date hereof; provided, however, that claims related to Tax and Social matters can be made until the expiration of a three-month period 
after the expiration of the relevant statute of limitations, and claims for breach of the Seller's representations under Section 3.12 related to intra-
group Indebtedness can be made until the expiration of a 5-year period from the date hereof. Any claim brought under Section 7.2 shall give  
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rise to indemnification only to the extent that the Purchaser notifies it to the Seller before the expiration of a 7-year period from the date hereof. 

7.11. Release. The Seller shall not be released from any obligations under this Article 6 as a result of (a) its lack of awareness of the events, 
facts or circumstances resulting in a claim hereunder (except where expressly specified); or (b) the approval of the yearly accounts of the 
current fiscal year by the shareholders' meeting of the Company.  

7.12. Seller's activities.  

(a) The Seller shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Purchaser (by way of a payment to be made to the Purchaser or the Company, at 
the Purchaser's direction) from and against any and all Damages that may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Purchaser, the 
Company or any Affiliate thereof as a result of any Liability arising out of the Seller's conduct of activities on the property or premises of the 
Company (including on Exclusive Use Properties and Shared Properties), whether before or after the date hereof.  

(b) No disclosure by the Seller or any other Person, whether in this Agreement or otherwise, of any events, facts or circumstances pertaining to 
the matters set out in Section 7.12(a), shall qualify or limit the Seller's obligations under this Section 7.12.  

(c) Claims brought under this Section 7.12 shall be subject to Sections 7.3, 7.4, 7.9, and 7.11. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to 
the contrary, claims brought under this Section 7.12 shall not be subject to Sections 7.5 through 7.8, or Section 7.10.  

7.13. Crystal. For so long as the Put has not been exercised, all references in this Article 7 to the Company shall be construed as references to 
Crystal as well as the Company, and the reference in Section 7.3(b) to the Financial Statements shall be construed to include the financial 
statements of Crystal referred to in Section 3.7(d). Any claim for Damages pursuant to this Article 7 with respect to Crystal shall be payable 
only upon expiration of the Put, assuming the Put has not been exercised.  

ARTICLE 8  
INDEMNIFICATION OF SELLER  

8.1. Indemnification. Without prejudice to any rights under Article 7, the Purchaser shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Seller (by 
way of a payment to be made to the Seller or at the Seller's direction) from and against any and all Damages that may  

47  



be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Seller or any Affiliate thereof as a result of:  

(a) any breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of the Purchaser hereunder; and  

(b) any breach of any covenant or agreement of the Purchaser contained in this Agreement.  

The Purchaser shall not be liable for any such Damages arising as a result of: (i) the passing of, or any change in, after the date hereof, any Law 
or administrative practice of any Governmental Authority not actually in force as of the date hereof (even if retroactive in effect), including, 
without limitation, any increase in the Tax rates in effect on the date hereof or the imposition of any Tax not in effect on the date hereof; or (ii) 
any matter, event, circumstances or qualifications disclosed or reflected in the annexes to this Agreement.  

8.2. Company's activities.  

(a) The Purchaser shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Seller from and against any and all Damages that may be imposed on, 
incurred by or asserted against the Seller as a result of any Liability arising out of the Company's conduct of activities (and, for so long as the 
Put has not been exercised, Crystal's conduct of activities) on the property or premises of the Seller (including on Exclusive Use Properties and 
Shared Properties), after the date hereof.  

(b) No disclosure by the Purchaser or any other Person, whether in this Agreement or otherwise, of any events, facts or circumstances 
pertaining to the matters set out in Section 8.2(a), shall qualify or limit the Purchaser's obligations under this Section 8.2.  

8.3. Claims procedure, etc. Sections 7.3, 7.4, 7.9, and 7.11 shall apply mutatis mutandi to claims brought under this Article 8, so that references 
in such provisions to the Seller, on the one hand, and the Purchaser, the Company and Crystal, on the other, shall be reversed as appropriate.  

ARTICLE 9  
DISPUTE RESOLUTION  

9.1. Arbitration. Any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be settled finally and exclusively by arbitration 
by a single arbitrator appointed  
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and proceeding in accordance with the Rules of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce. The arbitration tribunal shall be located 
in Brussels.  

9.2. Language. All submissions and awards in relation to arbitration under this Agreement shall be made in English and all arbitration 
proceedings and all pleadings shall be in English.  

9.3. Waiver; enforcement. Any award made pursuant to this Article 9 shall be final and not subject to appeal. The Parties hereby waive all 
challenges to any such award. Any Party may present any such award in any court of competent jurisdiction for enforcement. In any such 
enforcement action, regardless of location, no Party will (and the Parties hereby waive any right to) seek to invalidate or modify the decision of 
the arbitrators or otherwise to invalidate or circumvent the procedures set out in this Article 9. The Parties understand and agree that this Article 
9 may be specifically enforced by injunction or otherwise in any court of competent jurisdiction.  

ARTICLE 10  
INTERPRETATION; DEFINITIONS  

10.1. Headings. The Article headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not be deemed in themselves to have 
any contractual value or particular interpretation.  

10.2. Sections. Unless otherwise specified, references in this Agreement to "Article", "Section" or "Annex" are to articles and sections of and 
annexes to this Agreement.  

10.3. Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

"2001 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" has the meaning given to it in Section 3.7(a).  

"2002 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" has the meaning given to it in Section 3.7(b).  

"ABTN" means the memorandum on the policy of the board of the BSN Fund Foundation (Actuariele en Bedrijfstechnische Nota) with 
attachments.  

"ACCOUNT" has the meaning given to it in Section 5.4(c)(i).  

"ADDITIONAL CRYSTAL SHARES" has the meaning given to it in Section 6.3(b).  

"ADJUSTED DEBT" has the meaning given to it in Section 1.2.  
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"AFFILIATE" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is 
controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. Before and through the execution of this Agreement, the Company and Crystal 
shall not be considered Affiliates of the Seller or the Purchaser. Following the execution of this Agreement: (a) the Company shall be 
considered an Affiliate of the Purchaser; (b) for so long as the Put is not exercised, Crystal shall not be considered an Affiliate of the Seller and 
shall be considered an Affiliate of the Purchaser and the Company; and (c) immediately upon exercise of the Put, Crystal shall cease to be 
considered an Affiliate of the Purchaser and the Company and shall be considered an Affiliate of the Seller.  

"AGREEMENT" has the meaning given to it in the preamble hereto.  

"BSN FUND FOUNDATION" means Stichting Pensioenfonds Vereenigde Glasfabrieken, a foundation (stichting) incorporated under the laws 
of the Netherlands and having its registered seat at Utrecht, the Netherlands, which has established and currently operates the BSN Plan.  

"BSN PLAN" means the defined pension plan established and operated by the BSN Fund Foundation as at the date hereof to grant or to have 
granted pensions and other financial benefits to current and former employees (and the dependants thereof) of the Company, in accordance 
with, and consisting of and reflected in, the Standard Plan, the TOP Plan, the Funding Agreement and the ABTN.  

"BUSINESS DAY" means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business 
(including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in New York and Amsterdam.  

"CLAIM NOTICE" has the meaning given to it in Section 7.4(a).  

"COMPETING BUSINESS" has the meaning given to it in Section 5.3(b).  

"COMPANY" has the meaning given to it in the recitals hereto.  

"CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION" means information concerning a Party or its Affiliates (regardless of the form of communication and 
original author of or person preparing such information), as well as any information or analyses derived from such information, disclosed to the 
other Party or its Affiliates, agents or representatives, other than (i) information that was already known to the Party at the time of such 
disclosure to such Party; (ii) information that is or becomes available to the public other than as a result of its disclosure by the Party receiving 
the information or such Party's Affiliates,  
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agents or representatives; (iii) information that is obtained from another source, provided that the Party receiving the information did not know 
or have reason to believe that the source of such information was bound by a confidentiality agreement or other contractual, legal or fiduciary 
obligation with respect to such information; and (iv) information independently developed by the Party receiving the information.  

"CONSENT" means any consent, waiver, approval, positive advice, authorization, exemption, registration, license or declaration of or by, or 
filing with, any Person.  

"CONTRACT" means any agreement, contract, commitment or undertaking, whether or not in writing, to which the Company is a party or 
made by or given to the Company.  

"CRYSTAL" has the meaning given to it in the recitals hereto.  

"CRYSTAL DEBT" has the meaning given to it in the recitals hereto.  

"DAMAGES" means all Liabilities, damages, penalties, deficiencies, expenses, fees, losses or Judgments suffered by any party (including costs 
of investigation and defense and reasonable attorney's fees), in each case after the application of any amounts recovered under insurance 
contracts or similar arrangements, other than amounts recovered under such contracts or arrangements the premiums of which are adjusted by 
an amount equal to any proceeds paid, and other than amount recovered from third parties by the damaged party.  

"DEBT" has the meaning given to it in the recitals hereto.  

"DIRECT CLAIM" has the meaning given to it in Section 7.4(a).  

"DIRECT CLAIM REVIEW PERIOD" has the meaning given to it in Section 7.4(c).  

"DUTCH CPI" means the Consumer Price Index-All Households (Consumentenprijsindex-Alle huishoudens), as reported by the Central 
Statistical Bureau of the Netherlands.  

"DUTCH GAAP" means the generally accepted accounting principles applicable in the Netherlands, as applied to the Company on a consistent 
basis.  

"DUTCH PENSIONS ACT" means the Pensioen- en spaarfondsenwet.  

"ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES" means the employees of the Company and Crystal as set forth in ANNEX 3.18(c) and any individuals 
commencing employment with the Company and Crystal between the date hereof and the Pension Transfer Date, except for such employees 
who are ineligible for the BSN Plan by reason of their age or otherwise, for  
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the duration of such ineligibility. If the Put is exercised, the employees of Crystal shall no longer be considered Eligible Employees.  

"ENCUMBRANCE" means any title defect, conflicting claim of ownership, mortgage, security interest, lien, pledge, claim, right of first 
refusal, right to use or occupy, option, charge, covenant, reservation, lease, order, decree, Judgment, stipulation, settlement, attachment, 
objection, limitation or any other similar restriction.  

"ENVIRONMENT" means soil, land surface or subsurface strata, surface waters (including navigable waters, ocean waters, streams, ponds, 
drainage basins and wetlands), groundwaters, drinking water supply, stream sediments, ambient air (including indoor air), plant and animal life, 
and any other environmental medium or natural resource.  

"ENVIRONMENTAL LAW" means any Law relating to public health and safety, worker health and safety, noise and pollution or protection 
of the Environment (including without limitation Laws relating to Releases of pollutants, contaminants or chemical, industrial, hazardous or 
toxic materials or wastes or otherwise relating to the testing, characterization, classification, manufacture, processing, distribution, use, 
treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of pollutants, contaminants or chemical, industrial, hazardous or toxic materials or wastes)  

"EXCLUSIVE OCCUPANT" has the meaning given to it in Section 5.7(a).  

"EXCLUSIVE USE PROPERTIES" has the meaning given to it in Section 5.7(a).  

"FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" means the 2001 Financial Statements and the 2002 Financial Statements.  

"FISCAL UNITY" has the meaning given to it in Section 3.20(b).  

"FORMER PLAN" has the meaning given to it in Section 3.19(d).  

"FUNDING AGREEMENT" means the agreement between the Seller and the BSN Fund Foundation dated February 26, 1998 regarding the 
funding of the BSN Plan.  

"GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY" means any government or governmental or regulatory body or political subdivision thereof (or similar 
body), whether supranational, federal, state, local or foreign, or any agency or instrumentality thereof, or any court or arbitrator (public or 
private).  
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"INDEBTEDNESS" means, in each case as determined under Dutch GAAP, any:  
(i) amounts borrowed from any Person, whether or not under normal commercial lending terms or upon the issue of bills, bonds or notes 
(including for the avoidance of doubt, all balances between or among the Company and Crystal on the one hand and the Seller and/or the 
Seller's Affiliates on the other); (ii) obligations in connection with receivables sold or discounted; (iii) obligations under foreign exchange 
contracts and all derivative instruments (including, without limitation, any interest or currency protection, hedging or financial future 
transactions) to the extent that such foreign exchange contracts or derivative instruments have been executed in connection with any 
indebtedness falling within the scope of this definition; (iv) obligations under any guarantee, counter-indemnity, letter of credit, indemnity or 
similar assurance against the financial loss of any Person, unless such obligations are subscribed to in the course of the Company's or Crystal's 
commercial activities to secure obligations other than indebtedness falling within the scope of this definition; and (v) accrued interest, 
prepayment penalties or other costs of discharge relating to the matters set out in clauses (i) through (iv); but excluding the Debt, the Crystal 
Debt and any payable linked to the operations of the Company and Crystal, including without limitation payables to suppliers and Tax 
authorities and Social and employee payables.  

"INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS" means any patents, trademarks, trade names, designs, copyrights and other similar industrial or 
intellectual property rights.  

"JUDGMENT" means any judgment, order, preliminary or permanent injunction, temporary restraining order, ruling, award, consent decree or 
administrative act of any court, arbitrator, judicial or administrative authority or other Governmental Authority.  

"LAW" means any statute, act, law, EU directive that is directly enforceable, code, regulation, rule, order, decision or Judgment of any 
Governmental Authority.  

"LEAD CRYSTAL PRODUCTS" means handmade lead crystal glass products with a lead content of at least 24%.  

"LIABILITY" means any liability or obligations of any nature, whether known or unknown, accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise, and 
whether due or to become due.  

"ORDINARY COURSE OF BUSINESS" means, with respect to any entity, (i) the usual, regular and ordinary course of the business conducted 
by such entity consistent with past practice and custom, and (ii) all transactions being conducted on an arm's length basis.  
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"PARTY" has the meaning given to it in the preamble hereto.  

"PENSION TRANSFER DATE" has the meaning given to it in Section 5.4(d).  

"PERMIT" means any permit, license or similar instrument.  

"PERMITTED ENCUMBRANCES" means (i) liens for Taxes not yet due, (ii) warehousemen's, mechanics', carriers', landlords', employees', 
repairmen's or similar liens imposed by applicable Law, created in the Ordinary Course of Business and for amounts not yet due and payable, 
and  
(iii) minor imperfections of title or minor Encumbrances that in the aggregate do not materially detract from the value of the property subject 
thereto or impair in any material respect the use of the property subject thereto.  

"PERSON" means any individual, partnership, corporation, trust, unincorporated organization, Governmental Authority or other entity.  

"PREMIUM DEPOSIT" means the amount of Euro 14,012,863, being the remainder as of the Reference Date of the advance provided by the 
Seller to the BSN Fund Foundation relating to the transitional rules under  
Section 15 of the TOP Plan.  

"PROCEEDING" means any legal, administrative, arbitration or other alternative dispute resolution suit, action, investigation, inquiry or other 
proceeding initiated by any Person, Governmental Authority or other party.  

"PURCHASE PRICE" has the meaning given to it in Section 1.2.  

"PURCHASER" has the meaning given to it in the preamble hereto.  

"PURCHASER'S PLAN" has the meaning given to it in Section 5.4(b).  

"PUT" has the meaning given to it in Section 6.1.  

"PVK" means the Pensioen- en Verzekeringskamer, the Dutch Pensions and Insurance Supervisory Board.  

"REFERENCE DATE" means December 31, 2002.  

"RELATED PERSON" means, with respect to any entity, any stockholder, member of the board of directors, member of the supervisory board, 
member of the management board or officer of such entity or any relative of any such person.  

54  



"RELEASE" means any spilling, leaking, emitting, discharging, depositing, escaping, leaching, dumping or other releasing into the 
Environment, whether intentional or unintentional.  

"RESCHEDULED CRYSTAL DEBT" has the meaning given to it in Section 6.3(a).  

"RL PENSION FOUNDATION" has the meaning given to it in Section 5.4(b).  

"SELLER" has the meaning given to it in the preamble hereto.  

"SETTLEMENT OFFER" has the meaning given to it in Section 7.4(d)(iv)(A).  

"SHARED PROPERTY" has the meaning given to it in Section 5.7(b).  

"SHARES" has the meaning given to it in the recitals hereto.  

"SOCIAL" means related to Social Charges.  

"SOCIAL CHARGE" means any social security contribution and any other charge or liability relating to employment, including contributions 
relating to unemployment, medical costs, disability, death, pensions, retirement and vacation.  

"STANDARD PLAN" means the defined pension plan established and operated by the BSN Fund Foundation in accordance with, and 
consisting of and as reflected in, the Standard Plan Regulations, the Funding Agreement and the ABTN.  

"STANDARD PLAN REGULATIONS" means the Basis-Reglement of the BSN Fund Foundation.  

"SUBSIDY" means any governmental, quasi-governmental or other public and private grant or subsidy that provides any reimbursement, 
refund, abatement, Tax reduction bonus, Tax exemption, Tax discounted loan, Tax rebate or other Tax advantage or Tax benefit.  

"TAX" and "TAXES" mean any taxes and more generally any mandatory levies (including their principal amount and, as the case may be, 
penalties, surcharges and interest thereon) whatever their legal characterization and beneficiary may be, including, without limitation: (i) 
corporation taxes, withholding taxes, Value Added Tax (V.A.T.), excise taxes, property taxes, business taxes, custom duties, transfer and 
contribution taxes, stamp duty, registration taxes and any taxes based on salaries,  
(ii) any duty paid in consideration for a service provided to the Company, (iii) any Liability of the Company determined on the basis of any tax 
or by reference to any taxable basis,  
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and (iv) any tax due by a person other than the Company and for which the Company would be liable, in particular as a result of any joint and 
several obligation with such person, any obligation to hold harmless and indemnify such person, and any obligation to bear the taxes of such 
person (in particular as a result of a tax consolidation or any similar agreement). Where used as an adjective, "TAX" means related to Taxes.  

"THIRD PARTY" has the meaning given to it in Section 7.4(a).  

"THIRD PARTY CLAIM" has the meaning given to it in Section 7.4(a).  

"THIRD PARTY CLAIM REVIEW PERIOD" has the meaning given to it in Section 7.4(d)(i).  

"TOP PLAN" means the defined pension plan established and operated by the BSN Fund Foundation in accordance with, and consisting of and 
as reflected in, the TOP Plan Regulations, the Funding Agreement and the ABTN.  

"TOP PLAN REGULATIONS" means the TOP-Reglement of the BSN Fund Foundation.  

"TRANSACTION" means the sale and transfer of the Shares and the Adjusted Debt and the grant of the Put pursuant to this Agreement and all 
(i) actions to be taken and (ii) transactions and agreements to be entered into and carried out, pursuant to this Agreement.  

ARTICLE 11  
GENERAL PROVISIONS  

11.1. Cooperation. Each of the Parties shall make every effort to ensure that all measures necessary or useful for the completion of the 
Transaction are taken in a timely manner. Each of the Parties shall also take all necessary steps to permit the other party and its attorneys to 
ascertain the satisfactory performance of all of its undertakings made herein.  

11.2. Announcements. After the date hereof, each Party shall use its best efforts to consult in good faith the other Party before the issuance or 
publication of any press release or other announcement with respect to this Agreement or the Transaction. No Party shall issue or publish any 
such press release or other announcement before January 6, 2003, without the written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event any such press release or announcement is required by or warranted (in the 
opinion of legal counsel) under applicable Law to be made by the Party proposing to issue the same, such Party may issue  
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such press release or announcement, provided that it uses its best efforts to consult in good faith the other Party before such issuance.  

11.3. Assignment. This Agreement and the rights and obligations arising out of it shall not be transferable, either in whole or in part, without 
the prior written consent of the other Parties.  

11.4. Third Party Beneficiaries. Provided that the Company complies with and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement in the same manner as if it had been the Purchaser, the Parties intend the Company to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement 
and for it to remain a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement, notwithstanding any sale of the Shares to any third party. Provided that the Put 
is not exercised, and provided that Crystal complies with and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement in the same 
manner as if it had been the Purchaser, the Parties intend Crystal to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement and for it to remain a third-
party beneficiary of this Agreement, notwithstanding any sale of the shares of Crystal to any third party. Except for the foregoing, nothing 
expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give any Person other than the Parties and their 
successors and assigns any rights or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement.  

11.5. Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the annexes hereto) represents the entire agreement existing between the Parties relative to 
the subject matter hereof and supersedes all previous negotiations, discussions, correspondence, communications, understandings and 
agreements between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement may not be amended except by a written 
instrument signed by the Parties.  

11.6. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid in whole or in part, the validity of the remaining provisions of the 
Agreement shall not be affected thereby. In such event, the Parties shall, to the extent possible, substitute for such invalid provision a valid 
provision corresponding to the spirit and purpose thereof.  

11.7. Notices and Communications. All notices and other communications required under or in connection with this Agreement shall be in 
writing and, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person, on the date of 
confirmed delivery by a nationally recognized overnight courier service, or in any other case upon actual receipt by the intended recipient. All 
such notices and other communications shall be dispatched to the appropriate party at the address specified below:  
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If to the Purchaser, to:  

Libbey Inc.  
c/o Director of Corporate Business Development 300 Madison Avenue  
Toledo, OH 43604  

If to the Seller, to:  

BSN Glasspack N.V.  
c/o Rene Leenders  
Buitenhavenweg 116  
3113 BE Schiedam, The Netherlands  

or to such other addressee as the addressees above shall indicate to the other Parties in accordance with the provisions of this section.  

11.8. Costs. Unless otherwise stipulated herein, each Party shall be responsible for the payment of all fees and costs incurred by it in connection 
with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the fees and disbursements of their respective financial advisors, 
accountants and counsel.  

11.9. No Waiver. The failure to exercise or delay in exercising a right or remedy under this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the right 
or remedy or a waiver of any other rights or remedies and no single or partial exercise of any right or remedy under this Agreement shall 
prevent any further exercise of the right or remedy or the exercise of any other right or remedy.  

11.10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the Laws of Belgium.  
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Done in Brussels, on December 31, 2002 in 4 original copies.  

BSN GLASSPACK N.V.  

 

SAXOPHONE B.V.  
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by:  /s/ Jean-Yves Schapiro 
   ---------------------------------- 
Jean-Yves Schapiro 
Duly authorized 

by:  /s/ Mark E. Songer 
   ---------------------------------- 
Mark E. Songer 
Attorney-in-fact 



EXHIBIT 21  

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT  

Syracuse China Company - Incorporated in Delaware  

World Tableware Inc. - Incorporated in Delaware  

LGA4 Corp. - Incorporated in Delaware  

LGA3 Corp. - Incorporated in Delaware  

The Drummond Glass Company - Incorporated in Delaware  

Libbey Canada Inc. - Incorporated in Ontario, Canada  

Libbey Foreign Sales Corporation - Incorporated in Barbados  

Libbey Glass Inc. - Incorporated in Delaware  

LGC Corp. - Incorporated in Delaware  

Traex Company - Incorporated in Delaware  

Libbey.com LLC - Formed in Delaware  

LGMH, S. de R.L. de C.V. - Formed in Mexico  

LGFS Inc. - Incorporated in Delaware  

LGAC LLC - Formed in Delaware  

Libbey Europe B.V. - Incorporated in the Netherlands  

B.V. Koninklijke Nederlandsche Glasfabriek Leerdam - Incorporated in the Netherlands  

Leerdam Crystal B.V. - Incorporated in the Netherlands  



EXHIBIT 23  

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Libbey Inc. listed below, of our report dated January 31, 2003 
except for Notes 9 and 14 as to which the date is February 18, 2003, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of 
Libbey Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2002:  

 

 

Form S-3      No. 333-28735    Registration and Rel ated Prospectus for 2,000,000  
                               shares of common sto ck 
 
 
 Form S-8     No. 33-64726     Libbey Inc. Stock Pu rchase and Retirement 
                               Savings Plan and the  Libbey Inc. Stock Purchase 
                               and Supplemental Ret irement Plan 
 
              No. 33-80448     Libbey Inc. Stock Op tion Plan for Key Employees 
 
              No. 33-98234     Libbey Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Option 
                               Plan for Key Employe es 
 
              No. 333-19459    Libbey Inc. Long-Ter m Savings Plan & Trust 
 
              No. 333-49082    The 1999 Equity Part icipation Plan of Libbey Inc.  
 
              No. 333-88752    Libbey Inc. 2002 Emp loyee Stock Purchase Plan 

                                           /s/      ERNST & YOUNG LLP 
 
 
Toledo, Ohio 
March 26, 2003 



EXHIBIT 24  

POWER OF ATTORNEY  

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of the undersigned, being a director or officer, or both, of LIBBEY INC., a Delaware 
corporation (the "Company"), hereby does constitute and appoint JOHN F. MEIER, RICHARD I. REYNOLDS, ARTHUR H. SMITH and 
KENNETH G. WILKES, with full power to each of them to act alone, as the true and lawful attorneys and agents of the undersigned, with full 
power of substitution and resubstitution to each of said attorneys, to execute, file or deliver any and all instruments and to do any and all acts 
and things which said attorneys and agents, or any of them, deem advisable to enable the Company to comply with the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended, and any requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission in respect thereto, relating to annual reports on Form 
10-K, including specifically, but without limitation of the general authority hereby granted, the power and authority to sign his or her name in 
the name and on behalf of the Company or as a director or officer, or both, of the Company, as indicated below opposite his or her signature to 
annual reports on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2002 or any amendment or papers supplemental thereto; and each of the 
undersigned hereby does fully ratify and confirm all that said attorneys and agents, or any of them, or the substitute of any of them, shall do or 
cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has subscribed these presents as of this 20th day of March, 2003.  

 

/s/ John F. Meier                       Director, C hairman of the Board and 
    -------------------------------        Chief Ex ecutive Officer 
    John F. Meier 
 
/s/ Richard I. Reynolds                 Director, E xecutive Vice President and 
    -------------------------------        Chief Op erating Officer 
    Richard I. Reynolds 
 
/s/ Kenneth G. Wilkes                   Vice Presid ent, Chief Financial Officer and  
   --------------------------------        Head-Int ernational Operations 
    Kenneth G. Wilkes 
 
/s/ William A. Foley                    Director 
   -------------------------------- 
    William A. Foley 
 
/s/ Peter C. McC. Howell                Director 
   -------------------------------- 
    Peter C. McC. Howell 
 
/s/ Carol B. Moerdyk                    Director 
   -------------------------------- 
    Carol B. Moerdyk 
 
/s/ Gary L. Moreau                      Director 
   -------------------------------- 
    Gary L. Moreau 
 
/s/ Terence P. Stewart                  Director 
   -------------------------------- 
    Terence P. Stewart 



EXHIBIT 99.1  

SAFE HARBOR PROVISION OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LIT IGATION  
REFORM ACT OF 1995  

Libbey desires to take advantage of the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  

Libbey wishes to caution readers that the following important factors, among others, could affect Libbey's actual results and could cause 
Libbey's actual consolidated results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by, or on behalf of, 
Libbey.  

The company is exposed to market risks due to changes in currency values, although the majority of the company's revenues and expenses are 
denominated in the U.S. dollar. The currency market risks include devaluations and other major currency fluctuations relative to the U.S. 
dollar, euro or Mexican peso that could reduce the cost competitiveness of the company's products or that of Vitrocrisa's compared to foreign 
competition; the effect of high inflation in Mexico and exchange rate changes to the value of the Mexican peso and impact of those changes on 
the earnings and cash flow of Vitrocrisa, expressed under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  

The company is exposed to market risk associated with changes in interest rates in the U.S. and has entered into Interest Rate Protection 
Agreements (Rate Agreements) with respect to $100 million of debt as a means to manage its exposure to fluctuating interest rates. The Rate 
Agreements effectively convert this portion of the company's borrowings from variable rate debt to a fixed-rate basis, thus reducing the impact 
of interest rate changes on future income. The average fixed rate of interest for the company's borrowings related to the Rate Agreements at 
December 31, 2002, is 5.8% and the total interest rate, including applicable fees, is 6.8%. The average maturity of these Rate Agreements is 2.3 
years at December 31, 2002. Total remaining debt not covered by the Rate Agreements has fluctuating interest rates with a weighted average 
rate of 2.4% at December 31, 2002. The company had $88.7 million of debt subject to fluctuating interest rates at December 31, 2002. A 
change of one percentage point in such rates would result in a change in interest expense of approximately $0.9 million on an annual basis. If 
the counterparts to these Rate Agreements fail to perform, the company would no longer be protected from interest rate fluctuations by these 
Rate Agreements. However, the company does not anticipate nonperformance by the counterparts.  



The fair value of the company's Rate Agreements is determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted expected 
future variable cash receipts and the discounted future fixed cash payments. The variable cash receipts are based on an expectation of future 
interest rates derived from observed market interest rate forward curves. The company does not expect to cancel these agreements and expects 
them to expire as originally contracted. The fair market value for the company's Rate Agreements at December 31, 2002, was $(8.8) million.  

In addition to the Rate Agreements, the company has other derivatives as discussed below and in Note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The company has designated these derivative instruments as cash flow hedges. As such, the changes in fair value of these derivative 
instruments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified into earnings as the underlying hedged transaction 
or item affects earnings. At December 31, 2002, approximately $5.2 million of unrealized net loss was recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss).  

The company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge certain of its interest rate risks associated with long-term debt, commodity price 
risks associated with forecasted future natural gas requirements and foreign exchange rate risks associated with occasional transactions 
denominated in a currency other than the U.S. dollar. These derivatives have been designated as cash flow hedges and qualify for hedge 
accounting as discussed in detail in Notes 2 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements. As such, the fair value of these cash flow hedges are 
recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with a corresponding change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of related tax 
effects. The company does not participate in speculative derivatives trading. While the company intends to continue to meet the conditions for 
hedge accounting, if hedges do not qualify as highly effective or if the company does not believe that forecasted transactions would occur, the 
changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedges would be reflected in earnings. Information about fair values, notional amounts and 
contractual terms of these instruments can be found in Notes 2 and 9 to the company's consolidated financial statements and the section titled 
"Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk."  

The company does not believe it is exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit risk in its interest rate, natural gas and foreign currency 
hedges as the counterparts are established financial institutions.  

Other important factors potentially affecting performance include major slowdowns in the retail, travel, restaurant and bar or entertainment 
industries, including the impact of the armed hostilities or any other international or national calamity, including any act of terrorism on the 
retail, travel, restaurant and bar or entertainment industries; significant increases in interest rates that increase the company's borrowing costs; 
significant increases in per-unit costs for natural gas, electricity, corrugated packaging and other purchased materials;  



increases in expenses associated with higher medical costs, reduced pension income associated with lower returns on pension investments and 
increased pension obligations; devaluations and other major currency fluctuations relative to the U.S. dollar, euro or Mexican peso that could 
reduce the cost competitiveness of the company's or Vitrocrisa's products compared to foreign competition; the effect of high inflation in 
Mexico and exchange rate changes to the value of the Mexican peso and the earnings expressed under accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States and cash flow of Vitrocrisa; the inability to achieve savings and profit improvements at targeted levels at the company and 
Vitrocrisa from capacity realignment, re-engineering and operational restructuring programs or within the intended time periods; protracted 
work stoppages related to collective bargaining agreements; increased competition from foreign suppliers endeavoring to sell glass tableware in 
the United States and Mexico, including the impact of lower duties for imported products; whether the company completes any significant 
acquisitions and whether such acquisitions can operate profitably.  



EXHIBIT 99.2  

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Libbey Inc. (the 
"Company") hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:  

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2002 (the "Report") fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

 

Dated: March 27, 2002                  /s/ John F. Meier 
                               ----------------------------------- 
                                       John F. Meier 
                                       Chief Executive Officer 



EXHIBIT 99.3  

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Libbey Inc. (the 
"Company") hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:  

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2002 (the "Report") fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

 

Dated: March 27, 2002                       /s/ Kenneth G. Wilkes 
                                    ---------------------------------------- 
                                            Kenneth G. Wilkes 
                                            Chief Financial Officer 


